Lone Mothers Exiting Social Assistance: Gender, Social Exclusion and Social Capital

by

Sara Cumming

A thesis

presented to the University of Waterloo

in fulfillment of the

thesis requirement for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Sociology

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2014

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

Abstract

After the North American wave of "welfare reform" in the 1990s, much research has measured the success of the work-to-welfare model. Lone mothers as a group have proved a particularly intractable challenge to policies aimed at moving welfare recipients into the labour market and financial independence. The present dissertation focuses on lone mother welfare recipients and explores the processes they live as they receive and attempt to leave social assistance. This research adds to current scholarship by identifying factors that promote or frustrate the process of exiting social assistance, and by examining the effectiveness of policies and programs aimed at integrating these welfare recipients into the labour market.

Concentrating on the welfare regime in Ontario, this dissertation explores the experiences of a diverse sample of thirty lone mothers participating in Ontario Works, the provincially-mandated work-to-welfare program. Each lone mother was interviewed annually for a series of four interviews. Focus groups with caseworkers provided insight into the lone mothers' processes of attempting to leave social assistance, highlighting the differences between program design and program delivery. The dissertation asks three overarching research questions: What is the role of the provincial welfare regime in transitioning lone mothers from receipt of social assistance to paid employment? How did the lone mothers' lives change over the study period? What elements facilitated exiting social assistance and what elements acted as obstacles or barriers? The research and analysis are shaped by three theoretical lenses; gender, social exclusion and social capital.

The results highlight that there is no predictive factor: no profile emerged of the lone mother most likely to achieve independence. The research identifies "stayers", "leavers" and three additional groups: "blenders", "traders", and "betweeners," and establishes that while many exit the welfare stream, few did so because of financial independence. These results point to substantial inadequacies in the provincial work-to-welfare programming in addressing the particular needs of lone mothers. Gender neutral policies proved to overlook the key aspects to lone mothers' experiences, such as their caregiving responsibilities and the realities of a labour market that stratifies based on gender. Lone mothers were effectively excluded from programs designed to increase bridging and linking social capital; such programs are only available to recipients who have succeeded in eliminating their barriers to joining the labour market. Bonding social capital, which is not targeted by Ontario Works and which depends on the personal resources of each woman, emerges as the key determinant of success in exiting, as it allows the lone mothers to overcome the caregiving challenge. The research also indicates that those without bonding social capital are those most likely to be socially excluded from multiple social realms.

Acknowledgements

Over the last nine years I have received support and encouragement from a great number of individuals. I would like to thank my committee for all the time and effort that went into making this dissertation come to fruition. Dr. Martin Cooke's attention to detail and commitment to the research process pushed me to be a more conscientious writer. We were not always "friends" or even "friendly" during this process but I now understand that this was because we both cared about the work that was being produced. I may not have finished had he not applied some supervisory pressure when necessary. I am grateful for Dr. Janice Aurini's thoughtful comments and positive support during every stage of my doctoral studies. I am forever indebted to Dr. Lea Caragata, without whom this research would not have been possible. Lea not only generously provided the data set but also an abundance of support, both financial and emotional, that played a pivotal role in my ability to successfully complete this dissertation. I would also like to thank my externals, Dr. Margaret Little and Dr. Susan Arai for all of their insightful comments and encouragement.

A heartfelt thank you must also go out to my support system at the University of Waterloo. Dr. Augie Flearas and Dr. Rick Helmes-Hayes, your wry senses of humour and bluntness are my very favourite things about you both. I have genuinely appreciated your support and your frank feedback. Ilona Kosa, the title 'administrative assistant' does not adequately describe the services you offer the students. Your warmth and sincerity made the department feel like home. To all the graduate students who made this difficult trek with me;

Dr. Joanna Jacob, Dr. Kristyn Frank, and Dr. Shane Dixon were instrumental in shaping my experience at UW as they freely gave their time and their wisdom to help all of us to navigate through the process. Dr. Jennifer Robinson, Dr. Jon Callagher and Dr. Julia Woodhall, provided the inspiration to push through those final days of writing. A number of colleagues are still in the process and yet all took time out of their schedules to provide me support and encouragement to finish; Amelia Howard, Stephen Svenson, Jenny Flagler-George, Alyshia Bestard, and Neal Smithwick. Finally, Dr. Jessica Pulis-Worrall, without whom this journey would not have been nearly as rewarding. The bond that we built throughout our time as students is one of the most important in my life and I look forward to our futures as colleagues and office mates.

I would also like to express my deep gratitude to my children, Madison and Kennedy Apold for enduring this endeavor with me, for living with all of the sacrifices that were made so that I could complete the dissertation, and for expressing such unbelievable joy and pride in seeing me finish. When I completed my Master's thesis I wrote in the dedication that the two of you inspired me daily to fight harder for gender equality so that you can grow to be independent women who can choose to live your life anyway that your hearts may desire. It has been nine years since that was written and it is with great pride that I write that you both have become amazingly independent and socially just young women. Thank you for making me stay focused and for giving me the most amazing gift of unconditional love.

A sincere thank you to the Wilkinson clan; Tom, Alicia and Robert, for always being so supportive and believing that I can do anything. I would also like to express my gratitude

to Lynn Horton for her countless hours of proof reading and feedback, and Carol Hill for her countless hours of listening to me complain! I would also like to thank my Brock University "family"; Dr. Michelle Webber, Dr. Kate Bezanson, Dr. Jonah Butovsky, Jill Debon, Viola Bartel and Julia Gottli. You all have been with me since the very beginning of this journey and have provided an abundance of encouragement, support and employment, without which I may not have been able to finish.

Last but not least, thank you to all of the participants who gave up so much of their time to participate in this study. A special thank you to the 30 lone mothers who let us pry into their personal lives and who gave so freely of themselves.

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my aunt Patricia Cirocco who raised two strong, independent, loyal, smart children while being the sole breadwinner. Unfortunately, Patti lost the biggest battle of her life with cancer the same week I completed this dissertation. I didn't get to tell her in person how much her independence and determination to provide for her family awed and inspired me.

Table of Contents

| AUTHOR'S DECLARATION | ii |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|
| Abstract | iii |
| Acknowledgements | iv |
| Dedication | vii |
| Table of Contents | viii |
| List of Tables | xi |
| Chapter 1 Introduction | 1 |
| 1.1 Background | 2 |
| 1.2 Research problem and focus | 5 |
| 1.3 Organization of the chapters | 9 |
| Chapter 2 Contextualizing the study | 12 |
| 2.1 Welfare state retrenchment: shifting from social to market citizenship | 13 |
| 2.2 Ontario Works | 25 |
| 2.3 Evaluating welfare reform | 29 |
| 2.4 Recognizing gaps in the literature | 39 |
| Chapter 3 Theoretical Approaches | 41 |
| 3.1 Gender as a theoretical perspective | 42 |
| 3.1.1 The gendered world of work: a hostile environment for lone mothers | 44 |
| 3.1.2 The gendered home | |
| 3.1.3 Housework as more than a domestic responsibility | 51 |
| 3.1.4 Gender and the welfare state: Reproducing gender ideologies | 55 |
| 3.2 Social Exclusion | 59 |
| 3.2.1 Social exclusion: an emerging concept for a changing economic order | 60 |
| 3.2.2 Perspectives on exclusion | 64 |
| 3.2.3 Social exclusion in Canada | 68 |
| 3.2.4 Toward a functional definition of exclusion | 70 |
| 3.3 Social Capital | 72 |
| 3.3.1 A new kind of capital | 73 |
| 3.3.2 Bourdieu's conceptualization of social capital | 74 |
| 3.3.3 Coleman's account of social capital | 77 |
| 3.3.4 Putnam's approach to social capital | 79 |
| 3.3.5 Building on Bourdieu, Coleman and Putnam | |
| 3.3.6 Gendering "social capital" | 88 |
| 3.3.7 Studies incorporating a social capital lens to lone parenthood and poverty | 90 |
| 3.3.8 The concept applied | 91 |
| 3.3.9 Social capital in this research | 91 |
| 3.4 Combining the lenses | 94 |
| Chapter 4 Methods | |
| 4.1 Framing my research questions | 98 |

| 4.2 Lone Mothers: Building Social Inclusion – initiation of the project | 99 |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| 4.2.1 Gathering project data through interviews | |
| 4.2.2 Interview questions | 103 |
| 4.2.3 Interview participants | 105 |
| 4.3 Focus Groups (see Appendices H and I) | 111 |
| 4.4 Data Analysis | |
| 4.5 Limitations | 119 |
| 4.6 From method to analysis | 120 |
| Chapter 5 Introducing the lone mothers | 122 |
| 5.1 From the beginning: lone mothers at interview one | 122 |
| 5.2 Tracking changes: Lone mothers' five year trajectories | 130 |
| Chapter 6 Ontario Works: Programming "independence" or setting recipients up to fail? | 140 |
| 6.1 The Participation Agreement in practice | 141 |
| 6.2 Employment Support | 148 |
| 6.3 Post-Secondary Schooling? Only after you've received a Master of Ontario Works. | 155 |
| 6.4 Community Participation | |
| 6.5 Employment Placement | 165 |
| 6.6 Conclusion | 175 |
| Chapter 7 Lone Mother Trajectories: "Stayers", "traders", "blenders", "betweeners", and | |
| "leavers" | 177 |
| 7.1 Leavers | 180 |
| 7.2 Stayers | 189 |
| 7.3 Traders | 197 |
| 7.4 Betweeners | 202 |
| 7.5 Blenders | 203 |
| 7.6 Conclusion | 206 |
| Chapter 8 Discussion | 208 |
| 8.1 Making sense of lone mother trajectories | 208 |
| 8.2 Trajectories as gendered | 211 |
| 8.3 The role of social capital | 217 |
| 8.4 Exclusion: From more than just the labour market | 224 |
| 8.5 Conclusion | 230 |
| Chapter 9 Conclusion | 234 |
| 9.1 Implications for policy | 236 |
| Appendix A: CURA Partners | 244 |
| Appendix B: Building Social Inclusion Round One Interview Guide | 245 |
| Appendix C: Building Social Inclusion Round Two Interview Guide | |
| Appendix D: Building Social Inclusion Round Three Interview Guide | |
| Appendix E: Building Social Inclusion Round Four Interview Guide | |
| Appendix F: Building Social Inclusion Round Four Interview Prompts | |
| Appendix G: Caseworker focus group guide | |
| | |

| Appendix H: Employment Resource Caseworker Focus Group | |
|--------------------------------------------------------|--|
| Bibliography | |
| Bioliography | |

List of Tables

| Table 4.1Characteristics of lone mother participants | 109 |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|
| Table 5.1Immigrant lone mothers' time in Canada | 123 |
| Table 5.2 Lone mothers' educational attainment | 123 |
| Table 5.3 Number of children at first interview by Aboriginal and immigrant status | 124 |
| Table 5.4 Canadian born and immigrant lone mothers' age of youngest child at first inter | view |
| | 125 |
| Table 5.5 Canadian and immigrant lone mothers' age at round one of interviewing | 126 |
| Table 5.6 Canadian and immigrant lone mothers' length of time receiving assistance at re- | ound |
| one of interviewing | 126 |
| Table 5.7 Canadian and immigrant lone mothers' pathways on to assistance | |
| Table 5.8 Incidences of physical abuse amongst lone mother participants | 128 |
| Table 5.9 Lone mothers' work histories prior to round one of interviewing | 129 |
| Table 5.10 Lone mothers' use of subsidies | 131 |
| Table 5.11 Lone mothers "job ready" activities | 132 |
| Table 5.12 Lone mothers' attachment to the labour market | 132 |
| Table 5.13 Individual lone mothers' employment trajectories | 134 |
| Table 5.14 Lone mothers' exits from assistance in relation to time spent on assistance | 135 |
| Table 5.15 Lone mothers' exits from assistance in relation to age | 135 |
| Table 5.16 Lone mothers' exits from assistance in relation to number of children | 136 |
| Table 5.17 Subsidy use amongst employed and unemployed lone mothers | 137 |
| Table 5.18 Lone Mothers' participation in Ontario Works programs and their social | |
| assistance status by round four | 138 |

.

Chapter 1

Introduction

Helen, a university graduate, had been twenty years in Canada at the time of her first interview. Because of her abusive husband, Helen and her child had fled to a shelter for four months where she was connected to social assistance, subsidized childcare, counselling and legal aid. Family court put her back in the family home and moved the husband out. Helen trained as a personal support worker (PSW) through Ontario Works, the province's social assistance regime. She found a PSW job quickly but the hours proved too sporadic for her home responsibilities and the commute too long without a car. The job duties were too demanding for her small frame. Back on social assistance, Helen took advantage once again of OW programs to take first English as Second Language training and then an office administration course. After 12 years on assistance Helen found a full-time bookkeeping job and left social assistance.

In an effort to escape her abusive father, Susan had immigrated to Canada from England in her late teens. Susan worked as a nanny for several years prior to having her own children. Her twin daughters were born with multiple health problems, one with physical and developmental handicaps and the other with severe epilepsy. Susan and her children's father were unable to make ends meet living together so she moved out and applied for social assistance. The abuse she suffered at the hands of her father resulted in her becoming blind in one eye and caused her to suffer from severe panic and anxiety attacks. Susan continually struggled to get supports in place for her daughters and attempted to take courses and to volunteer as part of her Participation Agreements. After many unsympathetic caseworkers Susan eventually was switched to a supportive caseworker who helped her apply for Ontario Disability Support Program and exit social assistance.

After finishing high school Madison worked full-time for a number of years and acquired a substantial nest egg. When she and her boyfriend had their son she was able to take the first three years off work to be a stay-at-home mother. Madison's relationship with her son's father deteriorated and she moved from Western Canada back to Ontario where she was born and raised. Madison began receiving social assistance and took upgrading courses and volunteered through Ontario Works. Madison was able to secure a job a year after applying for social assistance, however earned so little that she continued to receive some social assistance. Madison's ex moved back to Ontario to be closer to his son and began to take an active role in providing care. Once Madison was able to share caregiving with her son's father she was able to take more hours at work and exited social assistance completely. After three years of working Madison once again had accumulated a small nest egg and quit her job to stay home for the summer with her son.

The narratives presented in the opening vignette highlight the dynamic character of lone mothers' entrance on to and exits off of social assistance. All three women had "officially" exited social assistance. At the time of the study, Helen, Susan and Madison were not receiving any money from Ontario Works, yet only Helen was sustaining her exit through paid employment at the end of the study period. Our understanding of entrances and exits from social assistance will differ depending on whose story we read. This research aims to provide a more comprehensive understanding of lone mothers' experiences as they receive and attempt to leave social assistance.

1.1 Background

During the recession of the early 1990s, social assistance receipt in Canada reached an all-time high, with 3.1 million individuals receiving assistance in 1994, many of them in lone mother families (Finnie & Irvine, 2008). The 1996 replacement of the Canada Assistance Plan (CAP) with the Canada Health and Social Transfer (CHST) reduced federal-provincial transfers for social assistance, and also freed the provinces from restriction on program design. As a result, all provinces subsequently instituted changes aimed at reducing welfare "dependency', with the three most aggressive reformers being Alberta, Ontario and British Columbia (Finnie & Irvine, 2008; Sceviour & Finnie, 2004). The changes in Canada included the introduction of "workfare" in several provinces including Ontario, an increasing emphasis on employability, including that of lone mothers, and a general reduction in eligibility and benefits (Bashevkin, 2002).

These Canadian welfare reforms, similar to changes in the United States, reflected a significant shift in the public discourse surrounding welfare, which marked welfare recipients as state-dependent rather than self-reliant and likely to engage in dubious moral and legal behaviour in order to continue to receive benefits (Chunn & Gavigan, 2004)¹. Both Canadian and American public commentators emphasized the importance of recipients' "taking responsibility", and emphasizing "independence" rather than supposedly passive welfare receipt.

There has been a considerable amount of research on the role welfare reform may have had in reducing social assistance rolls. As discussed in Chapter 2, findings generally show that these reforms resulted in lower rates of social assistance use, but there is relatively little known about whether those who left welfare after the reforms were indeed better off, and there is some evidence that a large proportion may not have been (Lightman, Mitchell & Herd, 2005; Scott et al., 2004). Moreover, there is little known about the process of leaving social assistance, and whether those who leave welfare tend do so through paid work or whether they find some other sources of support. This is particularly important in the case of lone mothers, for whom low human capital, a lack of well-paid and flexible jobs, and the

¹ The emphasis placed on reducing welfare fraud during the reforms in Ontario, including a welfare fraud hotline, is illustrative of this discourse (Chunn and Gavigan, 2004).

necessity of balancing income-earning and caring responsibilities make exits through paid work even less likely.

Ontario's social assistance program has changed women's relationship to work both inside and outside the home. The current policy no longer views lone mothers as a special category of recipients and instead assumes they are an employable part of the population (Little, 1998). Importantly, there is very little attention paid to the multiple barriers that prevent their immersion into the paid labour force, or to the fact that these women are often the only care takers of their children. Work is now tied to welfare receipt, hence the term "workfare", and shapes the lives of the majority of lone mothers receiving assistance. These changes in entitlement have very significant consequences for low-income lone mothers in particular. Women generally have different labour-market experiences than men, including being disproportionately represented in low paid, non-standard work (Caragata, 2003b; Vosko, 2005), a situation made worse for lone mothers due to their need to generate a family income and their greater burden of unpaid care work. Worldwide, women figure prominently amongst the poorest of the poor, especially those raising children as lone parents and those living as unattached seniors. Canada's 2011 census reported that there were 1.5 million loneparent families residing in Canada, 80 per cent headed by lone mothers. The number of lone mother-headed families living below the poverty line was 22 per cent in contrast to 7 per cent of lone father-headed families (Statistics Canada, 2013). As of March 2010, the percentage of Canadian lone parents on the social assistance case load was close to 30%

(OMCSS, 2012a). Thus, changes made to social assistance clearly have a disproportionate effect on women (McMullin, Davies & Cassidy, 2002).

1.2 Research problem and focus

My interest in studying lone mothers began a little over a decade ago when I conducted research for my undergraduate thesis on the experiences of women who were both mothers and university students. The women who agreed to participate in this study were all lone mothers and all were the recipients of different state provided benefits. I became interested in the ways in which receiving benefits affected lone mothers' lives and as a result conducted my Master's research exploring the lives of lone mothers who were the recipient of at least three state provided benefits within a one year time period; subsidized housing, subsidized childcare, social assistance and Ontario Student Assistance Program. This study revealed that at least in Ontario, government provided benefits added an abundance of stress to already stressed lives.

At the same time as I was conducting my Master's research I experienced a change in my life circumstances as I too became the lone parent of two young children. When I would discuss my research with others who knew my personal circumstances I would often hear the same negative welfare rhetoric—it must infuriate me that so many women chose the "easy" road and sat on their "lazy asses" collecting "our hard earned tax dollars" while I was working, going to school and raising my children. I had several internal responses to these comments and was often perplexed by these people's perceptions of lone mothers receiving

social assistance. First, unbeknownst to these people, I was raised on welfare by a young lone mother. Second, I was receiving subsidized daycare and student loans but this appeared to not have the same negative connotation to it as welfare.

The question I was asked most often was "why"? Why was I able to live independently of social assistance but the lone mothers I was studying were not? This question is really what sparked my interest in this research. Ontario Works requires lone mothers to participate in work related activities that are presumed to help recipients build skills and résumés and locate employment. The goal of this research is to shed light on the process of exiting social assistance for lone mothers. This dissertation asks three overarching research questions. The first considers: What was the role of Ontario Works in transitioning lone mothers from receipt of social assistance to paid employment? To answer this question I explore the policies and programs that fall under Ontario Works as well as front line workers' experiences with implementation. I juxtapose the formal goals of the program with lone mothers' experiences navigating the various programs that fall under Ontario Works. The second question asks: How did the lone mothers' lives progress over the study period? This question is explored by examining the trajectories of the lone mothers' lives over a five year period in time with particular attention paid to who left social assistance and who remained in receipt. The third research question is twofold as it considers how transitions were made possible for those who exited social assistance, as well as exploring the barriers that prevent some lone mothers from attaching to the labour market.

This dissertation reports on findings from qualitative data collected from 2006 to 2011. A sample of thirty lone mothers receiving social assistance was interviewed four times over a five year period. Two focus groups were also conducted in 2009 with Toronto Employment and Social Services caseworkers. Seven caseworkers were the frontline workers responsible for overseeing social assistance recipients' benefits and for helping their clients to become "job ready". Six were caseworkers assigned to Employment Resource Centres (ERC). These caseworkers were in place to help clients find employment.

This work is guided by three theoretical lenses; gender, social exclusion and social capital. First, a gender lens draws our attention to the gendered division of labour that occurs across spheres; in the labour market, at home, and by the state. Second, the social exclusion lens allows us to shed light on the multiple and overlapping spheres of life in which many individuals and groups of people cannot fully participate. Third, accessing social capital has been presented as one way in which people can extend their social inclusion and thereby greatly improve their life chances. By using this lens to focus attention on the social supports that the lone mothers possess, either by choice or by obligation, we can observe how they function as they subsist on social assistance and as they go through the mandated steps of trying to enter the paid labour market and exit social assistance.

In this study I seek to add to the existing literature on lone mothers and social assistance, by focusing uniquely on the process of leaving welfare. Contrary to the bulk of what has been published about welfare exits, there is not a clear delineation between social assistance receipt and attachment to the labour market. Only a small portion of the lone

mothers in this study who left social assistance were able to do so due to finding full-time employment. Moreover, some social assistance recipients were fully attached to the labour market yet were unable to exit due to low-paying jobs.

The second important contribution this study makes is its extensive analysis of the components of Ontario Works: Participation Agreements, Employment Support, Community Participation and Employment Placement. Previous research has outlined the difficulties that lone mothers encounter when attempting to fulfill their obligations to actively participate in becoming "job ready". This research seeks to add to that body of literature by contrasting the formal goals of each of the components with the outcomes for lone mother social assistance recipients. This research suggests that some components of Ontario Works may indeed be effective in helping social assistance recipients build social capital that provide information and access to employment. However, these components were designed for the ideal worker—a person who is always available, prioritizes work over any other responsibilities and rarely gets sick or needs time off work. This ideal worker model ignores gender and caregiving altogether (Brodie, 1995).

This study also makes theoretical contributions. First, this research deepens our understanding of the importance of social capital in combating social exclusion. The data indicate that lone mothers who have a combination of bonding, bridging and linking social

capital are those most likely to attach to the labour market². Conversely, I find that when bonding social capital is absent lone mothers are less likely to be able to acquire the other types of social capital. This is an important finding as it illustrates that social policies such as Ontario Works have conceived of social capital as something that is individual in nature rather than built through communities. Moreover, this study illuminates the need for a gendered analysis when researching the home, labour force and state.

1.3 Organization of the chapters

The dissertation begins by contextualizing the present study. Chapter two highlights the evolution of current welfare policies in Canada. In particular, the changes to social assistance in Ontario, Canada are summarized to contextualize lone mother participants' experiences within the broader social, political and economic terrain of the province where they reside. Lastly, previous research examining welfare exits is presented.

Chapter Three provides an introduction to the theoretical lenses that guided this research. The lenses of gender, social capital and social exclusion are utilized in the examination of the process of exiting social assistance. The work of feminist political

²In this study "bonding" social capital is characterized by strong ties with closely related people, and is most closely associated with family. "Bridging" social capital is based upon loose, or secondary, connections with people such as classmates and coworkers who consist of loose friendships and acquaintances. "Linking" social capital refers to ties to unlike people in dissimilar situations such as helpful caseworkers, teachers, bosses and other contacts who connect the lone mothers to services or contacts outside of their communities (Woolcock, 2001).

economy, Woolcock's (2001) articulation of social capital and Sen's (2000) focus on "capabilities" are drawn upon. Chapter Four provides a discussion of the methods employed in this research. Data collection strategies such as accessing the data, data samples and a discussion of the participants are also outlined in this chapter.

Chapters Five introduces the reader to the thirty lone mothers who participated in this study. The lone mothers are presented in relation to their demographic information as well as to contextualize their paths onto assistance and the duration of their receipt of assistance prior to participation in this study.

Chapter Six and Seven present findings from the data. Lone mother and caseworkers experiences are documented. Chapter Six examines the policies and programs that Ontario Works has put into place in an effort to move recipients to paid work, as well as the structural impediments participants encountered when attempting to fulfill the requirements of the programs. Chapter Seven explores the trajectories of the lone mothers over the five year period of this study. The chapter draws attention to the different outcomes the lone mothers experience in relation to paid work and social assistance recipient.

Chapter Eight provides a discussion of the findings reported in this dissertation in light of the research questions and the theoretical lenses used. This chapter offers insight into the different outcomes the lone mothers experienced despite all participating in the various programs offered by Ontario Works. The chapter details the importance that social capital played in lone mothers' experiences finding and maintaining paid work as well as highlights

the ways in which gender, social exclusion and a lack of social capital combine to make exiting highly unlikely for a large percentage of lone mothers.

Lastly, Chapter Nine presents a summary of the major contributions of this research.

It suggests areas of future study as well as some policy implications from the findings.

Chapter 2

Contextualizing the study

This chapter explores the evolution that has resulted in current welfare policies which obligate all recipients, including lone mothers, to participate in work related activities. Many social benefits in Canada, including parental leave and pensions, are tied to labour market participation, while eligibility for other benefits such as welfare and family allowance payments have historically been based on social characteristics such as family type and gender (Bezanson, 2006a; Pearce, 1990). In Canada, as in other "liberal" welfare states (Esping-Andersen, 1999), welfare reform has followed a fundamentally market-oriented approach to social provision³, and has included a number of other policies and programs designed to move welfare recipients into paid work. Although welfare-to-work programs have existed in Canada in one form or another since the 1970s, the changes that took place in the 1990s reflect a further shift from T.H. Marshall's ideal of "social citizenship", in which the state assumes social responsibility to provide a base level of benefits to its citizens, to a model of "market citizenship" in which entitlements are derived from labour market attachment (Breitkreuz, 2005). The focus on labour market participation has consequences for the lives of lone mothers, who are expected to do all

³ In this context, "social provision" refers to various services provided by a state for the benefit of its citizens.

of the unpaid labour necessary to raise children while simultaneously living free of stateprovided benefits.

The purpose of this chapter is threefold. First, it provides a historical review of the emergence of the welfare state and its transformations to the neo-liberal welfare state that currently prevails in Canada. The gendered consequences of these reforms are illuminated as lone mothers shifted from being viewed as a separate category of social assistance recipients to being viewed primarily as employable. Second, the changes to social assistance in Ontario, Canada are summarized. Understanding these changes is important so that we can contextualize the lone mother participants' experiences within the broader social, political and economic terrain of the province where they reside. Third, the research investigating social assistance exits is reviewed and the rationale for the present study is provided.

2.1 Welfare state retrenchment: shifting from social to market citizenship

Over time, Canada has developed various programs to provide income support for individuals and families whose earnings are inadequate to their needs. These programs differ in their characteristics, such as their accessibility, the amount of their benefits, and the stigma attached to receiving those benefits. Programs found in the primary sector of income supports, such as tax deductions, pensions and employment insurance are for the "deserving poor". The "deserving" and "undeserving" poor are concepts that rose during Victorian attitudes towards poor relief. The "deserving poor" were those thought to be poor by no fault of their own owing to age, illness, or bad health (Katz, 1990). The "undeserving poor" were

viewed as lazy or unable to work due to personal problems such as drunkenness (Katz, 1990). Primary sector programs have been characterized as a right rather than charity, have relatively generous benefits, are non-means tested and non-stigmatizing (Pearce, 1990). Programs in the secondary sector, such as social assistance, are for the "undeserving poor" and frequently restrict entry and eligibility (Pearce, 1990, pg. 69). It is the secondary sector that concerns the present study, in particular the evolution of policy in the sector over time, and in response to ideological shifts and changing economic factors.

The Second World War years were characterized by unprecedented employment opportunities. Those unable to find work during the Depression were quickly absorbed into the war economy. During this economic boom, even marginal workers such as the disabled, seniors and lone mothers were employed (Little, 1998). As a consequence the development of the welfare state in Canada after WWII was based on a presumption of full-time, full year employment (Bezanson, 2006a). Several factors, including a relatively high standard of living for the working class, rapid increases in capital accumulation, the introduction of social security, and a surge in trade unionism encouraged class compromise (Teeple, 2000).

Between 1940 and 1945 there was a critical shift in the development of the Canadian welfare state, pointing in one direction to social democracy, and in another toward liberal residualism, the belief in personal responsibility and self-reliance (Burman, 1996). Canadian citizens, scarred by economic devastation during the 1930s, encouraged the federal government to enter the field of welfare to promote economic stability. The government commissioned a report from Leonard Marsh, a McGill sociologist and a founding member of

the League for Social Reconstruction. While at the time Marsh's suggestions were largely ignored, eventually they would become key parts of the Canadian welfare state (Burman, 1996; Little, 1998). He argued for an income security program in the form of a comprehensive federally financed and administered social insurance protection and, when benefits were exhausted, national social assistance payments (Burman, 1996). As a result of the report, two major social security programs were introduced during the 1940s: unemployment insurance and family allowance. This era marked the expansion of the welfare state and a commitment to rights based upon social citizenship.

Welfare was at a high point in the 1960s as welfare rolls throughout the country expanded dramatically, resulting in a 129% increase in recipients between 1961 and 1971 (Ursel, 1992). In 1965 Prime Minister Lester Pearson declared a "war on poverty" and promised 25 million dollars a year to needy mothers and their children through the introduction of the Canadian Assistance Plan (Little, 1998). The period during which CAP was extant marked the maximum expansion of the postwar welfare state in Canada as it recognized responsibility for caring work as an obstacle to paid employment (Lessa, 2003). However, over time, CAP was reoriented to emphasize employability, experimenting with a variety of training and support programs varying from educational advice to significant supports for voluntary participation in employment schemes (Lessa, 2003).

The building of the welfare state in Canada from the 1930s through the 1960s demonstrates the commitment of successive governments to an ideal of social citizenship that included universal health care, pensions, national programs for affordable housing,

redistributive income tax policies, unemployment insurance and an increased level of spending on public education (Irving, 2007). During this period welfare services were aimed at lessening, removing, and/or preventing the causes and effects of poverty (Moscovitch, 1988) and marked a shift in attitude towards society's responsibility for the poor and the disadvantaged regardless of circumstance. The basic principles and policies of the CAP were intended to provide a single, general, needs-based assistance program as a "safety net" for those inadequately protected by other social security programs and to ensure that social assistance is a right of citizenship.

The war on poverty was severely challenged by the economic crisis of the mid-1970s and the realities of economic stagflation. Changes to the global economy led to increased internationalization of capital which created a situation whereby supply exceeded demand (Burman, 1996:42). This prompted a shift to the right in Anglo Saxon liberal democracies. As unemployment and inflation rose, support for social welfare began to wane. The model of the state as manager of the economy and, incidentally, redistributor of income was replaced by faith in the "invisible hand" of the global market (Burman, 1996). Government concern shifted towards trying to balance the budget and control inflation and away from government support for the unemployed and disadvantaged (Burman, 1996).

At the same time as the tone of public discourse on the value of social programming became more conservative, economies felt the combined effect of globalization and a trend toward neo-liberal thinking. Described as "a theory of political economic practices", neo-liberalism originated in 1947 Europe with a group of academics of economics, history and

philosophy who called themselves the Mont Pelerin Society (Harvey, 2005, pg. 2). Neo-liberalism is rooted in economic theory that favours the concept of a "free market", individual responsibility and privatization as the assurance of human wellbeing (Harvey, 2005; Jessop, 2002; Teeple, 2000). The neo-liberal view holds that the most appropriate way to meet people's needs is to increase the effectiveness of economics by limiting the role of the state, increasing the role of the market, and reducing government regulation of industry (Bezanson, 2006a). The rise of neo-liberalism is associated with the eras of Margaret Thatcher, Ronald Reagan and Brian Mulroney and to varying degrees currently influences the policies of most welfare states around the world, regardless of their sociopolitical grounding (Ellison, 2006; Harvey, 2005). Zuege et al. (2004) go so far as to say that "neo-liberal globalization [is] the new international order" (1) and others describe neo-liberalism as reinforcing a hegemonic state controlled by capitalist elites (Harvey, 2005).

This ideological shift towards neo-liberal values has moved Canada, among other nations, from a model of social citizenship in which all citizens are entitled to a base level of benefits, to a model of market citizenship, in which citizenship entitlements are contingent upon a person's attachment to the labour market (Baker & Tippin, 1999; Breitkreuz, 2005; Brodie, 1997). By the late 1990s, the notion that full citizenship required a commitment to equality of social rights was highly contested (Lewis, 2002). Canada, Australia, New Zealand, the United Kingdom and the United States had all moved toward a more residual and moralistic state that focused on need, individual responsibilities and work incentives (Baker, 2002). Soon after its re-election in 1988, the Mulroney government began a

campaign to convince Canadians that the country was hopelessly in debt because of overspending on social programs (Cohen, 1997; Gordon, 1990). This campaign reflected a fundamental change in economic discourse in this era. In her historical review of the relationship between women and the welfare state, Cohen (1997), argued that however disruptive and unhappy the consequences of economic restructuring had been in the past elites had always put forth the promise for a better life for the masses in the long run. Now, Cohen argued, the new economy could no longer support expensive social programs. Indeed, over the second term of Conservative Prime Minister Brian Mulroney's mandate the idea took root that the deficit was out of control and that Canada was in danger of bankruptcy (Cohen, 1997).

Although the neo-liberal strategies and discourse pushed by the Mulroney government contributed to the shape of the welfare state, broader economic, political and social changes must also be considered. Labour and capital relations were increasingly strained from the 1970s to the early 1990s. Corporations began to more frequently look beyond national borders to increase profits, while at the same time the real wages of Canadian workers were not keeping up with inflation (Little, 1998). Simultaneously, well paid, full-time employment was being replaced by part-time, temporary, low paid work, creating an increasingly marginalized and flexible workforce (Little, 1998). Thus the neo-liberal ideology took hold as the forces of globalization were felt.

The concept of globalization is not without its complexity and contentions. Scholars vary on the definition, the history and even on the very existence of globalization as a

modern phenomenon. Teeple (2000) defined globalization in the context of capital accumulation, explaining that previous to the 1970s capital expansion happened on a national scale "with particular territorial and historical roots": colonialism, slavery and the two world wars (pg. 175). He contended that when capital accumulation is void of any nation state controls or loyalties, the characteristics of capital change and supersede nation states with transnational corporations operating beyond the confines of political, geographical and economic borders (Teeple, 2000). Those who question the concept of globalization as a new arena for capitalist expansion generally assert that globalization is not a new phenomenon but rather has been operating and developing under capitalism's agenda for centuries (see Harvey, 1995; Davis, 1998).

Regardless of their definition of globalization, most theorists tend to agree that the tendency for capital to cross international borders to maximize markets and minimize labour and production costs has an impact on the policies of modern democratic welfare states. As Ellison (2006) points out, there is a continuum of arguments relating to how globalization affects the amount of control national governments have over the management of their domestic economy, and how the degree of control influences domestic social policies and labour market realities. On one end of the continuum Ellison places schools of thought contending that domestic governments "continue to have the capacity to control their economic, and therefore social and political destinies" (pg. 27), with more extreme members of this school believing that welfare regime changes are attributed to internal economics, household and family structure changes and aging populations (pg. 48) rather than

globalization. On the other end, Ellison (2006) places those who believe nation states are subordinate to economic globalization. Both see globalization as a regime-changing phenomenon forced onto national governments and undermining their ability to provide social protection (Ellison, 2006; see also Teeple, 2006).

Asserting that the structure of poor relief systems caters to the needs of the labour market, Peck (2001) argues that the current expansion of global modes of production influence national relief systems so as to offer global capitalists a flexible and affordable labour pool with few or no strings of responsibility attached.⁴ As the global organization of production creates the necessary conditions for an international labour supply, capital is liberated from any concern about reproducing a domestic labour supply. Piven and Cloward (2000) assert that globalization "seems to puncture the century- old belief in worker power" (pg. 413), putting workers at the mercy of a global competition for low labour costs.

By 1995 Canada was experiencing increased insecurity in the wage relation for many workers, with fewer social provisions gained from employment, fewer universal social programs, lower benefits for workers, and a trend toward social policy geared to labour market participation and delivered through the tax system (Bezanson, 2006b; Daguerre, 2004). The legacy of the 1980s, which included neo-liberal economic policies, the trend

⁴ See Peck (2005) for an examination of the globally growing, temporary staffing industry.

toward globalized markets and production, and skepticism about the affordability of social programming, carried political discourse further away from reducing poverty for low-income families⁵. By the 1990s, social program eligibility had less than ever to do with citizenship rights and welfare benefits were now framed as temporary and designed to encourage self-sufficiency and labour market attachment. These neo-liberal regulatory, legislative and budgetary changes reflected "both an embracing of a welfare state that broke with the norms of the post-war welfare system and a regulatory framework that prioritized business interests over public interest" (Bezanson, 2006b, pg. 104). The discourse of neo-liberalism and of social program-induced national debt was the political driving force behind what Gilbert (2005) termed a shift from the "welfare state" to the "enabling state" (Gilbert, 2005, as cited in Ellison, 2006:6; see also Cohen, 1997; Peck 2001). In this political climate, the move toward a broad work-for-welfare regime was perhaps the inevitable next step.

Work-for-welfare has its roots in the Elizabethan Poor Law of 17th century England. In the absence of a relief system, Parliament in 1601 brought in workhouses for destitute people considered able to work, thereby regulating labour and enforcing work ethic norms in

⁵ During the 1970s feminists advocated for a policy climate that recognized the "social individual" as the unit of benefits rather than the household or family (Baker, 2006). This feminist agenda did not align with the neo-liberal agenda. Out of fear of losing financial support for low income families, left-liberal social policy and anti-poverty organizations helped to reshape policy in ways that were readily incorporated into the neo-liberal social policy regime (Baker, 2006). The emphasis became on children and reducing child poverty and gender and women's issues disappeared from view (Baker, 2006).

people considered poor due to laziness (Piven & Cloward, 1993). Canada implemented a similar plan during the Great Depression, with mandatory work tests, work farms and work camps for persons who claimed relief (Morel, 2002).

Prior to implementation in the 1990s of new workfare programs, there was a long history of linking Canadian welfare reform to an employability agenda (Baker & Tippin, 1999; Torjman, 1996). Seguin (2005) explained that "most of what is called workfare today in Canada is actually a combination of tighter eligibility criteria, benefit cuts, a broadening of the definition of "employable" and more stringent enforcement of rules regarding reciprocity for employable people that existed even before CAP – and that continue to exist today" (pg. 2). However, in the 1990s, the thrust of welfare programs explicitly changed. With their focus on employability and training, workfare policies were designed to reduce welfare caseloads and move people from welfare to work. And with the adoption of workfare regimes, the principle of rights-based social assistance was abandoned almost entirely.

The replacement in 1995 of the Canada Assistance Plan with the Canada Health and Social Transfer (CHST) opened the door for provinces to fully implement workfare regimes (Herd et al., 2005). Modeled on US welfare reforms, "workfare" loosely refers to "people who receive financial aid through welfare [being] required to perform compulsory labour or service as a condition of their assistance" (Torjman, 1996 pg. 1). Gorlick and Brethour (1998) define welfare-to-work as a policy that requires welfare recipients deemed employable by government to receive benefits only if they are taking steps towards gainful employment, either through participating in employability programs, attending school or

actively engaging in a job search. Those who do not fulfill workfare expectations are subject to sanction including, but not limited to, denial or reduction of benefits.

The discourse surrounding workfare privileged paid employment over other activities such as caregiving; workfare was directed toward breaking the cycle of "welfare dependency" (Brodie, 1996). In the same period, an associated discussion around family values, morality and individual irresponsibility gained currency in public forums, with conservatives targeting what they viewed as the individual moral failings of the poor. Lone mothers on welfare were given particular attention. The language of "common sense" politics fitted well with arguments such as that made by Drache (1992), that the good citizen is one who accepts the obligation to work longer and harder in order to become more self-reliant. This rhetoric made it difficult to defend the entitlements of social citizenship (Daguerre, 2004; Peck, 2001).

While the welfare regime has become less generous and more exclusionary, the labour market is characterized by polarized job opportunities (Herd, Mitchell & Lightman, 2005). This shift in social policy and in the labour market particularly affects the lower tiers of the labour market where social assistance recipients tend to compete. Herd, Mitchell and Lightman (2005) highlight the fact that the presence of "contingent jobs", part-time and casual work, facilitates the deregistration of welfare recipients, which in turn supports the belief that workfare is successful. Under capitalism, the existence of what Marx called the "reserve army of labour" enables employers to draw additional labour from surplus labour pool when production expands (Marx, 1884;1967). Baker and Tippin (1999) and Bezanson

(2006a) state that workfare policies act to provide this pool of cheap labour, which displace sexisting employees. Bezanson (2006a) posited that creating this pool of labour was in fact the ultimate aim of restructuring welfare delivery, though workfare was couched in the language of giving a "hand up, not a hand out" to the poor (pg. 95). By these measures workfare is a success. However Baker and Tippin point out that workfare programs often result in recipients obtaining jobs that do not permit them to exit from social assistance as these programs are geared towards low skilled poorly paid work (Baker & Tippin, 1999).

For the last 40 years Canadian social policy has been guided by neo-liberal assumptions of individual responsibility in a market-modeled welfare state. Current policies devalue or ignore the caring work involved in raising children to be productive in a capitalist society and aim at getting people who receive benefits into the paid work force. Thus any support given is based on the principle of "less eligibility", the Poor Law idea that welfare recipients should not receive more money than the worst paid worker in the labour force (Chunn & Gavigan, 2004). During the CAP years, policies and initiatives streamlined social support under the universal deserving subject, the worker, which included unpaid domestic work in its definition (Lessa, 2003). Lone mothers' caregiving responsibilities were recognized as obstacles to employment. For both men and women, regardless of their caregiving responsibilities, work is now defined primarily as paid employment and is becoming a focal point and central criterion of modern forms of citizenship (Baker & Tippin, 1999). Pulkingham and Fuller (2012) argue that this shift to a market model "increasingly

render the subject of social policy genderless, despite the fact that women continue to shoulder disproportionate responsibility for the work of social reproduction" (pg. 244).

Ontario makes a good case study for analyzing the effects of welfare reform. After the election of a neo-liberal provincial government in 1995, Ontario was at the forefront of change from welfare to workfare in Canada (Herd, Mitchell & Lightman, 2005). All of the participants in the present study lived in Ontario and were therefore affected by this reform. The lone mothers who participated in the study were all receiving benefits under Ontario Works, Ontario's social assistance program, and all of the employees of Toronto's Employment and Social Services who participated were responsible for the delivery of this program. The following section outlines the shifts that occurred in Ontario in the 1990s, and reviews the research on the consequences of reform on the lives of lone mothers.

2.2 Ontario Works

Ontario has its own political, economic and cultural history within the broader neo-liberal terrain (Coulter, 2009, pg. 29). During the 1995 provincial election campaign in Ontario Conservative Mike Harris and his "common sense revolution" openly blamed the welfare state, government regulation and public spending for high unemployment rates (Coulter, 2009). People who were unemployed were contrasted unfavourably by the Conservatives with "hard-working tax payers". Harris came into power in 1995 with a fervently right-wing agenda changing the political focus in Ontario to one emphasizing individual economic security, tax cuts and reducing the size of government (Cohen, 2001).

Like all other provinces, Ontario's social assistance funding is cost-shared with the federal government. From 1966 until 1996, the Canadian Assistance Plan (CAP) permitted the federal government to enter into agreements with provincial governments whereby the provinces were reimbursed for 50 percent of their social assistance expenditures. In 1991 this relationship was altered when a five per cent limit was placed on the annual amount that CAP payments could be increased. In 1995 the federal government gave notice that as of March 31, 1996, CAP would be replaced by the Canadian Health and Social Transfer (CHST) and the Human Resources Investment Fund (HRIF).

The CHST provided for a single federal financial transfer to the provinces for health, post-secondary education, and welfare, and the amount to be transferred would be established by a formula that included tax points and fixed dollar amounts (Armitage, 2003). Each province set its own level of social assistance payments and, in setting the level, took account of other statutory benefits that recipients received from either provincial or federal government. By 1998 the amount transferred from the federal government was reduced by \$7.0 billion than previously available under CAP.

Ontario's Social Assistance Reform Act (SARA) came into effect on June 1st, 1998, replacing the General Welfare Assistance and Family Benefits Allowance with the Ontario Works program and the Ontario Disability Support Program. Ontario's Social Assistance Reform Act separated those in need of social assistance into two categories: people who were unemployed but considered employable, and people with disabilities (OMCSS, 2006). Anyone not designated "disabled" fell under the Ontario Works program (OW) and had to

sign a participation agreement requiring them to perform activities in exchange for social assistance. These requirements could take the form of job search, training, basic education, skills upgrading and unpaid community service. Engaging in a search for paid work had already been a requirement for General Welfare Assistance; however, under Ontario Works recipients were obliged to participate in additional programs: the Employment Support program, the Community Participation program and the Employment Placement program (S.O., 1997: ch. 25). Each recipient was now required to sign an individual participant agreement identifying the shortest route to employment for that recipient; in cases of failure to comply, financial assistance could be refused, reduced or terminated (Lightman, Mitchell & Herd, 2005a).

Each of the additional programs that an OW recipient was required to participate in had its specific goal. Employment Support was intended to assist recipients to become job ready by offering sessions on job-search techniques, workshops on resume-writing skills, and basic education and training (S.O., 1997: ch. 25). The Community Participation program required that recipients volunteer to do community service in public or not-for-profit organizations; the program was intended to provide recipients with skills to enable them to become "job ready". In Employment Placement people who were deemed "job ready" by their caseworkers were referred to employment agencies or broker to help them find paid work. OW recipients were expected to accept any job offer they received. The agency or broker was contracted by municipal/regional government and paid in proportion to the savings to the welfare system by the recipient leaving the rolls to work in a paid job (S.O.,

1997 ch. 25). The Ontario Works program developed by Mike Harris' Conservative government was similar to welfare reforms employed in many neo-liberal countries which prioritized rapid labour market attachment over longer-term human capital development (Lightman, Mitchell & Herd, 2005a, pg. 6). This move to workfare programs was underpinned by the belief that that it was individual deficiencies rather than inadequate labour markets that were at the root of poverty and unemployment (Coulter, 2009; Lightman, Mitchell & Herd, 2005a). The principle behind OW was that any job is a good job, and recipients consequently faced pressure to enter the labour market at the first available opportunity (Peck, 2001).

The changes that took place were continued by successive governments, regardless of political party. Heading into the 2003 provincial election, Ontario Liberals campaigned against the Harris Conservatives under the banner "Choose Change", which proposed that Ontarians were in need of a more understanding government. Leader Dalton McGuinty referred often to the need for Ontario as a society to care for its children, seniors, vulnerable citizens, neighbours and the environment (Coulter, 2009, pg. 31). At the same time the Liberals talked about the need for governments to be transparent and accountable. Applying neo-liberal public policy thinking to welfare, the Liberals told Ontarians that they should see value for their money, and that mechanisms must be in place to evaluate social assistance programs on these terms (Coulter, 2009). Despite promises to eliminate some of the harsh rules of Ontario Works, such as eliminating the clawback of the National Child Benefit Supplement, once McGuinty and his Liberals formed a majority government, OW remained

largely intact without any substantial deviations from the reforms enacted during Harris' "common sense revolution".

2.3 Evaluating welfare reform

Welfare reform resulted in a substantial decrease in the number of recipients in Canada. At the time of writing this dissertation, it has been more than a decade since the introduction of workfare policies in Canada, and even longer since their implementation in the United States. If success is measured in sheer numbers, then workfare has been a great success. In Canada caseloads fell from 3.1 million during the recession in the 1990s to less than two million by 2000 (Lightman, Mitchell & Herd, 2005b). By 2003 Canadian social assistance rates had fallen 11.1% from its high of 19.5% in 1993 (Kneebone & White, 2009). Several reports have cited the dramatic reduction in welfare rolls and deemed reform a success (see Schram, Soss & Fording, 2003). There is overall consensus that, as caseloads and costs have fallen dramatically, there has been substantial success in reaching the primary goals of reform (Lightman, Mitchell & Herd, 2005b).

Other researchers have recognized the need to measure success in other ways, by exploring what has happened with those who have exited the welfare system. Several studies have attempted to understand the characteristics of the recipients who have exited the system, the rates of recidivism, as well as the economic well-being of both leavers and returners. In the late 1990s and early 2000s there had been increased interest in examining welfare exits with governments in the United States and in Canada, although to a lesser degree, funding

research to examine the effects of welfare reform (e.g. Anderson, Halter et al., 2001; Dunton, Mosley et al., 2001; Foster & Julnes, 2001; Isaacs 2001; Julnes et al., 2001a; Julnes et al., 2001b; Rickman, et al., 2001; Westra, 2001; Frenette & Picot, 2003).

One line of exploration considers who is most successful at exiting assistance. Most research considers characteristics such as marital status, the number and ages of children, education and previous work experience. Higher education and more work experience are consistently found to increase the rate at which women leave social assistance, while the presence of children, particularly young ones, make exit more difficult (Cooke, 2009). Whether a single mother has been previously married is sometimes included, and is generally found to increase the rate of exit from social assistance (Cooke, 2009; O'Neill et al., 1987; Harris, 1996; Stewart & Dooley 1999). Other aspects considered are the number and types of formal and informal networks available to support single mothers in their transition (Cumming, 2005; Mayson, 1999; Dominguez & Watkins, 2003; Medley et al., 2005; Power, 2005; Lein et al., 2006).

Another line of research in the measurement of success of welfare reform weighs aspects of the local labour market, specifically the expected wage rate or minimum wage, local unemployment rates, and expected welfare benefits. Results have generally confirmed that higher expected wages and lower unemployment increase the pace of welfare exit (O'Neill et al., 1987; Harris, 1996; Stewart & Dooley, 1999). However, the jobs obtained are often precarious, frequently short term and part-time (Evans, 2002; Hofferth & Harris, 2003; Negrey et al., 2007; Vosko et al., 2003). Despite sustained prosperity in the late 1990s, the

labour market in Canada remained a deeply polarized one, with large segments working in nonstandard or precarious employment, (Lightman, Mitchell, & Herd, 2005b). Precarious employment is characterized by insecurity, low income, and lack of control (Vosko, 2005).

Numerous studies considered what kind of pay welfare leavers received in their jobs. In two separate studies done in Ontario in 1996 and 1998, Hamilton (2002) found that those who found work earned on average \$8.00 per hour, minimum wage for this time period, and received few if any benefits. Five years after exit, most leavers were still earning the same amount of money as when they left social assistance (Hamilton, 2002). The majority of leavers appeared to be joining the ranks of the working poor⁶ and, while some were doing a little better economically, many remained in poverty (Foster & Julnes, 2001; Frenette & Picot, 2003; Hofferth & Harris, 2003; Lightman et al., 2005a, 2011; Lein et al., 2006). Frenette and Picot (2003) found that a full one third of leavers in Canada were worse off economically than they were when they were receiving assistance. Lightman et al., (2011) found that some leavers were bringing home slightly more money working full-time than they were receiving social assistance however they were much more vulnerable to crisis.

Studies point to the prevalence of part-time and/or temporary work among leavers. In two separate studies conducted in Ontario in 1996 and 1998, Mitchell (2001) found that sixty

⁶ The term "working poor" is used to describe the individuals and families who maintain regular employment but remain in relative poverty due to low-wages (Newman, 2009).

percent of leavers had either entered into employment or had improved their job situations; however, in both studies one third of the leavers were working part-time. Likewise in an analysis of a 2001 City of Toronto survey, Lightman, Mitchell and Herd (2005a) found a higher incidence of part-time and temporary employment among those leaving assistance than among the rest of the labour force. Previous social assistance recipients held temporary jobs at more than four times the province-wide rate (Lightman, Mitchell & Herd, 2005a).

Tracking rates of return to welfare after leaving has also been used to measure success of reform. In general, social assistance use is characterized more by short-term than by long-term use. In a study based on 1980s administrative data from British Columbia, Barrett and Cragg (1998) found that most welfare spells were short, with 75% ending in six months; however, there was a high incidence of return to welfare, with 50% of welfare leavers returning within a year. A quarter of all of these cases were single mothers with children (Barrett and Cragg, 1998). Using longitudinal tax data to investigate the change in family income of people who stopped receiving welfare benefits in Canada in the 1990s, Frenette and Picot (2005) found that within one year of being completely out of the welfare system, 35% of their cohort had returned; within five years, one half had returned at some point. Micholopoulous et al. (2002) found that 60% of participants in their study had not found work in five years. Using telephone survey data in 2001 and again in 2005, Lightman, Mitchell and Herd (2011) found that 55% of their participants returned to welfare within an average of 11.1 months of leaving.

These findings are similar to those turned up by American studies that conclude over one quarter of single mothers return to welfare within one year of exiting, and 42% return within two years (Acs and Loprest, 2004, Harris 1996; Julnes et al., 2001a). Furthermore, Hamilton (2002) and Loprest (2002) found that between 20% and 35% of those who exit welfare in the US⁷ return within the first few months. A large-scale study found that approximately 25% of recipients who left welfare in 2000 and 2001 were back on assistance in 2002 (Urban Institute, 2005). Approximately half of those returning recipients had reported leaving welfare for work.

Using administrative data and dividing the welfare caseloads into "leavers", "stayers" and "cyclers", Miller (2002) found that those who left welfare faced fewer barriers to employment than stayers; however, all three groups had low incomes during the follow-up period. Interestingly, Richburg-Hayes and Freedman (2004) found that the number of recipients who cycled on and off welfare increased after the introduction of the Personal Responsibility and Work Reconciliation Act (PWORA) in the US illuminating that the reforms did little to support sustainable attachment to the labour market.

⁷ PRWORA, The Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity Reconciliation Act of 1996 instituted Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) in the United States. This policy mandated a workforce participation component to welfare legislation (Bashevkin, 2002).

Entry rates provide yet another perspective on the success of welfare reform. Sceviour and Finnie (2004) analyzed welfare trends in Canada and found that, in addition to increased exit rates, welfare entry rates had declined substantially across all family types, in large part due to tightened eligibility particularly in Ontario and Alberta. They argued that, as a consequence of stricter eligibility, the profile of the average welfare recipient changed; those most likely to access social assistance were more likely to "have greater difficulties leaving welfare in any given year" (Sceviour & Finnie, 2004, pg.10). Other researchers have also found that there is a group of recipients who are likely never to leave assistance because of significant barriers to work (Lightman, Mitchell & Herd, 2005b; Miller, 2002). Evidence suggests that these particular recipients are becoming more disadvantaged over time (Lightman, Mitchell & Herd, 2005b).

The success of welfare reform has also been measured in terms of self-sufficiency. Welfare reform in the United States as well as in Canada reflected an intent to move people from dependency on benefits to self-sufficiency and assumption of personal responsibility (Bauer et al., 2000). The rhetoric of reform presented income from wages as an indication of independence. Social policy has been written under the assumption that economic self-sufficiency is obtainable by all poor as long as they have a sense of the future, self-worth and freedom (Bauer et al., 2000). And yet, although policy makers expressed their intent to increase self-sufficiency among the poor, little attention has been paid to defining self-sufficiency or considering how it is best achieved (Bauer et al., 2000).

Although there has been an abundance of work analyzing welfare policies in Canada a complete picture has not yet been drawn. Recidivism rates are well known, as are the characteristics of those most likely to return to welfare use, but little is yet known about the experiences of leavers in general and about those single mothers who remain off of assistance in particular (Julnes et al., 2001a). Most research on the topic of outcomes of welfare reform remains quantitative in nature, relying on surveys and administrative data highlighting the numbers of people who have transitioned however discount their experiences. The absence of qualitative data results in a lack of understanding of the impact that welfare reform has had on recipients' lives. As Lightman, Mitchell and Herd (2005b) have suggested,

Closer reading of the research findings in both the US and Canada...suggests the outcomes of reform are both more modest and more complex than headline figures claim. While it is true that large numbers of leavers find work and some progress into stable jobs, it is equally true that many remain in poverty and find only unstable work leading to frequent returns to welfare (pg. 11).

Such qualitative research as exists focuses on the experiences of social assistance recipients, illuminating the struggles and persistent poverty that are a part of their day-to-day lives. In a US study, Scott et al. (2004) found that welfare leavers typically experienced both unstable employment and income that continues to place them in economic instability. Their findings highlight the struggles that former and continuing recipients faced while attempting to balance precarious employment with all that is involved with social reproduction. In another US study, Bank and Matsudara (2014) found that the rates of leaving welfare were very low for lone parents and that those who did leave stayed in low-income precarious

positions. Some US states provide more generous earning disregards which allow a transitioning recipient to continue to receive some money from social assistance while earning an income. These earning disregards have the potential to make transition to full-time employment smoother economically, but also to increase ones overall income. Bank and Matsudara (2014) found little to no difference in labour market participation rates between states that offered generous earning disregards and states that offered little to none. Moreover, they discovered that few working lone parents took advantage of the earning disregards. Instead, they survived on their low wages in an effort to escape the oppressive public assistance regulations and interfering into their lives.

Lightman, Mitchell and Herd (2003, 2011) reported similar findings in the Canadian context, with both leavers and stayers experiencing great financial difficulties. Leavers reported difficulties in locating suitable accommodations and making ends meet. A lack of any type of contingency fund meant that any unexpected costs caused a crisis and forced leavers to rely on emergency resources such as food banks and shelters (Lightman, Mitchell & Herd, 2003, 2011). Stayers in this same study faced many similar hardships as well as major problems associated with eligibility for and maintenance of receipt of benefits (Herd, Lightman & Mitchell, 2005).

In a 2005 follow up to their 2003 study, Lightman, Mitchell and Herd conducted 90 semi-structured interviews with participants who were social assistance recipients at the time of their original study. Participants were asked about their experiences of a variety of hardships over the past year; findings were compared with the results from the first study.

Most leavers still reported that they often did not have enough food to eat and that their incomes remained unstable, often changing from week to week. Many participants reported holding multiple jobs and some described being trapped in tough jobs with no foreseeable way out. While some participants reported welfare caseworkers who were helpful in their quest for employment, many participants were highly critical of the demands of the policy and the ways that they were treated by their workers.

Lightman, Mitchell and Herd (2005b) found that a large percentage of social assistance recipients experienced a multitude of barriers to employment that appear not to be recognized or acknowledged by their caseworkers. These barriers included a lack of high school education, no familial support, are sole support parents, residence in dangerous neighbourhoods in unhealthy conditions, addiction, and mental health issues. Of the welfare stayers interviewed, three quarters reported using food banks in the preceding year, over half had their phone and/or electricity cut off, and 80% stated that securing food was a constant worry for them. The findings from the study indicated that welfare stayers devise survival strategies other than merely obtaining insufficient employment. Lightman, Mitchell and Herd (2005) found four types of strategies were employed; meticulous budgeting and constant planning (for example buying in bulk, travelling far distances to purchase items on sale), relying on the support of social networks (partners, friends, families), exchange of goods or services with friends or neighbours and undeclared incomes. Each of these strategies, however, also had elements of uncertainty and precariousness.

Other researchers have also discussed the ways in which lone mothers strategize to "make ends meet" (Gazso, 2007; Hanson & Hanson, 2011; Lister, 2004; Pulkingham, Fuller & Kershaw, 2010). Similar to Lightman et al., (2005) Gaszo found that lone mothers use several strategies to "stay afloat" such as learning the system, playing the system, relying on social supports and pawning. Lister (2004) referred to this process as "getting by" and argued that it requires more than simply managing economic resources. "Getting by" includes dealing with stigma, racialization and othering as well as often dealing with personal trauma.

When lone mothers' experiences attempting to exit social assistance is the specific focus of inquiry, information is incomplete. The effects of Mike Harris' "common sense revolution" on lone mothers has now been well documented by scholars who recognize that under Ontario Works lone mothers went from being viewed as "unemployable" mothers to employable workers with little attention paid to the problems associated with this shift.

Lightman, Mitchell and Herd (2005) have argued that the requirements of work-first policies contradict the realities of sole support parents who are denied the option of caring for their own children and receiving social assistance as mothers but are compelled to care for others as either paid workers or as volunteers.

Patricia Evans (1996) has reviewed the historical changes to social assistance for lone mothers in Ontario and distinguished between three periods in policy changes. Evans (1996) asserts that the 1920s to 1950s policy had an emphasis on lone mothers primarily as mothers, rather than workers. Policy from the 1960s and mid 1980s reflected the view of lone mothers as both mothers and workers, with the discourse embodying notions of choice (Evans, 1996).

The third and current period began in 1988 with the ending of entitlements and the increasing views that they are workers rather than mothers. Until the arrival of the Ontario Conservative government, lone mothers were considered a distinct category of welfare recipients whose primary responsibility was the care of their children (Gazso, 2012; Little, 2003, 2006; Pulkingham & Fuller, 2012). Gazso (2012) refers to this as a shift from the "mother-carer" to the "mother-worker" moral code.

2.4 Recognizing gaps in the literature

Research on lone mothers and social assistance has been undertaken from varying theoretical perspectives. Thus far, feminist research on the Canadian welfare state has given us rich descriptions of the ways in which social assistance reproduces social structures of gender and class (Bezanson, 2006; Brodie, 1996; Evans, 1996; Gaszo, 2012; Porter, 2003; Ursel, 1992), and the way in which social assistance can be part of a regime of "moral regulation" of lone mothers (Little, 1998). Economic researchers have focused on understanding the characteristics of welfare recipients and the factors that affect reliance on social assistance. This economic research has included quantitative investigations of the time that individuals spend in receipt of benefits (Dooley, 1999), and the characteristics of those receiving benefits (Charette and Meng, 1994). There has also been a limited amount of research on the income characteristics of former welfare recipients, from an economic perspective (Frenette & Picot, 1999). However, these approaches fall short in explaining the questions of the process of leaving social assistance, the specific ways in which women

transition from welfare to work, and the material and social support need to be in place in their lives in order to facilitate this transition.

Furthermore, there has been little attention paid to recipients' experiences with the particular policies and programs implemented by Ontario Works. Recipients are required to take part in programs aimed at making them job ready and yet little sociological research exists on the effectiveness of these programs. Does participating in these programs aid lone mothers in finding sustainable employment which results in a prolonged exit from social assistance?

This project endeavours to fill these gaps in the literature by examining lone mothers' exits from social assistance as well as their experiences as welfare recipients participating in the various programs required by Ontario Works. Research for this project was guided by three theoretical perspectives; gender, social exclusion and social capital are the lenses through which this particular population of social assistance recipients will be considered. The following chapter outlines these three lenses and elucidates their importance for this study.

Chapter 3

Theoretical Approaches

In 2011, lone mothers headed 1.5 million Canadian families (Statistics, Canada, 2013). In 2008, 21.9% of lone mother families were reported to be living in poverty (Statistics Canada, 2010). For many, social assistance was their sole income source. In 2011 in Ontario alone there were 76 000 lone parent led families receiving Ontario Works (Stapleton & Bednar, 2011). These statistics demonstrate an enduring and widely experienced societal problem.

Many theoretical approaches have been used to study lone mothers who continue to subsist on society's social and economic margins. A survey of the literature suggests that various researchers approach the study of lone mothers and social assistance from one of three broad theoretical perspectives: economic (see Charette & Meng, 1994; Dooley, 1999; Frenette & Picot, 1999), feminist (see Bezanson, 2006; Brodie, 1996; Evans, 1996; Porter, 2003; Ursel, 1992) and moral regulation (see Chunn & Gavigan, 2004; Little, 1998; Little & Marks, 2006). While these approaches have provided us with valuable insights, they fall short in explaining the process of leaving social assistance, the specific ways in which women transition from welfare to work, and the material and social support that needs to be in place in their lives in order to facilitate this transition.

This research endeavors to fill the gaps in the literature by producing a more nuanced understanding of the process of exiting social assistance by using three different theoretical

lenses; gender, social exclusion and social capital. This chapter examines these theoretical approaches and considers what each has to offer the present study of one particular category of disadvantaged women. The chapter concludes with my justification for applying a theoretical approach to the issue of lone mothers living on and leaving social assistance that combines the three theoretical lenses of gender, social exclusion and social capital.

3.1 Gender as a theoretical perspective

Gender differences may be an ideological fiction, but they have very real material consequences (Williams, 1995:p. 49).

Gender is often linked to the individual, we lead gendered lives and yet social structures are gendered and, as a result, work to produce gender inequalities (Britton & Logan, 2008). Gender based attitudes and beliefs are upheld in structures (Gaszo, 2003). Indeed gender inequality is built into the structure of work, according to Acker (1990). Organizations are gendered, she contended, such that "advantage and disadvantage, exploitation and control, action and emotion, meaning and identity are patterned through and in terms of a distinction between male and female, masculine and feminine" (p.146). In making this now famous assertion, Acker essentially moved gender from the realm of the individual to that of the structure (Britton & Logan, 2008, p.107). One of Acker's greatest insights was her elucidation of the ways that gender becomes embedded in formal, transparent policies and practices such as workplace evaluation policies or job descriptions that appear to be gender neutral (Britton & Logan, 2008). Therefore the notion of gender neutral policies or programs established by state structures must be held up to a gender lens.

Gender is not a static system of beliefs. Gaszo (2003) has written:

The malleability of gender as a social structure is suggested by the changing nature of its meaning and the implications of it dependent upon human agency, context, space and time. Situated within this ever-changing structure are processes that create social differences and social order between women and men through the constant shaping/reshaping and sanctioning/condoning of gender behaviour in accordance with gendered norms and expectation (pg. 452).

Gaszo developed this idea further, writing that these gender-differentiating processes occur simultaneously at multiple levels: ideological, institutional, interactional and individual. Using the concept of ideology to refer to the systems of beliefs and meanings that are transferred and reproduced by women and men in their daily lives, Gaszo argued that "traditional ideological understandings of gender appropriate behaviour continue to perpetuate women's unequal workplace experiences" (Gaszo, 2003, pg. 453). Furthermore, Gaszo argued, men's and women's interactions in the workplace are also gendered at the interactional level.

Employing a gender lens helps to recognize gender as an institution rather than as an individual characteristic. Feminists have long used gender as a primary category of analysis (Waylen, 2007). A gender lens prompts the researcher to go beyond gender stereotypes, to see gender as an institution and to recognize the multifaceted nature of recent social change, according to Gerson (2004). The same author observed that individualistic approaches hold women responsible for social conditions beyond their control, obscuring the way that options and opportunities are unequally distributed. For example, women may be blamed for their

inability to balance the requirements of paid and unpaid work. A gender lens, Gerson writes "reminds researchers to shift the focus from passing judgment on individuals to understanding the larger social contexts in which personal choices and strategies are crafted" (Gerson, 2004, pg. 164). Gerson (2004) has argued that, since gender change is reshaping work and family life, a gender lens is needed to understand work-family links and transformations. Applying a gender lens means recognizing that gender plays a pivotal role in the experiences of lone mothers in the labour market, the workplace, the home and the state.

The sections that follow explore the significance of the gender in the workforce, at home and at the hands of the state, and provide an overview of different theoretical explanations for why women continue to be disadvantaged in all realms of social life. The section also highlights the ways that women who are lone mothers are particularly disadvantaged.

3.1.1 The gendered world of work: a hostile environment for lone mothers

Several decades of research have made clear the gender based inequities that women face in the labour market. The last forty years have seen women make important gains in the labour market, especially in labour force participation (Blau & Kahn, 2000; Budig & Hodges, 2010; Youngjoo & Weeden, 2014). In the early 1960s, female labour force participation remained below 30% (Fortin & Huberman, 2002); in 1967 women working full-time, full-year earned on average 58.4% of what men earned (Heisz et al., 2002). By 2013 female labour force participation had risen to 68% (Status of Women, 2014). The gap between men's and women's wages narrowed in that time, but Canadian women working full-time,

full-year still earned only approximately 71% of what their male counterparts earn (Williams, 2010, pg. 13; Status of Women, 2014). Despite pay equality and pay equity legislation in most Canadian jurisdictions, in 2008 the average earnings for women working full-time, full-year were \$44,700 compared to \$62,500 for their male counterparts (Catalyst, 2012). In 2013 women working full-time earned 82.4% of what men earned (Catalyst, 2014).

While women are entering occupations previously closed to them, the problem of female job ghettos persists; many jobs remain as segregated by gender as they were in the 1950s (Grusky & Charles, 2004; Williams, Muller & Kilanski, 2012). Women numerically dominate the nonmanual sector and, in particular, the less desirable occupations within the sector such as sales, service, and clerical positions (Grusky & Charles, 2004; Korkki, 2011). The fact that higher paying occupations continue to be male-dominated accounts for some of the gender pay gap (Alksnis, Demairs & Curtis, 2008; Caiazza, Shaw & Werschkul, 2004, Grusky & Charles, 2004). Women are less likely to be promoted (McCue, 1996; Hersch & Viscusi, 1996; Yap & Konrad, 2009) and receive less on-the-job training than men (Barron, Black & Loewenstein, 1993), giving credence to Correll's (2007) assertion that the cultural understanding of the ideal worker role exists in tension with cultural understandings of the motherhood role.

Having children further decreases a woman's chance of being hired, her earning power and possibilities for promotion. Employers prefer to hire people with few perceived distractions outside of work who are able to devote themselves to the organization (Williams et al., 2012). The gendered division of labour within households precludes many women

from being the "ideal worker" – an unencumbered employee who can make themselves available for work whenever required. The pay gap between women with children and those without children has widened (Budig & Hodges, 2010; Waldfogel, 1998), explained in part by differences in human capital (Blau, 1998, Budig & Hodges, 2010). Women with children tend to have lower education and skills (Blau, 1998). However, even accounting for education and work experience, a larger pay penalty exists for women with children (Avellar & Smock, 2003; Anderson, Binder & Krause, 2002; Budig & England, 2001; Budig& Hodges, 2010; Waldfogel, 1998, Stewart, 2014).

Summarizing economic research on women's pay gap, Budig and Hodges (2010) found that for women under the age of 35, the pay gap between mothers and non-mothers is larger than the pay gap between men and women. Studies of employed mothers in the United States found that mothers suffer a per-child wage penalty of approximately 5% on average, after accounting for education and skills (Buudig & England, 2001: Anderson, Binder & Krause, 2003). Rather than discuss the "glass ceiling" that exists for women, Correll (2007) refers to this pay penalty as the "motherhood ceiling". She identified related prejudices in hiring practices. In a study of same-gender, equally qualified job candidates, Correll found that mothers have a decreased likelihood of receiving call backs from potential employers when submitting application packages. Mothers were penalized on a number of measures, including perceived competence and recommended starting salary. Fatherhood was not a factor for male applicants, Correll found, unless it was to improve their likelihood of getting

a raise. Her conclusion: "actual employers discriminate against mothers, but not against fathers" (Correll, 2007, pg. 1297).

There are different theoretical approaches to understanding the persistence of gender inequality in the workforce. Some theorists have attributed women's unequal workplace experiences to the primary responsibility they assume for their families. As will be discussed in the next section, the lion's share of household labour falls on the shoulders of women; thus they are typically in a relatively unfavourable position to pursue demanding career opportunities and professional advancement (Lachance-Grzela & Bouchard, 2010).

Traditional economic analysis of the gender pay gap and occupational segregation has focused on gender differences in either qualifications or labour market treatment of similarly qualified people (Blau & Khan, 2000). Recently advances have been made by including an analysis of the gender pay gap in the context of the overall structure of wages (Blau & Kahn, 2000). "Wage structure is the array of prices determined for labour market skills and the rewards to employment in particular sectors" (Blau & Kahn, 2000, pg. 80). Gender differences in qualifications have tended to be analyzed according to the human capital model, by which women's caregiving requirements result in their accumulating less labour market experience than men. This model observes that in general women have shorter and more discontinuous work lives; because of this, runs the theory, women are less likely to invest in their human capital through formal education or on-the-job training which in turn results in lower earnings relative to men (Blau & Kahn, 2000).

Lone mothers receiving social assistance are expected to find employment that allows them to leave social assistance despite the fact that the odds are stacked against them. The lone mothers are doubly disadvantaged due to their gender. First, because they are entering into a labour market with less remuneration for the kinds of paid work they are likely to do. Second, they are lone mothers which requires them to be available to provide all of the caregiving in their homes. Even if the lone mothers were able to acquire the skills necessary to be qualified for a middle income job, research shows us that their positions as mothers leaves them disadvantaged.

3.1.2 The gendered home

The process of socialization often instills the ideology that women are natural caregivers and thus best equipped to handle the nurturing requirements of their families. This ideology has led to the notion of separate spheres, whereby women remain largely responsible for the home while men are responsible for the public sphere of paid work.

Despite women's increasing involvement in work outside of the home, this ideology persists; women continue to perform the majority of household tasks (Bianchi et al., 2012; Brines, 1994; Koivunen, Rothaupt & Wolfgram, 2009).

Following the mass entry of married women into the labour force and the increase in egalitarian attitudes, the distribution of household responsibilities remains more unequal than anticipated (Lachance-Grzela & Bouchard, 2010). Even when studies find a positive effect of egalitarian attitudes on husbands' participation in household tasks, the practical effect is quite

small (Cohen, 2007). The following section examines the gender inequities that persist in the home and offers an overview of the theoretical explanations for the pervasive gendered division of labour.

Coltrane (2000) has argued that "social reproductive labour is just as important to the maintenance of society as the productive work that occurs in the formal market economy" (pg. 1209). Yet, Coltrane contended, household labour is trivialized in part because it is considered women's work: household work is sharply divided by gender with women spending far more time than men engaged in this unpaid labour. Household tasks are not inherently gendered yet due to the gendered divisions in which they get accomplished these tasks are often labeled as "masculine" (mostly referring to outdoor tasks such as shoveling, raking, taking the garbage out, barbecuing and car maintenance) or "feminine" (washing, cooking, cleaning, ironing, childcare). Stereotypical female tasks are also referred to as "routine tasks", those that are on-going and time consuming, while stereotypical male tasks are referred to as "intermittent tasks", done occasionally, less time consuming and more flexible in nature (Lachance-Grzela & Bouchard, 2010). Women are responsible for about two thirds of routine household tasks (Greenstein, 2009; Knudsen & Waerness, 2008) and are also responsible for managing, planning and organizing all tasks (Mannino & Deutsch, 2007).

There are several theoretical perspectives that dominate the literature on household labour allocation which attempt to explain why there is such divergence between men and women's participation in household labour; (1) the relative resource perspective (see Bittman

et al., 2003; Brines, 1994; Knudsen & Waerness, 2008; Lachance-Grzela & Bouchard, 2010; Walby, 1986); (2) the time availability perspective (see Bartley et al., 2005; Bianchi et al., 2012, 2000; Ciabattair, 2004; Cunningham, 2007); (3) the gender ideology perspective (see Bianchi et al., 2000; Davis & Greenstein, 2009; Erikson, 2005; Lachance-Grzela & Bouchard, 2010); (4) the gender construction perspective (see Bittman et al., 2003; Brines, 1994; Greenstein, 2000; Schneider, 2012). Regardless of the approach taken, women are continuously found to be responsible for the majority of work done in the home. Moreover, research on domestic labour examines the division of labour between a male and female partner. These studies illustrated the gendered differences in the division of household labour and the burden of domestic responsibility that male-partnered women face. In the case of the present research, the women are not partnered thus all of the labour falls on their shoulders. The importance of this observation is that this work is simply expected of the lone mother rather than recognized as actual work.

The division of household and family labour often changes greatly after the birth of a child with the inequity becoming greater, more evident and more problematic (Koivunen et al., 2009). An increased burden of household responsibilities renders the transition to parenthood especially difficult for women (Koivunen et al., 2009). In studies comparing the time mothers and fathers spend with their children, research found that mothering involved "more overall time commitment, more multitasking, more physical labour, a more rigid timetable, more time alone with children and more overall responsibility for managing care" (Craig, 2006, pg. 259). Offer and Schnieder (2011) argue that for mothers multitasking

activities are associated with an increased stress, psychological distress and work-family conflict. These gendered differences applied even when the mothers worked full-time (Craig, 2006). Sayer, Bianchi and Robinson (2004) contend that contrary to popular rhetoric mothers working full-time spend more quality time with their children than stay-at-home mothers did in the 1960s.

This intensive mothering ideology is particularly problematic for single mothers as it encompasses the belief that it is better for children's growth and wellbeing that women stay home to look after them. However, liberal welfare states only support this when there is a male breadwinner in the home. This highlights the double standards to which partnered and single mothers are supposed to subscribe (Sagueres, 2009, pg.201). Encouraging single mothers to join the paid labour force reinforces the message that the unpaid care work that women do within the family is not counted as "real work" (Sagueres, 2009).

In the context of this study, households are much more than a mere domestic responsibility. As the next section illustrates, work done in the home primarily by women is continually ignored and devalued despite its importance to the market and the state.

3.1.3 Housework as more than a domestic responsibility

Since the 1960s feminists have been drawing attention to the importance of housework for the economy. In the 1970s James and Dalla Costa argued that housework produced surplus value and should be rewarded with wages. These assertions led to much theorizing about the separation between commodity production and human production. The domestic

labour debates (see James & Dalla Costa, 1972), the dual systems approach (see Ursel, 1992) and the unified systems approach (see Young, 1981) all grappled with the social relations of reproduction and production and provided an account of the oppression of women in capitalist societies. This examination of women's oppression has most recently been taken up by feminists engaged with political economy literature.

Political economy is the study of the role of economic processes in shaping society and history. It is an interdisciplinary approach associated with the work of economists, influenced by Marx, who focus on class processes or relationships, but who rejected the economic determinism of traditional versions of Marxist theory. Drawing upon economics, law and political science, political economy attempts to explain how political institutions, the political environment and the economic system influence each other.

A feminist political economy moves from focusing on economic reductionism alone to incorporating a much more complex system of oppression without forfeiting a materialist analysis. Feminist analysis provides a number of insights relevant to economics. Waylen (2007) has argued that it "reshapes the understanding of the paid economy by treating labour as "a produced unit" and by making unpaid household labour visible" (pg. 211). She has also argued that feminist political economy "draws attention to the gender biases of microand meso-level institutions such as households, government agencies, firms and even markets, from which macroeconomic outcomes emerge" (pg. 211).

Feminist political economy challenges the neo-liberal economic model which focuses on the market economy with its primary goals of growth and accumulation. Neoclassical

approaches have generally viewed the family and the household as lying outside of the realm of economics and in the private sphere (Waylen, 2007). Unpaid labour that occurs within the household, "such as childcare and feeding the waged worker, is not quantified as economic activity within this framework, as it does not enter the market through monetized exchange relationships" (Waylen, 2007, pg. 210). In contrast, a feminist political economy focuses on the provisioning of human needs and well-being (Bezanson & Luxton, 2006).

There is recognition that the provisioning of human needs is a necessary component of the economic system and that there is an inevitable connection between households and the formal economy. Capitalism requires a renewed workforce each day, and households depend on wages (or some sort of income) as the means of reproducing themselves. The economy is not simply where commodities are produced; rather, it is also the arena where people organize to meet all their human needs (Bezanson, 2006b). The central element of this organization is the daily production of individuals, which takes place largely in the household and communities. As Luxton and Corman (2001) have contended, in order to explore how our daily lives are structured through the conflict between capitalist accumulation and social reproduction, society should be examined utilizing Marxist assumptions that human action is central to the production and reproduction of social life.

The domestic realm has relevance to both the private and public realms of life. Elson (1998) discussed a domestic sector comprised of the unpaid labour undertaken in households and neighborhoods. Adopting a macro-level focus, she argued that domestic labour, like the market and state sectors of industrial economies, undergoes continual change and

restructuring. She asserted that households must meet the needs of their members for food, shelter, and clothing, just as private sectors must cover their costs and public sectors must uphold the laws on which they are based in order to retain their power to tax. The production of human beings to whom the idea of ethical behavior is meaningful is important, in Elson's analysis, because social norms of ethical behavior are extremely important in order for markets to sustain. Social norms such as respect for property rights and reluctance to steal and defraud must be instilled and sustained so that the costs of policing are not higher than the benefits of the market economy. The primary site of production of this behaviour is the home where children are brought up, a process that rests upon unpaid domestic labour. The process of caring and providing for people are central to a capitalist economy and thus is integral to social policy. Feminist political economy highlight the contradiction between the selfish behaviour expected in the marketplace and the altruistic behaviour expected in the house (Waylen, 2007).

From a feminist political economy perspective, the social reproduction and the unpaid care work carried out primarily by women is continually ignored; women's subordination is rooted in women's position within the social relations of the capitalist mode of production.

Other researchers focusing on social policy, such as Janet Mosher (2000) and Swift and Brimingham (2000) have noted the lack of attention that policy makers give to social reproduction. Mosher (2000) has observed that reproductive labour no longer entitles one to benefits from the state: women, including single mothers, are expected to perform

reproductive labour and participate in a market economy that assumes that someone else, not the paid employer, is performing it.

Cuts in welfare benefits and programs have an impact on women as "both providers and consumers of health and social services, resulting in the loss of employment for many and the expenditure of more time and effort to replace the lost welfare provision by (often poor) women in their roles within the household" (Waylen, 2007:p. 215). Elson (1995) has argued that the impact of structural adjustment of welfare policies affects male and female members within a household differently through their differential access to income and other resources; she also pointed out that increased unemployment and measures such as the removal of subsidies mean that women in poor households have to adopt survival strategies, expending a great deal of time and energy in "making ends meet" (Edin & Lein, 1997).

3.1.4 Gender and the welfare state: Reproducing gender ideologies

Gendered discourses and ideologies about motherhood, masculinity and femininity, citizenship and the sexual division of labour all influence the nature of welfare states (Orloff, 1996). Simultaneously, the institutions managing and delivering state social provisions impact on gender relations (Sagueres, 2009). Indeed, the welfare state can reinforce women's economic vulnerability (Daly, 2000; Lewis, 1992; O'Connor, 1998: O'Connor, Orloff & Shaver, 1999).

Cross-cultural comparisons of welfare states have revealed that different regimes with different welfare ideologies have shaped gender relations differently (Sagueres, 2009).

Esping-Andersen (1990) argued that in European states the welfare system was designed to stratify the economy. Illuminating the links between welfare states and labour, he argued that in nations where labour is highly mobilized, the welfare state is more generous.

Rights that flow from citizenship are at the center of Esping-Andersen's 1990 comparison of welfare state regimes. He analyzed regimes from the perspective of the relative rights and stratification of the state, the market and the family, drawing out three factors which he believed salient in the formation of welfare state regimes: the nature of class mobilization, structures of political coalition, and the historical legacy of regime institutionalization. Thus Esping-Andersen identified three distinct types of welfare state. The first regime type is the "liberal welfare state regime". The United States, Canada and Britain fall into this type. It provides modest transfers and social insurance benefits that cater to low-income, working class state dependents. The second regime type is the "corporatist regime", primarily found in Austria, France, Germany and Italy. In these regimes the preservation differentials predominate and therefore rights are attached to class and status. Esping-Andersen's third and smallest regime cluster is comprised of Scandinavian countries where the principles of universalism and thus the de-commodification of social rights were also extended to the middle classes. Esping-Andersen (1990) referred to this as the "social democratic regime" and argued that this model pursues a welfare state that promotes an equality of the highest standards rather than based on minimal needs.

In all three regimes Esping-Andersen (1990) discusses commodification, whereby the welfare of individuals comes to rest entirely on the "cash nexus" (pg. 21). He argued for de-

commodification so that services are rendered as a matter of right and people can maintain a livelihood without entering the labour market. Esping-Andersen insisted that the presence of social assistance or insurance does not necessarily bring about de-commodification. Because access to benefits is usually means-tested, meaning that relief is only offered as a last resort and is associated with a social stigma that compels people to participate in the market. At a minimum, de-commodifying a welfare state must mean that citizens "can freely, and without potential loss of job, income, or general welfare, opt out of work when they themselves consider it necessary" (Esping-Andersen, 1990, pg. 23).

In the Canadian context, since the mid-1990s feminist political economy scholarship on the restructuring of the welfare state has attempted to unpack the "gender paradox" (Baker, 1996). Pat Armstong (2003), Barbara Cameron (2004) and Jane Jenson (1997) have all demonstrated that welfare restructuring has meant that more women join the labour force yet at the same time changes in labour market regulation have prompted the feminization of employment. Many scholars have tackled the question of gender and restructuring through the lens of citizenship (Abu-Laban, 2009; Brodie, 1996; Cohen, 1996). Brodie (1996) has argued that the neo-liberal state brought with it a new citizenship which is highly gendered.

Esping-Andersen in 1990 wrote of de-commodification as a necessary prerequisite for workers' political mobilization; feminists engaged in a gender analysis have more recently pointed out that the worker that Esping-Andersen had in mind was male (Evans, 1997; O'Connor, 2002; Orloff, 1993). Orloff (1993) has claimed that while de-commodification provides workers with an income from outside the market and thereby strengthens their

leverage in the market, the workers are generally male. Consequently, de-commodification does not reveal the unpaid services provided by wives, mothers, and daughters. When women choose paid work over housewifery, once they enter the paid labour force their domestic responsibilities disappear from analysis and they become, indistinguishable from male workers in most analysis.

Policies that encourage single mothers into work are largely ineffective (Duncan & Edwards, 1999). Duncan (2000) has argued that the most important factor influencing mothers' work decisions, whether partnered or single, was their moral belief about what their roles as mothers constituted. Likewise, Hays (1996) and Hattery (2001) found that women's employment decisions are most influenced by ideologies of mothering. Hattery (2001) argued that this is primarily due to the fact that the ideology that still has hegemonic power in liberal welfare states is this ideology of intensive mothering. This ideology still has hegemonic power in liberal welfare states, posited Hattery (2001); while not all women endorse the ideology of intensive mothering, and some actively reject it, they are all influenced by it. Single mothers are particularly influenced by this ideology as they are often the only consistent parent in their child's life (Sagueres, 2009).

Feminist political economy has influenced the way in which I incorporate a gendered lens as it highlights the gendering of realms that has occurred—separation between productive and reproductive—and the subsequent inequalities that are continually reproduced. This approach has elucidated the importance of social reproduction for the economy.

Despite growth in rates of female employment over the last two decades (Statistics Canada, 2012) and slight increases in male participation in domestic labour (Bittman et al., 2003), there remain gendered processes that occur across all three sectors; the state, market, and family. Using gender as a lens recognizes the disadvantage that women experience in the work place, in the home and at the hands of the state. The gender lens is a necessary tool to employ in any analysis of the particularly vulnerable group of women on which I am focused: lone mothers. The participants in this research are women whose relationship status leave them primarily responsible for all social reproductive activities while they attempt to maintain positions within the labour market while receiving state provided benefits. A gender lens helps shed light on the processes that occur across sectors in these women's lives.

3.2 Social Exclusion

Over the last century, equality rights have been established in many societies, often enshrined in constitutions and other human rights legislation, and protected by a judicial system. A classic feature of such rights regimes is that all adult citizens have equal rights to participate in the political, economic and social life of their society. These rights are protected insofar as citizens may use the judicial system to prevent government actors and, in some settings, fellow citizens from offering them discriminatory, detrimental treatment.

There is awareness among analysts, however, that despite establishment of formal equality rights, all citizens are not in practice treated equally. Whether by reason of poverty, ethnicity, sex, education, ability, age, language, or a combination of such factors, various citizens find themselves to be effectively excluded from equal participation in all of the

realms of society. The term "social exclusion" has come to be applied to the experience of inability to validate their equality rights and take up a full citizenship.

Considering a society from the standpoint of access to social and economic participation allows a deeper understanding of citizens' varied experience of citizenship. By using the perspective of social exclusion, I identify factors that act as barriers and facilitators in lone mothers' path through welfare receipt and their efforts to get off welfare.

3.2.1 Social exclusion: an emerging concept for a changing economic order

The concept of social exclusion first emerged in the 1970s in France, in the context of political discourse about national integration and solidarity (Barry, 1998). This happened at a time when the term "poverty" had been discredited in that country because of its association with Christian charity and utilitarian liberalism in Britain (de Haan, 1999). Coinage of "social exclusion" is attributed to René Lenoir, Secretary of State for Social Action in the Giscard d'Estaing government. Lenoir used the term in addressing French parliament in 1974 to capture those who experienced various social disadvantages; "les exclus" encompassed the poor, handicapped, seniors, mentally ill and addicts (de Haan, 1999), all groups that were not protected by social insurance (Silver, 1994) and left behind during economic growth. Lenoir estimated that the excluded made up one-tenth of the French population (Welshman, 2007).

In the years since it entered public discourse, the concept of social exclusion has captured the attention and interests of policy makers in a way that long-standing poverty analyses have recently failed to do. Its emergence relates to two types of change in the nature

of states: demographic change and change in the labour market. As the trend toward freer trade allowed capital to move freely across borders, the globalized marketplace brought with it the movement of people. This movement took place in regulated patterns of tourism, travel and inter-country migration but also in massive and at times less regulated shifts in immigration and settlement patterns (Caragata, 2009), fundamentally transforming the populace of many of the developed nations. Faced with these enormous demographic changes, and fearful of more job losses as capital markets abandoned countries with high labour costs in their quest for maximized profits, many Western nations adjusted their social programs so that they were similar to those of competitor states. Thus, many features of the welfare state that had protected workers and supported social cohesion were lost just as significant economic and population realignments were occurring.

According to Silver's 1994 study, by the mid-1980s the French spoke of exclusion when referring not only to the increases in long term and cyclical unemployment, but also to the growing instability of the family, the rise in single parent households, the instability of social bonds, the decline of class solidarity, the unstable labour market and the lack of social networks.

The emergence of new social problems likewise affected other advanced democracies experiencing the profound economic restructuring of the 1970s and the 1980s, and the economic crisis of the 1980s (de Haan, 1999; Silver, 1994). Attention began to focus on a growing portion of the population that seemingly had little or no attachment to the economic and social life of society. As a concept, "exclusion" expanded to include the new social

unemployment (de Haan, 1999). In the late 1980s, changing labour market conditions and the inadequacy of existing welfare provisions to meet the changing needs of diverse population caused growing social divides beyond France's borders, and spread the discourse of social exclusion from France across Western Europe (Luxton, 2002). In 1993 the European Commission called for a resolution to what was perceived as the instability of society (Welshman, 2007). There was a heightened awareness of new social problems; crime, unemployment, violence against women, children and racialized groups, addicts and homelessness were all viewed as a threat to the stability of society (Williams, 1998). In the United Kingdom, the term "social exclusion" entered the public discourse with the election of the New Labour Party in 1997 (Barry, 1998; Beresford & Wilson, 1998). Within months of coming into power, New Labour launched its Social Exclusion Unit (SEU) to analyze why Britain had more children growing up in unemployed households and a higher teenage pregnancy rate than anywhere else in Europe (Batty, 2002).

The term "social exclusion" emerged onto a landscape where the discourse of inequality had long been framed in terms of "poverty". Academics, journalists, policy experts and governments have all used different keywords at different times as part of inequality rhetoric. While there has been much debate over the ways in which "poverty", "underclass" and "marginality" have been conceptualized, these terms and, more recently, "social exclusion" have been employed to illustrate social inequality that is both enduring and increasing (Palacios 2007). Social exclusion as a concept has particular value in extending

traditional poverty analyses to expose the full spectrum of deprivations associated with poverty, as well as their effect both on those individuals who experience them and on the society in which they occur. Governments started using the term social exclusion as a means of referring to disadvantage that covers a wider range of factors than just low income (NPI, 2007). Social exclusion provides a framework to look at societal relations of power and control, processes of marginalization, and the complex and multifaceted ways in which these operate (Williams, 1998). Whereas poverty is a static, one dimensional concept, social exclusion is a dynamic, multilevel and relational concept that makes reference to multidimensional disadvantage (Palacios, 2007). Welshman (2007) has argued that in the first decade of the European Union, the understanding of social exclusion there underwent an inversion. The concept initially focused on the results of social-structural changes affecting the relationships among groups; this Welshman (2007) called the "strong" structural view of social exclusion. This structural view changed over time until the focus became the people who were excluded rather than the conditions that cultivated exclusion. This "weak" individualized version of social exclusion fit nicely with prevailing neo-liberal ideology and thus became the perspective that gained hold.

Brown and Crompton (1994) state that the number of socially excluded individuals increased worldwide due to global pressures that have resulted in the changing patterns of production, distribution and consumption that have reinforced the divisions between the rich and poor nations and people. The process of globalization accompanied by rapid technological change and a revolution in communication has increased the demand for

flexibility (Brown & Crompton, 1994). These processes of social change have created new social risks, including the transition from industrial to a post-industrial mode of production, the aging of the population and growing family instability (Dewilde, 2003).

3.2.2 Perspectives on exclusion

While almost all analysts agree that social exclusion, however defined, exists as a phenomenon, there is considerably less agreement on approaches to explain it. Hilary Silver and Ruth Levitas are two of the most influential writers about social exclusion. Each has explored social exclusion within a particular community. The paradigms or theoretical frameworks that each author outlines attribute exclusion to different causes; each posits a framework that proposes different solutions to achieving the goal of inclusion.

Silver, in her 1994 study, separated out the analysis of social exclusion into three different paradigms: solidarity, specialization and monopoly. Each paradigm provided an explanation of economic, social, political and cultural social disadvantage; however application of the term "exclusion" varied according to national and ideological contexts. The "solidarity paradigm" derived from French Republican thought. Here, exclusion was not only an economic or political phenomenon, but also "a break in social fabric" (Silver, 1994: 534), the rupture of a social bond, both moral and cultural, between the individual and society (de Haan, 1999). The focus of social security in France was on collective responsibility for any citizens suffering from the state's failures, rather than on the fall-out from working class struggle or from a sudden rise in poverty. This view of exclusion

emphasized the "ways in which cultural or moral boundaries between groups socially construct dualistic categories for ordering the world . . . both threaten[ing] and reinforc[ing] cohesion" (Silver, 1994: p. 542). Equality in the French Republic meant that its citizens were promised subsistence or a right to work and, in return, assisted citizens had a duty to work and to participate in public life (Silver, 1994). In this paradigm, exclusion represented the failure of institutions to provide the mechanism for integrating individuals. Silver identified a "specialization paradigm" in the way Anglo-American liberalism conceived of social exclusion. In a liberal ideology, poverty is a separate issue from social exclusion (de Haan, 1999). Liberal models of citizenship emphasize the contractual exchanges of rights and obligations and the separation of spheres in social life. In this paradigm, Silver understood social exclusion to be a consequence of specialization, social differentiation, the separation of spheres and the economic division of labour (Silver, 1994). Because existing in society requires each citizen to participate in many different social exchanges, his or her exclusion from one or more social spheres may have multiple causes; an individual may be excluded in some spheres but not in others. In the liberal paradigm, markets are central to social improvements. Since markets work best when not constrained by governments, the solution to social exclusion is to allow for the creation of jobs by lowering wages and eliminating rigid employment regulations. Silver found a "monopoly paradigm" in the application of the social exclusion concept in European countries other than France. Silver recognized the existence of hierarchical power relations in the organization of social order. Drawing on Marx's and Weber's perception of social order as coercive, Silver noted that powerful groups

restricted access of outsiders through social closure (de Haan, 1999). Exclusion here is the result of an interplay of class, status and political power, and arises from the interests of the included (Silver, 1994). The rules that determine access to privileged groups are the same rules which determine who is excluded. In this paradigm, social closure is achieved when institutions and cultural distinctions not only create boundaries that keep others out against their will, but also perpetuate inequality. From this perspective, argued Silver, extending citizenship rights to excluded individuals and groups is the only route to foster inclusion.

Using a different framing in her 1998 study, Levitas outlined three different discourses of social exclusion put forth under New Labour in Britain. The "redistributive egalitarian discourse" of social exclusion (RED) embraced notions of citizenship and social rights, with a primary objective of social justice (Levitas, 1998). This discourse was embedded in the social democratic tradition, and cast social exclusion as the "antithesis of citizenship" (Levitas, 1998). The "moral underclass discourse" (MUD) Levitas identified is rooted in neoconservatism and employs rhetoric that equates social exclusion with the development of an 'underclass' and highlights the pathology of the poor and a culture of dependency. It is propelled by images of the underclass and the dependency culture, and focuses on individual behaviour and values. The policy implications are "not the extension of citizenship rights, but their greater conditionality, reduction, or removal" (p. 18). In the "social integrationist discourse" of social exclusion (SID), Levitas identified a thrust toward achieving social cohesion through paid work. SID represents particularly European influences; social exclusion is the "breakdown of the structural, cultural and moral ties, which bind the

individual to society" (Levitas, 1998, p. 21). Levitas summed up her 1998 analysis succinctly: "RED, SID and MUD differ in what the excluded are seen as lacking. In RED they have no money, in SID they have no work, in MUD they have no morals" (p. 7).

While there are similarities between Silver's three paradigms and Levitas' three discourses, Silver (1994) presented exclusion as a social relationship between the included and the excluded while Levitas (1996) suggested that, under New Labour at least, social exclusion no longer contrasted with inclusion, but rather with integration. Levitas' approach treated "social divisions which are endemic to capitalism as resulting from an abnormal breakdown in the social cohesion which should be maintained by the division of labour" (1996, p. 5).

Linking social exclusion solely to withdrawal from or failure to participate in the labour market has drawn critique. Barry (1998) has argued that equating social exclusion only to attachment to the labour market devalues unpaid work and obscures inequality amongst paid workers and between property owning classes and the rest of society. Amartya Sen, another significant intellectual contributor to the social exclusion discourse, asserted in his 2000 study that an impoverished life is more than just the lack of money: "Income may be the most prominent means for a good life without deprivation, but it is not the only influence on the lives we can lead" (p. 3). Arguing for a relational understanding of poverty and deprivation he suggested, "We must look at impoverished lives, and not just at depleted wallets" (p. 3). According to Sen, social inclusion is about the development of substantive freedoms, including freedom from hunger and poverty, freedom from insecurity, as well as

the freedom to choose a life that one has reason to value. For Sen, social exclusion is about the "poverty of living": "poverty as the lack of the capability to live a minimally decent life" (p. 4). Sen argued that poverty limits one's ability to take part in the life of the community, leading ultimately to limiting employment possibilities, an inability to obtain credit and access to sufficient material needs. Social exclusion, Sen argued, is always about relational deprivation.

3.2.3 Social exclusion in Canada

The term "social exclusion" has taken longer to gain currency in Canada than in other jurisdictions. Searching for social exclusion literature in a Canadian context turns up academic papers using the term to describe a specific marginalized group (the homeless, social assistance recipients, single parents), or in documents produced by agencies conducting social welfare research. As a way of theorizing marginalization, social exclusion and inclusion have been adopted by organizations such as Canadian Council on Social Development, Health Canada, the think-tank Canadian Policy Research Networks, and the Laidlaw Foundation.

The Laidlaw Foundation, a charitable foundation concerned with youth, commissioned a series of working papers dedicated to the topic of social inclusion and children. To provide a conceptual and theoretical starting point, the foundation identified what they referred to as the "Five Cornerstones of Social Inclusion," consisting of recognizing and respecting differences; nurturing the talents, capacities, skills and choices of individuals; providing

individuals both the right and the support to make decisions that affect their lives; ensuring access to shared public spaces; and making certain that every person has adequate resources to fully participate in society (The Laidlaw Foundation, 2002).

In 2003, the Canadian Council on Social Development (CCSD), a national, non-profit organization that advocates for a social inclusion approach for social policies and programs, held a conference on policy research being done on social inclusion, focusing specifically on understanding the gaps in a national inclusion research agenda.

In 2005 the Policy Research Initiative (PRI), an organization within the Government of Canada, commissioned papers for their "New Approaches for Addressing Poverty and Exclusion Series." Canada's policies for tackling poverty and exclusion have consisted of a mix of taxes, transfers and services aimed at the population as a whole, supported by special measures aimed at those who are unemployed, or who are unable or not expected to work (PRI, 2008). The PRI argued that this system for reducing poverty and exclusion is working "reasonably well". Social exclusion, in the PRI's usage, refers to a persistent lack of income and other resources that enable individuals to participate effectively in mainstream economy and society. The PRI asserted that there was a "growing understanding that exclusion is often the result of many individual, family and social factors reinforcing each other in negative ways." The PRI claimed to promote the "effectiveness of policies that help people make the transition from unemployment into work" and denounced the work disincentives that have existed in traditional transfers such as social assistance and subsidy programs (PRI, 2008).

This conceptualization of social exclusion by the Policy Research Initiative is remarkably similar to the "social integration discourse" Levitas identified in the UK in the 1990s.

3.2.4 Toward a functional definition of exclusion

For the purposes of employing social exclusion as a lens through which to examine the experiences of lone mothers living on and leaving social assistance, I have needed to sort through the competing and sometimes contradictory applications of the term. My aim has been to identify a working definition that can help me to interrogate the barriers that lone mothers face when attempting to exit social assistance.

Each conceptualization of social exclusion I encountered is grounded in a different notion of integration and citizenship. Certainly it is a contested concept (Alden & Thompson, 1998) that has been used to describe a wide range of social and personal issues including the mentally and physically handicapped, suicidal people, abused children, substance abusers, delinquents, single parents, multi-problem households, persons who are marginal and asocial, and other social "misfits". Silver (1994) argued that the list must also include "poverty, homelessness, and unemployment; racial prejudice, segregation, and even ethnic cleansing; individual feelings of interpersonal rejection; and experiences of superfluity, irrelevance, marginality, foreignness, alterity, closure, disaffiliation, dispossession, deprivation, and destitution" (p. 539). Gaille (2004) has pointed out that the definition of social exclusion is notoriously slippery, and even a partial review of the vast literature reveals that social

exclusion language is applied to almost any kind of social ailment, and is often used without definition or explanation.

Despite the conceptual diversity, there are common components to most definitions of social exclusion. Thus, "social exclusion" refers to multidimensional disadvantage which severs individuals and groups from the major social processes and opportunities in society (Barry, 1998; de Haan, 1997; Welshman, 2007). This disadvantage is experienced as labour market marginalization, poverty and social isolation (Barry, 1998:1; Gaille, 2004), which dimensions are mutually reinforcing (Gallie & Paugam, 2004). It is a "rupture of the social and symbolic bonds that should attach individuals to society" (Silver, 1994, p. 534) and involves "the process of becoming detached from the organization and communities of which society is composed and from the rights and obligations that they embody" (Room, 1995, p. 243).

Thus defined, the concept of social exclusion provides a context-specific framework for analysis and an important perspective from which to discuss the unequal participation of groups in their broader society. Even a brief review of the literature illustrates that lone mothers receiving welfare experience multiple disadvantages simultaneously. Employing a social exclusion lens to research into such a sector of society implies a focus on the factors that cause deprivation and an understanding that resource deprivation is a critical factor which creates vulnerability to marginalization (Gaille, 2004). It allows us to look at subjective experiences (de Haan, 1999). It recognizes the interaction between structure and agency (Martin, 2004). The concept captures sources of poverty and socioeconomic

disadvantage, and highlights the processes that underlie exclusion from society (Martin, 2004). Framing analysis in terms of social exclusion has the potential to avoid notions of moral inferiority that have been central to the underclass thesis; such an analysis accounts for the actions, decisions and behaviours of disadvantaged groups while acknowledging structural constraints (Martin, 2004). Thus, this lens has the theoretical potential to provide a comprehensive account of the sources of disadvantage and exclusion.

Exploring the topic of lone mothers receiving welfare is a multi-faceted research endeavour. One of the overarching research questions guiding this study probes the barriers that lone mothers may encounter when attempting to attend programs, look for jobs maintain paid employment. Social exclusion allows for an exploration of the many intersecting facets of marginalization and the ways in which they reinforce each other. In the terms developed by Saloojee (2003), my research applies a "strong" version of the social exclusion lens, positing that the disadvantages lone mothers experience are cumulative and interrelated, and that each point of exclusion can lead to great exclusion at another level. This lens will help to highlight the complexities of the lives of lone mothers and draw our attention to the difficulties associated with "one size fits all" policies.

3.3 Social Capital

This research is focused on the experiences of lone mothers negotiating their way through the Ontario welfare system and off of social assistance and into economic independence. This research began with the idea that the ability of these lone mothers to

thrive during their welfare experience depends on far more than the benefits and programs offered by the state. Certainly they often need more than caseworkers and third party supervisors to support them as they negotiate their demanding lives. It was my hypothesis, as I began this research, that lone mothers' ability to succeed in exiting welfare depends in large measure on their social capital.

This section begins by outlining the emergence of a theory of social capital, including the contributions of Bourdieu, Coleman and Putnam as well as contemporary critiques of their approaches. Insight into how the term has been employed in research by academics, policy analysts and governments, and discusses its implementation into policy is then presented. Next existing research into the effects of social capital on the poor, marginalized and lone mothers is explored. This section concludes with a detailed explanation of how the lens of social capital is employed in the research presented in this dissertation.

3.3.1 A new kind of capital

Like social exclusion, social capital is a multidisciplinary concept that draws upon sociology, political science, economics, health sciences, urban studies, social geography and history. The term owes its central concept, "capital" to the theories of Karl Marx. Marx conceptualized capital as having two aspects: it was the money invested by the bourgeoisie with the hope of greater returns and it was itself the surplus value acquired by commodities as they passed through the hands of the investors between the production and consumption

processes. Thus, capital is both an investment process and the product of a process (Lin, 1999).

In the 1960s the idea of capital expanded to include people and their capacities (Field, 2008). Schultz (1961) and Becker (1964) used the idea of "human capital" to help measure the value of workers skills. Human capital theory also regards capital as an investment with specific expected returns. For example obtaining an education should result in higher earnings. Although there was some use of the term "social capital" in the 1890s, there is broad consensus that its contemporary currency derives from work done by Pierre Bourdieu, James Coleman and Robert Putnam during the 1980s and 1990s (Field, 2008; Forrest & Kearns, 2001).

3.3.2 Bourdieu's conceptualization of social capital

Pierre Bourdieu, a French sociologist in the Marxist tradition, was interested in inequality and in understanding social hierarchies. Bourdieu believed that economic capital was at the root of all other types of capital and was intrigued by the ways in which it could be combined with other forms of capital to create and reproduce inequality (Bourdieu, 1986). He used the Marxist language of "capital", expanded to include cultural and social capital, to analyze social inequality, and concluded that these three forms of capital, economic, cultural, and social, together explain "the structure and dynamics of differentiated societies" (Bourdieu & Wacquant, 1992, p. 119).

Bourdieu developed the concept of cultural capital in the late 1950s while performing his national service in Algeria. For him, it described the means by which certain groups in Algeria traded on the fact that some types of cultural "taste" enjoy more status than others (Bourdieu, 1986; Field, 2008). Bourdieu theorized that the ability to decode art, enjoy classical music, and eat exotic foods is not in itself a sign of superiority, but rather "coinage in the cultural currency used by a particular social group in order to maintain superiority over other groups" (Field, 2008, pg. 16). Bourdieu theorized that while cultural capital was shaped by family circumstances and school tuition, it could to some extent operate independently of monetary possessions and could in some cases compensate for lack of money (Field, 2008). His writings on cultural capital led Bourdieu to begin conceptualizing social capital.

In his 1986 chapter in Richardson's <u>Handbook of Theory and Research for the</u>

<u>Sociology of Education</u> on the forms of capital, Bourdieu defined social capital as:

the aggregate of the actual or potential resources which are linked to possession of a durable network of more or less institutionalized relationships of mutual acquaintance and recognition—or in other words, to membership in a group—which provides each of its members with the backing of the collectivity-owned capital, a "credential" which entitles them to credit, in the various senses of the word (Bourdieu, 1986, p. 248).

Bourdieu refined his explanation in his 1992 work with Wacquant, stating that social capital:

is the sum of resources, actual or virtual, that accrue to an individual or group by virtue of possessing a durable network of more or less institutionalized relationships of mutual

acquaintances and recognitions (Bourdieu & Wacquant, 1992, p. 119).

Bourdieu's definition encompasses two elements: first, the social relationship itself that allows individuals to claim access to resources possessed by their associates, and second, the amount and quality of those resources (Portes, 1998). The structures that produce and reproduce access to social capital are networks of connections (Foley & Edwards, 1999). Bourdieu recognized that people must work at maintaining their social capital; social networks are not a natural given, but must be constructed and maintained through "investment strategies oriented to the institutionalization of group relations, usable as a reliable source of other benefits" (Portes, 1998, pg. 4). The value of individual ties depends on the number of connections they can mobilize and the volume of different capitals possessed by each connection (Bourdieu, 1986). Yet the processes that bring about social capital are characterized by less transparency and more uncertainty than the processes in acquiring other forms of capital; the transactions involved in generating social capital tend to be characterized by unspecified obligations, uncertain time horizons and the possible violation of reciprocity expectations (Portes, 1998, p. 4).

For Bourdieu, inequality was explained by the production and reproduction of capital. Consequently he argued that to see capital in only economic terms was inadequate, positing that both cultural capital and social capital should also be treated as assets (Bourdieu, 1996; Carpiano, 2006; Field, 2008). Social capital functions to reproduce inequality, but does so partly independently of economic and cultural capital, from which it is nevertheless inseparable (Bourdieu, 1986).

Bordieu recognized one negative side of social capital: those who have a wealth of it can use it not only to gain more but also to exclude competitors with less social capital (Carpiano, 2006). However, he has been criticized for providing a one-sided view of social capital inasmuch as he only accounts for the benefits accrued by privileged individuals and groups as a result of their social ties, not recognizing that marginalized groups may also find different benefits in their social ties. Bourdieu does not acknowledge that there may be some disadvantages to acquiring social capital, only presenting it as a beneficial type of capital. Finally, although he states a concern to acknowledge agency, Bourdieu has been criticized for discounting the role of agency; his theory appears rooted in a relatively static model of social hierarchy (Field, 2008, pg. 20).

3.3.3 Coleman's account of social capital

Although the roots of social capital lie in Bourdieu's critical sociological approach, academic and policy research owes more to James Coleman's conservative strand of theorizing (Bezanson & Carter, 2006). Peculiarly, Coleman does not mention Bourdieu, although his work closely paralleled that of the French sociologist (Portes, 1998). Similar to Bourdieu, James Coleman's interest in social capital emerged from an investigation of social inequality in particular society. In his study of academic achievement in American ghettos, Coleman found that all members of society, privileged and disadvantaged, receive value from having connections. While attempting to understand how social order is constructed Coleman sought to develop an interdisciplinary social science that would draw on both economics and sociology. Drawing on Becker's work on human capital, Coleman developed his rational

choice theory: all behaviour results from individuals pursuing their own interests. For Coleman all interaction is a form of exchange (Field, 2008). He argued that actors do not set out to create social capital; rather it is an unintended consequence of their pursuit of self-interest. Social capital arises not as the result of actors' calculated choice to invest in it, but as a by-product of activities engaged in for other purposes (Coleman, 1994, pg. 312).

Coleman (1988) argued that relationships constitute a capital resource as they establish obligations and expectations between actors. These mutual obligations build trust in the social environment; norms that support particular behaviours are established, as are sanctions against "would-be free riders" (pg. 320). His definition of social capital bridges individual and collective as he sees social capital as an asset possessed by the individual but built up of social structural resources (Field, 2008). Coleman believed that both the extent of obligations and level of trustworthiness of a social environment were shaped by variations in the social structure including:

...the actual needs that persons have for help, the existence of other sources of aid (such as government welfare agencies), the degree of affluence (which reduces the amount of aid needed from others), cultural differences in the tendency to lend aid and ask for aid, the degree of closure of social networks, the logistics of social contracts (Coleman, 1994, pg. 306).

For Coleman, social capital is particularly accrued through ties such as kinship. The converse is also true: social capital is weakened by processes that disrupt kinship, such as divorce, separation and migration (Field, 2008). Field (2008) contended that geographical mobility appears to change sources of social capital. Furthermore, he argued that family

breakdown can have both the effect of decreasing children's level of trust and can also provide wider access to social supports (Field, 2008).

In his 1988 study, Coleman took rational action as a starting point for his theory of social capital. He argued that "conceptualizing social capital as a resource for action is one way of introducing social structure into the rational action paradigm" (pg. S95). He began with the assumption that "each actor has control over certain resources and interests in certain resources and events thus social capital constitutes a particular kind of resource available to an actor" (pg. S98). Consequently he contended that "social capital inheres in the structure of relations between actors and among actors" (pg. S98).

Coleman's theorizing has not escaped criticism. Field (2008) argued that despite Coleman's assertion that social capital should be treated as a public rather than a private good, he had difficulty in refining his actual definition to fit with rational choice theory. It is argued that Coleman's definition of social capital remains abstract and functionalist (Field, 1998).

3.3.4 Putnam's approach to social capital

Robert Putnam, a political scientist, receives much of the credit for popularizing the term "social capital". Putnam is said to have stretched the concept, recognizing that social capital is a resource which functions at the societal level (Field, 2008). Putnam's early work was concerned with the role of engagement in generating political stability and economic prosperity in Italy. Later Putnam turned his attention to the United States, publishing a series of papers indicating a decline of social capital. Since the mid-1990s Putnam's central focus

has been on the steady retreat of Americans from civic life since the 1960s. First in his 1995 paper Bowling Alone and later in his book of the same title, Putnam (2000) noted that Americans born in the 1920s were more civically minded than their grandchildren born in the 1960s. He found a steady decline in political participation, volunteering, associational memberships, religious participation, charity, informal social networks and work-based socializing. Putnam (2000) linked this decline to a decline since the 1960s in Americans' perception of honesty and trustworthiness. He specifically rejected conservative finger-pointing, positing that this decline is not due to the growth of the welfare state, the transformation of family structure, or to women's increased entry into the labour market; instead Putnam (2000) argued that the disengagement from civic society has more to do with home electronics and a generational change.

Putnam's conceptualization of social capital consists of features such as interpersonal trust, norms of reciprocity, and social engagement that foster community and social participation and can be used to impact a number of beneficial outcomes (Carpiano, 2006, pg. 165). He believed that social capital is positive and its collapse therefore negative for society. According to Putnam, social capital within a community, generated through norms of reciprocity and trust, has implications for a multitude of outcomes for that community (Carpiano, 1996).

For Putnam (1993), social capital refers to "features of social organization such as trust, norms and networks that can improve the efficiency of society by facilitating coordinated actions" (pg. 167). In 1995 Putnam defined social capital as referring to

"features of social organization, such as networks, norms, and social trust, which facilitate coordination and cooperation for mutual benefit" (pg. 67). In 1996 he offered a more purpose-driven list: "features of social life—networks, norms and trust—that enable participants to act together more effectively to pursue shared objectives" (pg. 56).

Putnam used social capital as "an umbrella term that covers a range of social processes related to social connectedness and attachment (or the potential for exhibiting such processes) that can be classified as social cohesion" (Carpiano, 2006, pg. 167). Putnam drew a distinction between what he labels "bridging" social capital and "bonding" social capital. Bridging social capital is inclusive; it brings people together across diverse social divisions. It allows for linkages to be made to assets that would generally be external to an individual or group. Bonding social capital is exclusive; it reinforces the homogeneity of a group and maintains group loyalty (Field, 2008). In his earlier work Putnam argued that at times kinship is less important as a source of solidarity than acquaintances and shared membership of secondary associations which could bring together individuals from separate small groups (Putnam, 1993, p. 175). He also noted that there may at times be tension between bridging and bonding capital.

Several criticisms have been leveled at Putnam's conceptualization of social capital, the most insistent being that he proposed social capital as a cure-all for society's problems. Putnam's version of social capital has been said to promote a romanticized image of community and to ignore that networks can cultivate both trust and distrust (Misztal, 2000). Carpiano (2006) has argued that many neighbourhoods may be socially cohesive in the sense

that they know and trust one another and share similar values; however, they may not rely on one another for acquiring resources. Putnam is also criticized for leaving little room for human agency in his account (Field, 2008). Lowndes and Wilson (2001) have found Putnam's account "too society-centred, undervaluing state agency and associated political factors" (as cited in Field, 2008, p. 42). His conceptual framework has been criticized for incoherence due to his failure to specify under what conditions face-to-face interaction is thought to generate the civic traits he labels desirable (Foley & Edwards, 1999).

This brief review of the emergence of the concept of "social capital" shows its diverse lineage drawing upon three distinct, classical schools of thought. Bourdieu utilized a macro sociological approach drawing upon Marxist concerns with unequal access to resources and the maintenance of power. James Coleman's rational choice theory reflected Durkheim's interest in the ways that social ties serve as the thread from which wider society weaves itself together (Foley & Edwards, 1999). Putnam's belief that association and civic activity are the basis of social integration and well-being is grounded in the Weberian tradition "in which exogenously generated attitudes and norms such as trust and reciprocity are featured alongside social networks as ingredients enabling society to undertake collective action" (Foley & Edwards, 1999, p. 142). Putnam's conceptualization of social capital is also reminiscent of functionalist conceptions of social integration from the 1950s and early 1960s (Siisiainenen, 2000).

Although the roots of social capital differ among these three theorists, there are similarities in their conceptions of social capital. Coleman and Bourdieu viewed social

interactions as a form of exchange; that exchange constitutes a resource. Bourdieu, Coleman and Putnam all contend that social capital consists of personal connections and interpersonal interactions together with shared systems of values that are associated with these contacts (Field, 2008). Coleman and Bourdieu emphasized the intangible character of social capital relative to other forms of capital: while "economic capital is in people's bank accounts and human capital is inside their heads, social capital inheres in the structure of their relationships" (Portes, 1998, pg. 7).

Each has made important contributions to the development of a theory of social capital, but none of them can claim to have established an exhaustive, definitive definition of the concept. Putnam and Coleman have been criticized for understating the importance of power inequalities in society, while Bourdieu has drawn criticism for underestimating the importance of social capital to disadvantaged groups.

All three theorists have been accused of gender blindness. Although Putnam (2000) discussed gender differences in Bowling Alone, noting that women are more likely to have informal social connections than men, his comments appear to be his impressions rather than observations grounded in solid scientific evidence (Field, 2008). Coleman and Bourdieu ignore gender altogether. Responding to this line of criticism, Caiazza and Putnam (2005) reviewed Putnam's data on social capital from Bowling Alone with a focus on whether there was anything distinct about how women experience social capital; they found a strong relationship between social capital and women's status overall. The study illuminated that women's status is better in states with relatively high levels of social capital. In contrast, the

study found that women's employment and earnings and reproductive rights are not significantly related to levels of social capital (Caizza & Putnam, 2005). Social capital was also found to the most important variable significantly related to women's health and well being.

All three have also been criticized for downplaying the potential negative consequences of social capital. Field (2008) has pointed out that social capital is, in principle, as likely to promote cooperation for harmful as for positive ends. Portes (1998) contended that it is just as important to emphasize the less desirable consequences of social capital as it is to highlight the benefits. Reviewing an abundance of social capital literature, Portes (1998) identified four categories of negative consequences: exclusion of outsiders, excessive claims on group members, restrictions on individual freedoms and downward leveling norms (pg. 15). Group solidarity is often purchased at the price of hostility towards persons who are not group members: "The more the radius of trust is confined to the group's own members, the greater the probability of negative externalities" (Fukuyama, 2001, p. 8). Social capital can promote inequality due to the fact that access to different types of networks is unequally distributed; everyone can use their connections as a way of advancing their interests, but some people's connections are much more valuable than others (Field, 2008).

3.3.5 Building on Bourdieu, Coleman and Putnam

Since the 1990s, numerous scholars have employed a social capital lens in their work.

This section highlights some of these studies, illuminating the ways in which researchers

have attempted to tighten the definition of social capital. After reviewing social capital literature, Portes (1998) argued that three aspects of social capital are often lumped together: the processes that lead to social capital such as trust and collectivity, social capital itself, and the outcomes of social capital. Carpiano (2006) agreed that researchers need to tease out the separate aspects of social capital rather than using the concept as a "catch all". Portes (1998) maintained that a systematic treatment of social capital must distinguish among the possessors of social capital (those making claims), the sources of social capital (those agreeing to these demands), and the resources themselves (1998, p. 6).

Foley and Edwards (1999) have taken an approach closer to that of Bourdieu. They argued that neither resources in general (attitudes and norms such as trust and reciprocity), nor social infrastructures (such as networks and associations) can be understood as social capital by themselves:

The access required to convert social resources (the 'raw materials' of social capital) into social capital has two distinct, but necessary, components – the perception that a specific resource exists and some form of social relationship that brokers individual or group access to those particular social resources (pg.146).

This brokerage can be socially organized at the level of informal networks, voluntary associations, religious institutions, communities, cities, or national and transnational social movements. The value of social capital at any given level depends on the larger context, "including the insertion of the individual or group in question into networks of relations at higher levels" (Foley & Edwards, 1999, pg. 148).

Michael Woolcock (2001) built upon Putnam's notions of bridging and bonding capital. "Bonding social capital" refers to ties between similar people in comparable situations (such as immediate family, close friends and neighbours), and is distinct from bridging social capital, which encompasses more distant ties of similar people such as loose friendships and workmates. He has added a third type, "linking social capital", to refer to unlike people in dissimilar circumstances such as those who are entirely outside the community thus enabling members to leverage a far wider range of resources than are available within the community" (Woolcock, 2001, pg. 13-14). According to Woolcock (2001) linking social capital pertains to connections with people in power and includes vertical connections to formal institutions (Woolcock, 2001). Woolcock contended that different combinations of these three types of social capital produce different outcomes.

Building on Putnam's argument that engaged communities produce cohesive societies of active citizens, Forrest and Kearns (2001) have maintained that neighbourhoods matter because what happens in the neighbourhood influences our public and societal disposition. The focus on "community", present in much of today's social capital literature, is only one context for the production and maintenance of social capital (Forrest & Kearns, 2001). Bourdieu, for example, was not focused on community, but rather on associations that facilitate social advantage.

Carpiano (2006) argued that it is more useful to conceive of social capital as consisting of actual or potential resources that inhere within social networks or groups for personal benefit. This necessitates consideration of its integral link to the socioeconomic

conditions of the places in which people live. This approach draws attention to material conditions and the policies that influence them (Carpiano, 2006). Carpiano (2006) drew upon Bourdieu's theory, conceptualizing social capital as the interaction between the amount and type of resources of a group or network and the ability to draw on these resources. Carpiano drew a distinction between four forms of social capital: social support refers to a form of social capital that individuals can draw upon to cope with daily problems; social leverage is social capital that helps residents access information and advance socioeconomically; informal social control refers to the ability of residents to collectively maintain social order and keep the neighbourhood safe from criminal and delinquent activity; community organization participation focuses on residents' formally organized collective activity for addressing neighbourhood issues (Carpiano, 2006, pg. 170). Carpiano (2006) argued that his forms of social capital are quite consistent with Bourdieu's aim to understand how social capital operates in reproducing inequality.

In his 1999 study, Lin argued that social capital, as a relational asset, must be distinguished from collective assets and goods such as culture, norms and trust. He argued that social capital provides both instrumental outcomes (the gaining of added resources) and expressive outcomes (maintaining already possessed resources). Not all bridges lead to better information, influence, social credentials or reinforcement; Lin argued that while bridges can be helpful in accessing new or better information, their utility depends on whether the resources are valued by the individual but not yet attained. Social capital for Lin is more than

mere social relations and networks; it evokes the resources embedded and accessed (Lin, 1999).

3.3.6 Gendering "social capital"

Gender is a central and poorly understood dimension of social capital (Bezanson & Carter, 2006). The concept of social capital draws attention to the links between the microlevel of individual experiences and everyday activity and the meso-level of institutions, associations and community (Field, 2008, pg. 8). But economic theorizing, broadly speaking, fails to recognize the complexities of the lives of women. And economic theorizing on social capital fails to explicitly recognize the overrepresentation of women in precarious work and the lack of time for networking available to women who are primary caretakers and workers (Bezanson & Carter, 2006).

While there is a lack of attention paid to the gendered aspects of social capital,

Bezanson and Carter (2006) and Molyneux (2002) have recognized that the networks to

which women belong usually bring them little or no economic advantage. Bezanson and

Carter in the same study note that the two factors mentioned above, overrepresentation in

precarious work and lack of networking time, tend to result in women being unable to create
significant linking capital.

Molyneux (2002) has highlighted the ways in which governmental initiatives to access and enhance social capital have made inequitable demands on women. She noted that social capital came to the fore within development projects as a result of a call for "bottom up"

development. Molyneux pointed out that this shift to a discourse of social capital occurred during the transition to neo-liberalism, which was accompanied by cuts to social and health services and a transfer of responsibilities to private and volunteer agencies (Molyneux, 2002). As welfare states retrenched, volunteers and the third sector were encouraged to fill the void. Since women dominate in the voluntary sector, they found themselves called upon as "compulsory volunteers" to manage broader problems (Bezanson & Carter, 2006).

As Molyneux (2002) and Elson (1998) have pointed out, women often suffer most during periods of structural adjustment; they become "shock absorbers". Through these types of initiatives, Molyneux (2002) aptly pointed out that women's labour productivity is increased and their caring responsibilities are intensified. Bezanson and Carter (2006) provided the example that in the absence of a comprehensive early childhood education strategy, women often rely on networks of close relations to manage childcare. This type of social capital may be strong, but it is just as likely to be oppressive and non-reciprocal capital (Bezanson & Carter, 2006). There are limits to the demands that can be placed on social networks (Luxton, 2006).

Bezanson and Carter (2006) have asserted that if the concept of social capital does not include an analysis of gender and family forms, then its "application risks bolstering those who are already economically well positioned, and increasing communities' reliance on unpaid labour that is gendered" (pg. 8).

3.3.7 Studies incorporating a social capital lens to lone parenthood and poverty

While few social capital studies have focused specifically on lone parents receiving social assistance, both lone parents and poverty have been studied through the lens of social capital. It has been found that lone parenting has a marked, negative effect on the social capital of the parent, the children and the family as a unit (Coleman, 1988; McLanahan & Sandefur, 1994). Coleman (1988) argued that "the physical absence of adults may be described as a structural deficiency in family social capital" (pg. S111). While Coleman contended that both dual earner families and single parent families lack in social capital as they do not have available time to give their children and their networks enough attention (Morrow, 2008), others have pointed out that two-parent families have greater social capital (Hao 1996).

The children of single parents tend to have lower social capital. In their 1994 study of the consequences of single parenthood for school achievement and teenage pregnancy McLanahan and Sandefur found that social capital was lower for children in single parent families. They attributed this to the lack of a second at-home parent and to frequent changes in residence. Moving often led to fewer and weaker ties to the community which in turn plays an important role in bringing about poorer educational and personality outcomes among the children of single parents. On the point of the deleterious effects of multiple moves, Hagan et al. (1996) found adverse effects on children's emotional adjustment and

educational achievement which, they found, has a tendency to destroy established bonds, depriving children of a major source of social capital.

The effect of fewer adults in the home is also felt at a community level. Working mothers and lone parenthood have been labeled two of the main causes of declining social capital and loss of community cohesion (Coleman, 1988: Etzioni, 1993).

3.3.8 The concept applied

Many international agencies have used a social capital perspective in their analysis and program design. A partial list includes the World Bank, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and the United Nations. More recently, the use of a social capital approach has extended to the Canadian government (Bezanson & Carter, 2006). The Policy Research Initiative, one of the federal government's research groups, dedicated one of its publications to integrating social capital into its tool used for public policy formation (Bezanson & Carter, 2006). Other agencies of the federal government, such as Canadian Customs Revenue Agency, Health Canada, and Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada have all used social capital as part of their research approaches to public policy. Statistics Canada's 2004 General Social Survey (Cycle 17) on social engagement also dealt specifically with social capital (Bezanson & Carter, 2006).

3.3.9 Social capital in this research

The concept of "social capital" is applied in so many different contexts that many authors have found that it has lost its distinct meaning (Fine, 2007; Morrow, 2008; Portes,

1998). Fine (2007) has complained that almost any form of social interaction has the potential to be understood as social capital; he argued that this has resulted in the lens being used in a much more general approach rather than individually attached to notions such as networks, trust, linkages and so on. Criticizing governmental over-use of the term, Fine (2007) argued that:

The policy perspective induced by uses of the concept of social capital, although never put in these terms, is self-help raised to the level of the collective. However good or bad things might be, they could be better if people interacted more, trusted one another and cooperated...(pg. 568).

Nevertheless, it is my contention that social capital remains a useful lens through which to examine the experiences of lone mothers on social assistance. If the core concept of social capital is that "relationships matter" (Field, 2008) then I argue that for few if any members of society do relationships matter more than for lone mothers. These women in particular need networks of people to provide care for their children and support for themselves before they can enter into the paid labour force.

The issue of childcare is emblematic of the need for social capital that lone mothers experience and that I wished to explore in my research. By law, their children are unable to stay home alone. If childcare is not funded by the government, few lone mothers have the means to pay for it and must look instead for free childcare. I entered my research project with personal knowledge that free childcare is not easy to come by and that a social network must be in place to provide it, most often requiring some type of reciprocity. As the lone mothers in my study navigate workfare and government-sponsored work-readiness programs,

it is my theory that their ability to grow and to access their social capital is critical to their success.

In my research, I have adopted Woolcock's three-part articulation of social capital: I seek to identify the sources of bridging, bonding and linking social capital available to the lone mothers. It is my contention that a combination of these three sources of social capital will be necessary for the lone mothers to be successful in exiting social assistance for paid work. In this study "bonding" social capital is characterized by strong ties with closely related people, and is associated with survival. Bonding social capital is most closely associated with family. "Bridging" social capital is based upon loose, or secondary, connections with people. This kind of capital is associated with mobility and in economic terms of getting ahead (Bezanson & Carter, 2006). This form of capital provides the lone mothers' links to assets that they would not generally be able to access. Included in this type of capital are people such as classmates and coworkers who consist of loose friendships and acquaintances. "Linking" social capital refers to ties to unlike people in dissimilar situations. This kind of capital ties the poor and other marginalized groups with "the capacity to leverage resources, ideas and information from formal institutions beyond the community" (Woolcock 2001: 13). This type of capital has the potential to link lone mothers to others outside their communities who may provide access to a wider range of resources than available within their social circles and communities. Linking social capital includes helpful caseworkers, teachers, bosses and other contacts who connect the lone mothers to services or contacts outside of their communities.

One of the guiding questions underlying this research is: What, if any, supports (both formal and informal) did the lone mothers rely on when entering into paid work? A social capital lens will help illuminate the role that these different types of networks play in lone mothers' ability to gain employment and exit social assistance. It is my contention that lone mothers will require pre-existing bonding social capital as well as linking social capital to maintain employment.

3.4 Combining the lenses

The following section will address how combining the three lenses outlined in this chapter; gender, social exclusion and social capital, provide a fuller understanding of the experiences of lone mothers attempting to exit social assistance.

This aim of this study is to gain insight into the transitions or the lack of transitions, from social assistance to paid work in the lives of lone mothers in Ontario. This study investigates lone mothers' experiences with the policies and programs enacted by Ontario Works to move their clients from welfare receipt to paid employment. Many challenges are presented in studying this topic as the barriers to employment for lone mothers are many and vary dependent upon personal circumstances and Ontario Works is allocated by caseworkers responsible for interpreting policy guidelines. To learn about what helps and what hinders we need to hear from lone mothers, we need to see what they experience in the context of their everyday lives.

Collins argues that sociology's greatest strength is its "potential for penetrating the superficial observation of everyday life and finding the fundamental social processes hidden beneath" (as cited in Grabb, 2002:pg. 1). This project endeavours to penetrate the superficial assumptions that are often made regarding lone mothers' reliance on social assistance rather than paid work. I seek to uncover the processes that act as barriers as well as those that ameliorate hardships in lone mothers' day-to-day lives. The issues at hand are complex and thus attempting to identify both problems and solutions requires a multifaceted theoretical approach.

Earlier in this chapter, I elaborated how the concepts of gender, social exclusion and social capital have each been used by analysts as lenses to examine and understand marginalization and to assist in the development of agendas and policies to integrate marginalized groups into the broader society. I have also outlined above the advantages of each lens to my study of one particular group: lone mothers. These advantages bear a brief review here.

First, a gender lens draws our attention to the gendered division of labour that occurs across sectors. This is an important perspective to track in my research because lone mothers, as women, encounter numerous difficulties in all realms of society. Women face gender inequalities in the work force, at home and by the state. Added to the challenges of a gendered job market, lone mothers face the difficulty of entering the labour force without a second parent in the home to offset some of the caregiving responsibilities. In addition, all of

the lone mothers in this study are subject to the same policy which does not acknowledge gender differences.

Second, the social exclusion lens allows us to shed light on the multiple and overlapping spheres of life in which many individuals and groups of people cannot fully participate. This lens also allows us to begin to reformulate quality of life questions by incorporating Sen's focus on capabilities. This allows for an exploration of the ways that lone mothers are excluded from the capabilities to live a minimally decent life. This lens allows for an interrogation of lone mothers ability to take part in the life of the community and the links between this inclusion or exclusion to employment possibilities, obtaining credit and access to sufficient material needs.

Third, accessing social capital has been presented as one way in which people can extend their social inclusion and thereby greatly improve their life chances. By using this lens to focus attention on the networks that the lone mothers possess, either by choice (such as family, friends, or coworkers), or by obligation (such as social services agencies or 'volunteer' placements), we can observe how they function as they subsist on social assistance and as they go through the mandated steps of trying to enter the paid labour market and exit social assistance.

Using the three lenses together to consider the experience of lone mothers offers particular advantages. Just as an examination of social networking patterns calls for a discussion of the groups women can access, so too is a discussion of social exclusion of a

female group enriched by cross-referencing a gender lens. Likewise, the adequacy of lone mothers' social capital cannot adequately be weighed against the challenges she faces living on social assistance without understanding how that capital influences her social inclusion.

Such a multi-dimensional approach can help illuminate the extent of marginalization as the lone mothers experience it, thus offering useful insight into their trajectories on social assistance. It can help to shed light on the factors that promote or reduce the success of lone mothers in balancing their domestic duties with their responsibilities to participate in workfare programs. It can capture the full picture of the exchange of social capital that underpins lone mother's ability to comply with the requirements of the welfare regime. For example it can highlight the gaps between the social capital offered by the state in the form of networking and support versus the pre-existing social capital that lone mothers need in hand in order to actually comply with the rules and regulations of the programs.

Chapter 4

Methods

4.1 Framing my research questions

This dissertation examines two broad topics. The first is the extent to which Ontario Works' policies and programs facilitate the transition from social assistance recipient to full-time employee for lone mothers. The second is an exploration of the trajectories of the lone mothers' lives as they negotiate the Ontario Works system over several years.

This study is part of a broader Community-University Research Alliance project, Lone Mothers: Building Social Inclusion, funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada. The primary focus of the project was on understanding how poor and low-skilled lone mothers experienced significant policy changes, including the introduction of work for welfare programs, a diminished social welfare state and an increasingly less regulated labour market especially for low skilled "non-standard" workers (Caragata, 2006). I participated in this project through agreement with its principal investigator, Dr. Lea Caragata.

The particular questions guiding my research focus on Ontario's workfare program and are concerned with the processes surrounding women leaving social assistance for paid work. I ask:

•How did the lives of lone mothers receiving social assistance change over a five year period? Which lone mothers left social assistance and which stayed?

- How were these transitions made possible? What barriers were faced by the lone mothers who were unable to exit social assistance?
- What, if any, was the role of Ontario Works' policies, programs and staff in this transition?
- •What, formal and informal supports did the lone mothers use when entering into paid work?

Below I summarize the larger project and its methods and explain how I adapted some of the study's data to answer my own research goals, and how I supplemented the Lone Mother project with additional research.

4.2 Lone Mothers: Building Social Inclusion – initiation of the project

The Lone Mothers: Building Social Inclusion project was a national longitudinal study of the implications of welfare policy change on lone mothers. It began with a series of pilots in 2003 and 2004 exploring the issues that were central to lone mothers who were receiving social assistance and was continued with funding from SSHRC-from 2006 to 2011. The project brought together academic researchers from five universities across Canada. These researchers partnered with numerous non-profit community organizations (See Appendix A) that shared an interest in the well-being of lone mothers and their children, including both advocacy and service delivery groups.

In 2006 a longitudinal panel of approximately 105 lone mothers in Toronto, St John's and Vancouver, Canada was established. All of the women were receiving social assistance at the time they were recruited to participate in the study, and all had at least one child under

the age of 18 years old living with them. The original plan was to interview the lone mothers five times at six to eight month intervals over a five year period. The longitudinal design of the research was imperative as one of the goals of the project was to examine change over time. Yearly interviewing was planned to allow researchers to capture life events that impacted the trajectories of the participants' lives and provide the opportunity to gauge whether any changes were sustainable. It was determined that five years would allow the researchers to build trust with the participants and cover the number of topic areas revealed as important during the pilot project. The hope was this would allow the researchers to obtain some level of saturation.

Due to the sheer size of the project interviewing and transcribing took longer than originally anticipated. Interviews were moved to 12-15 month intervals. Additionally, after the fourth round of interviewing had been transcribed it was determined that, given the quality of data that had emerged, a fifth interview would not be required.

A major component of the project was that it was ground in feminist participatory action research. Participatory action research (PAR) starts from the premise that research should not originate exclusively from the perspective of the researcher, but rather in collaboration with the people it seeks to study. There are several different definitions of PAR available. Nelson et al., (1998) have contended that participatory action research is "a research approach that consists of the maximum participation of stakeholders, those whose lives are affected by the problem under study, in the systematic collection and analysis of information for the purpose of taking action and making change" (pg.885). Hoare & Levy,

have suggested that participatory action research can be defined as "an integrated approach involving the participation of community members to investigate social reality, build local skills and capacity for the purpose of increasing community autonomy through a process of praxis" (1993, pg. 51). Berg (2007) has defined PAR as "a form of collective, self-reflective enquiry undertaken by participants in social relationships with one another in order to improve some condition or situation with which they are involved" (pg. 223). The Lone Mothers: Building Social Inclusion project incorporates components of the above definitions in that it focuses on, and includes, lone mothers in all stages of the research and is aimed at promoting change to make their lives better.

Lone mothers receiving social assistance were involved with the all of the steps of the research process. These women were asked to bring their own experiences with poverty, social assistance and parenting to the project and were involved in every subsequent step of the research process. The lone mother research assistants helped in the development of interview guides, conducted interviews, participated in data analysis activities and in a wide range of knowledge dissemination initiatives. They also served as an ongoing reference group to help measure if the project was meeting its goals effectively.

4.2.1 Gathering project data through interviews

Because the purpose of the Lone Mothers: Building Social Inclusion project was to gather qualitative data concerning the experiences of lone mothers on social assistance, the research team decided to proceed by way of interviews. The research aims of interviewing

are to develop detailed description, integrate multiple perspectives, describe processes, develop holistic description, learn how others interpret events, and to bridge intersubjectivities (Weiss, 1994). The purpose of interviewing is most often to derive interpretations, not facts or laws, from the respondents.

Interviewing allows interview subjects to say things in their own voices and therefore it is one of the most common methods chosen by feminist researchers to gather data. Oakley (1981) has asserted that feminist interviewing is characterized by openness, engagement, intimacy and self-disclosure. Women's social worlds are often lived in a 'taken-for-granted' mode; interviews allow for an opportunity to draw a larger picture of the social relations that structure and organize these women's experience (Smith, 1987). Reinharz (1992) has posited that allowing women's voices to be heard serves three functions: it draws women out of obscurity, repairs the historical record, and it provides stories of people with whom readers can identify. Thus, this feminist based research methodology allows for a "new view of the whole societal constellation in which things appear as historical, contradictory, linked to each other, and capable of being changed" (Mies, 1991, pg. 63).

The majority of the interviews were conducted by the lone mother research assistants and by other female academics, doctoral students and project staff. Interviewers were carefully matched with lone mother participants according to a number of factors including demographics such as age, number of children and country of birth, and geographical location that might facilitate data collection and ease of access. Most often the same interviewer conducted the entire sequence of interviews in an effort to build trust and rapport.

The interviews were recorded and ranged from 45 minutes to 2.5 hours in length. In total 400 qualitative interviews were conducted across the three research sites, St. John's, Toronto and Vancouver. The researchers contacted the participants by phone in between interviews to keep in touch and to stay aware of participants' life changes, including moves. Research participants were also invited to contact their interviewer, the research director or the principal investigator if they had information they wished to share in between interviews. This contact between interviews kept rates of attrition very low. In Toronto, the research site I use for my research two women dropped out after round one and one woman was added to the project for round two. This was the only time a new participant was added in Toronto.

The recorded interviews were transcribed verbatim. Doctoral student researchers stripped the transcribed interviews of their identifying information (i.e., names of children, schools, work places). The stripped interviews were uploaded into NVivo; students involved with the project coded the interviews using a descriptive code book developed by the national research team and refined throughout the interview process.

4.2.2 Interview questions

The questions put to the lone mothers in the longitudinal study were developed by the research team (Appendices A to G) in conjunction with the lone mother interviewers. As is appropriate to qualitative research, the process of defining the focus of the interviews was at least partially an iterative one. In the initial proposal to SSHRC areas of social exclusion that correlated with empirical work on lone mothers experiences were identified. Employment,

income, health, housing, and social networks were determined as areas of importance, thus a commitment was made to begin with these areas and engage in an iterative process that would enable the researchers to understand a wide dimension of lone mothers experiences across most life realms. While some questions were identified from the outset, each subsequent round of questioning was finalized only after the previous round had been preliminarily coded. Thus, subsequent rounds of interviews very specifically built on previously acquired data and followed up on issues and information provided in previous rounds.

The first interviews were broad in scope. Questions concerned the lone mothers' children, housing and neighbourhood, education, welfare and work experiences and health and well-being. Subsequent interviews began by catching up on any changes that occurred between interviews, and then moved on to specific topics.

Round Two interviews, which occurred 10-14 months later, focused on the participants' experiences in the paid labour market and with their particular welfare regulations. Questions focused on working conditions, income, benefit levels and interactions with welfare workers both retrospectively as well as current experiences

The third round of interviews, 28-32 months after the first round, primarily focused on social networks. Questions concerned familial relationships, friendship networks, ties to the community, neighbour relations and interactions with social institutions (welfare, children's

aid, legal aid and courts, children's schools, etc.). The third round also investigated issues pertaining to social isolation and stigmatization.

The final round of interviewing, some 42-46 months after the first interview, in addition to the usual "catching up", asked each participant to reflect on her life over the previous four years. Questions concerned her goals and achievements; each participant was asked to identify anything that had acted either as a barrier or as a facilitating factor to her accomplishments. The fourth round of interviewing also touched upon the economic recession that Canada was then experiencing, inquiring about its effects on the lone mother's well-being, amount of debt and job prospects.

4.2.3 Interview participants

Study participants were recruited by a carefully designed process. One of the central concerns was to capture a sample that represented cultural and social diversity, and that included socially isolated lone mothers without access to information posted throughout communities⁸. The aim was to recruit 30-40 lone mothers that represented geographic and racial and ethnic diversity. The researchers did not want to recruit solely through social assistance offices because of concerns that lone mothers might feel pressured to participate or

⁸ The information about the design of the original SSHRC-CURA was gathered through personal communication with the Principal Investigator Lea Caragata.

that the lone mothers invited to participate might reflect welfare workers' own notions of who would be suitable. As a result, recruitment from social assistance offices was limited to twenty percent of the sample, and the rest were recruited from grassroots organizations. Caseworkers in social assistance offices were contacted and asked to identify people in their caseloads who they thought would be appropriate for the project with a particular interest in the inclusion of lone mothers who caseworkers might identify as being more socially isolated. This was done in order to more realistically balance the panel as recruitment from community organizations would necessarily imply a level of community engagement among the lone mothers so recruited. Caseworkers and staff in community organizations made initial contact and asked the lone mothers for permission to allow the research team to contact them. Once permission was granted, the research team contacted the lone mothers to ensure that they were open to participating in the project and that they did not feel pressure from their workers. Lone mothers wishing to participate were then asked to contact research offices where demographic information was collected. In Toronto 42 women who met the criteria came forward to participate in the study. The research team decided that they did not want to turn anyone down who had come forward thus other lone mothers who did not meet the requirements were incorporated into the project in other ways.

Of the 42 women who volunteered eight were recruited and trained to work as research assistants on the project. These lone mother interviewers attended intensive training session on peer interviewing and were paid \$16.00 per hour for their training, time spent interviewing, debriefing and analyzing data.

Lea Caragata, principal investigator on the SSHRC-CURA, granted me access to the interview data as they were collected. I was aware that while some of the focus of the project was different from my own, the question guides formulated by the project team would allow for an exploration of many of the questions I was posing in my own work.

For this research I analyzed a subset of the data from participants in the Lone Mothers: Building Social Inclusion project. The research presented here focuses solely on the Toronto participants, as it was the study site closest to where I was living at the time. Ontario also had one of the most dramatic cuts to social assistance of all of the provinces in Canada. Forty-two lone mothers receiving social assistance were interviewed in Toronto. The research findings presented here focused on the 30 Toronto participants who remained with the research process for at least three of the four interviews, to provide a better chance of capturing the process of leaving social assistance.

As in the broader study, my subset group satisfied the requirement of diversity. Table 1 describes the participants' ages at the time of the first interview, family composition, education, ethnic and immigration backgrounds, and number of children residing in the home of these women. The women are listed by pseudonyms they personally chose.

Like the CURA team, I coded the interview data as they came in each year. This practice offered an important insight, one that caused me to refine my research questions and to add to the ambit of my research. Analyzing the data obtained in the second round of annual interviews, I identified a clear theme: the Toronto participants in the SSHRC-CURA

project perceived the Ontario Works programs and policies to be ineffective at offering them viable supports. Moreover, responses to questions surrounding the type of support and resources accessed through social assistance showed major discrepancies. The lone mothers appeared not to have equal access to programs designed with the intent to help them enter into paid work.

Because of the lack of clarity provided through the lone mother interviews I decided to investigate further. First I wanted to go past the written programs and policies of Ontario Works, to understand how policy is actually put into practice by the staff charged with allocating the benefits and supplying information to the client. Second, I wanted to account for the vast differences in information that was being provided to lone mother participants. And finally I wanted an explanation for the difference in benefits provided by Ontario Works by similarly situated lone mothers given a benefits regime that is supposedly neutral and consistent in its policies and benefits provisions.

 ${\bf Table~4.1 Characteristics~of~lone~mother~participants}$

| Participant | Age I | Aboriginal | Education | Birth Place | Yr Immigrated | #children | # in home |
|-------------|-------|------------|-------------|-------------|---------------|-----------|-----------|
| Alice | 46 | No | University | Vietnam | 1990 | 2 | 2 |
| Ann | 35 | No | high school | Jamaica | 1991 | 2 | 2 |
| Andrea | 21 | No | high school | El Salvador | 1995 | 1 | 1 |
| Brenda | 45 | No | high school | Canada | - | 4 | 2 |
| Carol | 23 | No | College | Canada | - | 1 | 1 |
| Chrissy | 30 | Yes | some HS | Canada | - | 2 | 2 |
| Dayla | 42 | No | University | Bulgaria | 2002 | 2 | 2 |
| Dion | 42 | No | high school | St. Lucia | 1999 | 4 | 4 |
| Fiona | 32 | No | some uni | Canada | - | 1 | 1 |
| Gail | 32 | No | College | Canada | - | 3 | 3 |
| Hana | 39 | No | high school | Ethiopia | 1993 | 2 | 2 |
| Helen | 43 | No | College | China | 1995 | 1 | 1 |
| Jane | 42 | No | high school | Kenya | 1989 | 2 | 2 |
| Jennifer | 40 | No | some HS | Canada | - | 3 | 2 |
| Jessica | 20 | No | some HS | Canada | - | 1 | 1 |
| Jordan | 37 | Yes | high school | Canada | - | 3 | 1 |
| Kayla | 29 | No | high school | St. Vincent | 1999 | 2 | 2 |
| Latoya | 20 | No | some HS | Canada | - | 1 | 1 |
| Lena | 51 | No | some uni | Canada | 1991 | 3 | 3 |
| Madison | 33 | No | some uni | Canada | - | 1 | 1 |
| Maggie | 58 | No | some HS | Canada | - | 1 | 1 |
| Marcia | 34 | No | some HS | Jamaica | 1988 | 6 | 6 |
| Michelle | 23 | No | some HS | Mexico | 2004 | 2 | 2 |

| Table 4.1 C | Characteris | stics of lone 1 | nother participa | nts continued | | | | |
|--------------------|-------------|-----------------|------------------|---------------|------|---|---|--|
| Natalie | 18 | No | some HS | Canada | - | 1 | 1 | |
| Patricia | 28 | Yes | some HS | Canada | - | 4 | 2 | |
| Pauline | 49 | Yes | some HS | Canada | - | 2 | 1 | |
| Sam | 25 | No | College | Canada | - | 1 | 1 | |
| Sophie | 34 | No | some HS | Canada | - | 4 | 3 | |
| Susan | 45 | No | some HS | England | 1980 | 2 | 2 | |
| Ventura | 40 | No | some HS | Jamaica | 1988 | 5 | 3 | |

To meet these additional goals, I needed a research method that complimented the data from Lone Mothers: Building Social Inclusion and that would allow me to interrogate these apparent differences in the allocation of benefits. I determined that my best source of information were the caseworkers who stand as gatekeepers between the lone mother participants and the benefits and programs of Ontario Works. I decided to gather their data through focus groups.

4.3 Focus Groups (see Appendices H and I)

There are several advantages of using focus groups. Focus groups provide data from a group of people much more quickly and at less cost than would be case if interviewed separately (Stewart & Shamdasani, 2007). When the purpose of a research project is to study the way particular groups of individuals think and talk about a phenomenon, or for generating ideas and for generating diagnostic information, the spontaneous interaction of focus group members often produce insights that are not obtained readily in other types of research (Stewart & Shamdasani, 2007). The ability to interact directly with multiple respondents allows for follow up questions to be asked which confirms similiar responses or shed light on differences that may appear between participants. Using a focus group allows the researcher to ask participants themselves for comparisons among their experiences and views, rather than aggregating individual data in order to speculate about whether or why the interviewees differ (Morgan, 1996). Additionally, allowing respondents to react to and build upon responses of other group members adds depth to a study (Stewart & Shamdasani, 2007). One of the greatest strengths of focus groups is that they may be adapted to provide the most desirable level of focus and structure.

I conducted two focus groups: one of Employment Resource Centre caseworkers and another of Social Assistance caseworkers. Both groups worked for Toronto Employment and Social Services (TESS). The participants were also selected to represent different welfare offices within TESS. Focus group participants were recruited through an email sent by senior policy staff of Toronto Employment and Social Services to their caseworkers informing them of the research and inviting their participation in an independent focus group to explore how workers perceive the lives of lone mothers and their positions as caseworkers. Those wishing to participate were asked to contact a member of the research team who is affiliated with TESS who then assisted in arranging the focus group time and place. The caseworkers were all informed that this research was independent of TESS and that it was separate from, but building on the Lone Mother: Building Social Inclusion SSHRC-CURA. Prior to the start of each focus group the participants were given both consent forms and face sheets to fill out. The face sheets included demographic information and asked them to indicate their length of time employed by TESS. Seven Social Assistance caseworkers and six Employment Resource Centre caseworkers attended their respective focus groups. Both focus groups took place at a NGO in downtown Toronto. I personally tape recorded, transcribed and coded both focus groups.

In the social service caseworker focus group five participants had been employed as caseworkers between 5 and 8 years and two for between 15 and 20 years and all were women. The focus group was three and a half hours in length and took place after two rounds of interviews had taken place with lone mothers receiving social assistance. The

focus group was centered on the issues facing lone mothers based upon the caseworkers' understanding of the population and the changes to welfare and the workplace. In addition, I explored the different avenues of support that caseworkers were able to provide their clients as well as the punitive measures they were able to employ for noncompliance to their requests. My queries were guided by the data I had reviewed from rounds one and two of interviews with the lone mother participants.

The Employment Resource Centre caseworker focus group was also held after two rounds of interviewing had taken place. Five of the participants were female and one was male. The male participant requested a pseudonym that would be recognized as female in an effort to remain anonymous. Three of the participants had been employed by TESS between 7 and 10 years, one had been employed for 10 years and two had been working for TESS in varying capacities for over 25 years. The focus group was just over three hours in length and focused on both the Employment Resource Centre caseworkers' understanding of the lone mother population of social assistance recipients and the services they were able to offer the clientele who came to the resource center for help finding employment. Questions also focused on the types of employment that they see their clients obtaining as well as the types of barriers that are the most prohibitive to this particular population of clientele.

The focus groups yielded an abundance of information and allowed for a much broader understanding of the policies and programs related to Ontario Works. The TESS caseworker focus group helped to contextualize much of the information provided by the lone mothers. TESS caseworkers are the front line workers responsible for implementing

Ontario Works. I gained a much clearer understanding of OW policies and of how the rules and regulations of each program were applied. Through the focus groups I also learned of severe discrepancies in how OW policy is interpreted between social assistance offices within one municipality.

Prior to reading through the first two rounds of lone mother interviews I had never heard of the Employment Resource Centre nor could I obtain any detailed information on the Center's role in Ontario Works. Employment Resource Centre caseworker (ERCW) were all social assistance case workers with TESS for many year prior to being transferred to the ERC. Their role in the centers is to help community members in locating work. While anyone in the community can access the ERC the majority of their clients are social assistance receipts. This is at least partially due to the fact that in the majority of cases the ERC is located next to the social assistance office.

4.4 Data Analysis

The focus groups were tape recorded and transcribed verbatim. Initially each focus group was uploaded into the same NVivo program as all of the interviews for the Lone Mother's: Building Social Inclusion project. After reading through the first round of lone mother interviews in NVivo I decided to work with the data in Microsoft Word instead. A Word document was created for each participant as well as each focus group.

The first time I read a transcribed interview or focus group I undertook a process of pre-coding and preliminary jottings (see Saldana, 2013). I highlighted phrases or words that

stood out to me as significant. When a participant was expressing something that appeared to be significant and could not be captured by simply highlighting a few words I used the INSERT COMMENT function of MS Word to write notes. These notes proved to be invaluable as they often prompted my memory prior to pre-coding subsequent rounds of interviews. For example if in round one of a participant's interviews I wrote a note regarding an upcoming court case with the father of a child I stayed alert for any discussion of the outcome and the effects of the outcome in the subsequent rounds.

Once all four rounds of interviewing and the focus groups were transcribed, moved to the appropriate Word document, and pre-coded, I began what Saldana (2013) describes as the first cycle of coding and descriptively coded the data. Descriptive coding is particularly useful for studies which incorporate multiple data forms and longitudinal data (Saldana, 2013). I summarized in a word or short phrase the topic of each passage in the data. Words such as "employment", "caseworker interaction", "education", "skills and training", "volunteer work" and "parenting duties" were noted in the margins. Once all of the data were descriptively coded I constructed new Word documents to match the words and short phrases in the first cycle of coding. For example, I started a new Word document labeled "education" and another labeled "caseworker interaction". I then extracted all of the passages out of the original interviews and focus group labeled as education and placed them in the new "education" Word document and all those labeled "caseworker interaction" under its new Word document. I continued this process for every descriptive code that I had employed in the first cycle of coding. In total 26 new Word documents were constructed

based upon these descriptive codes; becoming employed, paid work, social capital, desire to work, maneuvering through systems, discrimination/stigma, self-esteem, fear, social exclusion, participation agreement, any job's a good job, leaving assistance, blending assistance, caretaking, staying on assistance, successful outcomes, recommendations for a better system, housing, precarious employment, cultural difference, barriers, programs, staying home, work history, criminal past and other. "Other" was used to capture statements that lone mothers made that were unique in that there was only one comment made with a particular code attached to it. Each time there was only one comment accompanying any code it was moved to the "other" file.

After the first cycle of coding was complete I had a keen sense that there were many larger connections that were not captured by the original codes. I had mentally started the process of "linking seemingly unrelated facts logically, [and] fitting categories one with another" (Morse, 1994, pg. 25). Two separate steps were taken during this stage of coding. First, I used a form of longitudinal coding (McLeod & Thompson, 2009; Saldana, 2013) in an attempt to capture changes that occurred over the four rounds of interviewing with each participant. I developed a large chart on my office wall with the participants' names listed vertically and life circumstances or changes listed horizontally. The horizontal line was broken up into four categories, one per round of interviewing. Demographic information such as age, education level, length of time on assistance, Canadian born, immigration information, first language and number of children were included in the first round category. Rows were added horizontally based upon information gleaned from the interviews. For

example, "subsidized housing" and "subsidized childcare" were mentioned as important to some of the lone mothers' survival so this was added as columns. Other columns included family support, own transportation, employed part-time, employed full-time, going to school, addiction issues, abused and disability. Participants often became more comfortable with each round of interviewing thus columns were added with each subsequent interview. The final column was "status at last interview" and was meant to depict whether a recipient was in receipt of social assistance or was not in receipt of any income from social assistance.

Once the longitudinal chart was complete, two new charts were created, one to reflect only those that were still receiving social assistance and one for those that were not. Each chart was analyzed separately for similarities between the participants. As one of the major focuses of this research was on the lone mothers' ability to find and maintain paid employment, each chart was restructured based upon the lone mothers relationship to paid employment. Separate charts were developed for all lone mothers who were working part-time and receiving social assistance, working full-time and receiving social assistance, not working and receiving assistance, working full-time and off of assistance, working part-time and off of assistance, not working and off assistance. This process eventually resulted in the five trajectories discussed in chapter seven. The lone mothers were organized according to their relationship to social assistance, to paid work and to other government provided benefits.

Once I had indentified the five types of trajectories I went back through the codes that were developed in the first cycle of coding. I opened each document separately and

I opened the "employment" file and highlighted a comment made by a lone mother who left social assistance and was working full-time in blue, a quote by a lone mother receiving social assistance and not working for pay in orange and so forth. The same highlighting technique was used for each document. Once the highlighting process was complete I opened five new documents, one for each trajectory, and copied all relevant information into each document. I ensured that each section was moved over according to its original code. For example the "left social assistance and working full-time" file included many of the original codes; becoming employed, paid work, social capital, desire to work, maneuvering through systems, discrimination/stigma, self-esteem, participation agreement, any job's a good job, leaving assistance, blending assistance, caretaking, housing, precarious employment, programs, staying home, work history, criminal past and other.

Each file was then recoded using a more focused approach. The broad first cycle codes were reanalyzed, at times resulting in one code being split into a number of more focused codes, and at other times with multiple codes being amalgamated into one. This process of focused coding allowed for comparison across other participants' data "to assess comparability and transferability" (Saldana, 2013, pg. 217). Material was pulled together from the first cycle codes into more meaningful units of analysis (Miles, Huberman & Saldana, 2014). For example the first cycle codes of "participation agreement" and "any job's a good job" reflected statements made by the participants. Focused coding enabled me to link these two codes into one code which reflected Ontario Work's rules around paid

employment. During this phase of coding constant comparisons were made between the files to ensure that coding was occurring uniformly.

4.5 Limitations

While there are many benefits of using the research methods chosen for this project there are also some limitations.

It took me a long time to feel familiar with the data as I did not participate in any of the data collection with the lone mothers, nor had I even heard their voices. When I received the data they had been transcribed and all identifying information had been stripped from them. Not being able to personally interact with the women made me feel disconnected from the research and led to it taking me a long time to familiarize myself with the demographics of the women (age, number of children, country of birth, status, level of education) and their life stories.

Upon reading the interviews I realized that at times the stripping of the interview left me without pertinent information, such as the name of organizations that the participants were affiliated, for my analysis. I found this particularly frustrating when a participant was referring to an organization that had been remarkably helpful or played a role in a transformation in the way they perceived themselves. At times there was enough description of the organization that I could piece together what type of organization they were referring to (an addiction counseling center for instance) however sometimes I was left without a description. Sometimes I was able to rectify this by contacting members of the research team

who had been involved in the interview process but at other times I was left without knowing.

While the interviews occurred yearly the information that was gained did not always correspond to life events that had taken place between interviews. As trust was built between the interviewer and interviewee the lone mothers divulged more information about life events that had occurred in past years. Thus, the interviews could not always be analyzed in a linear fashion. The duration of the project also presents a limitation in that I could only assess the trajectories of the lone mothers within a five year time period. The information presented in this dissertation offers insight into the process of leaving social assistance, however a five and ten year follow up study would be required to understand the longer term trajectories.

4.6 From method to analysis

Chapter Five summarizes the background information gathered for each lone mother in the first interview. Chapter Six is primarily derived from the caseworker focus groups and explores the varying programs that the lone mothers interacted with. The role of Ontario Works in helping lone mothers get into the workforce is explored. The lone mothers' experiences with the varying programs are also presented.

The second focus of this dissertation is an exploration of the trajectories of the lone mothers' lives over the five years of the project. Chapter Seven investigates the factors that seem to distinguish the lives of those who left social assistance from those who stayed and the processes that either facilitated or hindered this transition.

Chapter 5

Introducing the lone mothers

This chapter provides an overview of the lives of the lone mothers who participated in this study as well as into changes that occurred in their lives throughout the four rounds of interviewing. The information presented here is drawn from the interview data from each round of interviewing. The chapter begins with a discussion of the lone mothers' backgrounds, number and age of children, length of time receiving social assistance as well as the reasons given for applying for social assistance. The chapter then presents the changes that occurred in the participants' lives over the five year duration of the study. Attention is given to the lone mothers' relationship to paid work as well as to the receipt of benefits in each of the four rounds of interviewing.

5.1 From the beginning: lone mothers at interview one

The 30 lone mothers whose interviews were analyzed for this research came from diverse backgrounds. Sixteen women were Canadian born, four of whom identified as Aboriginal, and fourteen were immigrants. Of the immigrants, five women are originally from the Caribbean, three are from Africa, two are from each of Latin America, Europe, and Asia and one was from the Middle East. Among the fourteen women who were immigrants, nine had been in Canada for more than 10 years. Table 5.1 shows the distribution of lone mothers in relation to their place of birth and the length of time they had been in Canada.

In general the immigrant population of lone mother participants came to this study having had higher educational attainment in their home countries than the Canadian born lone mothers. The immigrant lone mothers were more likely to have completed post-secondary training whereas the Canadian born lone mothers were more likely to have only some high school credits. Table 5.2 presents the educational attainment of the Canadian born and immigrant lone mothers at the time of their first interview. Ten out of fourteen of the immigrant lone mothers had a high school diploma or higher compared with only seven out of sixteen Canadian born lone mothers. None of the lone mothers who identified as Aboriginal had a high school diploma.

Table 5.1 Immigrant lone mothers' time in Canada & place of birth

| Table 3.1 Illilling | ant ione | mouncis | ume m Can | iaua & pi | ace of bil til | |
|---------------------|----------|---------|-----------|-----------|----------------|--------|
| Years in Canada | | | | Pla | ce of Birth | |
| | Africa | Asia | Caribbean | Europe | Latin | Middle |
| | | | | | America | East |
| >5 years | | | | 1 | 1 | |
| 5-8 years | | | 2 | | | |
| 9-12 years | | 1 | | | 1 | 1 |
| 12-15years | 1 | | 1 | | | |
| >15 years | 1 | 1 | 2 | 1 | | |
| Total | 2 | 2 | 5 | 2 | 2 | 1 |

Table 5.2 Lone mothers' educational attainment

| Level of education | Canadian born non-Aboriginal | Canadian born Aboriginal | Immigrant |
|--------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------|
| Some high school | 5 | 4 | 4 |
| High school | 3 | 0 | 6 |
| College | 3 | 0 | 1 |
| Some university | 0 | 0 | 1 |
| University | 1 | 0 | 2 |
| Total | 12 | 4 | 14 |

As indicated in Table 5.3, there were only slight differences in the number of children born to each group of lone mothers prior to round one of interviewing. Of all 16 Canadian born lone mothers, 13 had three or fewer children, with the majority (eight) having only one child. Three Canadian born lone mothers, two of whom identified as Aboriginal, had four children. Eleven out of 14 immigrant lone mothers had three or fewer children with the majority, eight out of eleven, having two children. Three immigrant lone mothers had four or more children. In total the sixteen Canadian born lone mothers were raising 33 children while the 14 immigrant lone mothers were raising 36 children.

Table 5.3 Number of children at first interview by Aboriginal and immigrant status.

| # children 1 st interview | | dian born boriginal | | adian born riginal | Immigrant | |
|--------------------------------------|----|------------------------|---|-----------------------|-----------|------|
| 1 | 8 | 67% | 0 | 0% | 2 | 14% |
| 2 | 1 | 8% | 1 | 25% | 8 | 57% |
| 3 | 2 | 17% | 1 | 25% | 1 | 7% |
| 4 | 1 | 8% | 2 | 50% | 1 | 7% |
| 5 | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | 1 | 7% |
| 6 | 0 | 0% | | 0% | 1 | 7% |
| Total | 12 | 100% | | 100% | 14 | 100% |

Table 5.4 presents the number of participants who have children in each age group; infants (under 2 years), toddlers (2 to 4 years), primary school age children (5 to 9 years), preteens (10 to 13 years) and teens or older (over 13 years). The age of the lone mothers' youngest child varied from under 2 years old to over 13 years. One-third (ten out of thirty) of the participants' youngest children were between the age of 6 to 9 years. Two Canadian born lone mothers had children over the age of 13 however only one is presented in this

category in Table 5.4. "Maggie" was the lone mother of one daughter in her early 30s however she attributes her use of social assistance to her role in providing care for her five grandchildren. Thus Maggie is counted in the category of children between the age of 6 and 9 to better reflect the caregiving responsibilities of each lone mother.

Table 5.4 Canadian born and immigrant lone mothers' age of youngest child at first interview

| Age of youngest child | | lian born boriginal | Canadian born Aboriginal | | Immigrant | | |
|-----------------------|----|------------------------|-----------------------------|-----|-----------|-----|--|
| >2 years old | 3 | 10% | 1 | 3% | 3 | 10% | |
| 2 to 4 years old | 5 | 17% | 0 | 0% | 4 | 13% | |
| 5 to 9 years old | 3 | 10% | 2 | 7% | 5 | 17% | |
| 10 to 13 years old | 0 | 0 | 1 | 3% | 2 | 7% | |
| >13 years old | 1 | 3% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0 | |
| Total | 12 | 40% | 4 | 13% | 14 | 47% | |

The immigrant lone mothers were generally older than the Canadian born lone mothers at the time of their first interview. All of the lone mothers under the age of 20 were Canadian born. As Table 5.5 illustrates the majority of Canadian born lone mothers are under the age of 36 (11 out of 16) whereas the majority of lone mother immigrants were over the age of 35 (9 out of 14) with the largest portion being between the ages of 41 to 45 (6 out of 9).

As Table 5.6 illustrates, the time of the first interview the lone mothers' previous social assistance use varied from fewer than two years to more than 15 years. Six lone mothers had been receiving social assistance for fewer than two years, three of them were Canadian born and three were immigrants. Only one Canadian born lone mother had been in receipt for more than 15 years when we first met. The majority of the lone mothers, ten out

of 30, had been in receipt of assistance for between 5 and 9 years. There were not any noteworthy differences between the length of time receiving social assistance between the Canadian born and immigrant lone mothers who participated in this study.

Table 5.5 Canadian and immigrant lone mothers' age at round one of interviewing

| | Canad | Canadian born non- | | dian born | Immigrant | |
|--------------------------|-------|--------------------|---|------------|-----------|------|
| Lone mother's age at | Abori | Aboriginal | | Aboriginal | | |
| first interview | | | | | | |
| > 20 years (3) | 3 | 25% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% |
| 20 years to 25 years (4) | 3 | 25% | 0 | 0% | 2 | 14% |
| 26 years to 30 years (3) | 0 | 0% | 2 | 50% | 1 | 7% |
| 31 years to 35 years (6) | 3 | 25% | 1 | 25% | 2 | 14% |
| 36 years to 40 years (4) | 1 | 8% | 1 | 25% | 2 | 14% |
| 41 years to 45 years (8) | 1 | 8% | 1 | 25% | 6 | 43% |
| >45 years (2) | 1 | 8% | 0 | 0% | 1 | 7% |
| Total (30) | 12 | 100% | 4 | 100% | 14 | 100% |

Table 5.6 Canadian and immigrant lone mothers' length of time receiving assistance at round one of interviewing

| Time on assistance first interview | | Canadian born Canadian born on-Aboriginal Aboriginal | | | | grant |
|------------------------------------|----|------------------------------------------------------|---|-----|----|-------|
| > less than 2 years (6) | 3 | 10% | 0 | 0% | 3 | 10% |
| 2 years to 4 years (8) | 4 | 13% | 1 | 3% | 3 | 10% |
| 5 years to 9 years (10) | 2 | 7% | 2 | 6% | 6 | 20% |
| 10 years to 15 years (5) | 2 | 7% | 1 | 3% | 2 | 7% |
| < 15 years (1) | 1 | 3% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% |
| Total (3) | 12 | 40% | 4 | 13% | 14 | 47 |

The most common reason for applying for assistance provided by the lone mothers was the dissolution of a relationship out of which a child was born. The birth of a child outside of a relationship was the second most commonly stated precursor to applying for social assistance. One immigrant lone mother attributed her receipt of social assistance to the recent passing of her husband who had been the family breadwinner. Two of the lone

mothers, Kayla and Michelle, attributed their use of social assistance to their lack of immigration status in Canada as both reported being legally unable to work for pay. Susan, an immigrant lone mother, indicated that she had moved out of the residence she shared with her children's father as they could not support their family financially on his income. Susan had felt that living alone and receiving social assistance would allow her to provide more adequately for her children. Maggie, a Canadian born lone mother, asserted that she received social assistance so that she could provide care for her lone mother daughter's five children (Table 5.7).

Table 5.7 Canadian and immigrant lone mothers' pathways on to assistance

| Tubic Cir Culludiuli ul | | igi wiit ionic iiiot | 11015 | Julii Ways Or | I to uss | istuite |
|-------------------------|------------|----------------------|-------|---------------|----------|-----------|
| Cause | Cana | dian born non- | Cana | adian born | | Immigrant |
| | Aboriginal | | Abor | riginal | | |
| End of marriage (10) | 3 | 23% | 1 | 25% | 6 | 43% |
| End of relationship (7) | 5 | 41% | 1 | 25% | 1 | 7% |
| Birth of child (8) | 3 | 25% | 2 | 50% | 3 | 21% |
| Death of spouse (1) | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | 1 | 7% |
| Other (4) | 1 | 8% | 0 | 0% | 3 | 21% |
| Total | 12 | 100% | 4 | 100% | 14 | 100% |

The interview data revealed that a large portion of the lone mothers who participated in this study had been physically abused prior to their receipt of social assistance. Fifty percent (15 out of 30) of the lone mothers reported fleeing abuse prior to receiving social assistance. Nine of the 15 women stated that they lived in a shelter prior to applying for social assistance. Table 5.8 illustrates that immigrant lone mothers reported the highest incidence of abuse with nine out of fourteen lone mothers fleeing an abusive partner. One

immigrant lone mother shared that her abuse was at the hands of her parents and was the impetus for her immigrating to Canada.

Table 5.8 Incidences of physical abuse amongst lone mother participants

| | Canaa | lian born non- | Cana | dian born | Immigrant (14) | | |
|--------------------|--------|----------------|-------|-------------|----------------|-----|--|
| | Aborig | ginals (12) | Abori | iginals (4) | C | , , | |
| Abuse | 3 | 25% | 2 | 50% | 10 | 71% | |
| resided in shelter | 1 | 8% | 1 | 25% | 7 | 50% | |

With the exception of four lone mothers, two Canadian born and two immigrants, the participants had work histories prior to receiving social assistance. Table 5.9 presents the category of employment that the lone mothers spent the greatest amount of time in prior to receiving social assistance. The majority had spent the longest portion of time employed in the sales and service industry. Four immigrant lone mothers had held high-paying jobs prior to immigrating to Canada; bookkeeper, college instructor, accountant and mechanical engineer. Of these, all but one had had worked in varying service sector jobs once entering Canada. Pauline, a Canadian born lone mother who identified as Aboriginal had the longest work history of any participant as she had been employed as a community worker for twentyfive years prior to receiving social assistance. The two Canadian born lone mothers without work histories were under 20 years old when they began participating in this study whereas the two immigrant lone mothers without work histories were in their 40s. Also important to note is that the two lone mothers who had worked in factories found their employment through temporary employment agencies. Each of these lone mothers had worked in at least three different factories and never more than four months at a time.

This dissertation is concerned with the process of leaving social assistance for lone mothers thus the next section of this chapter presents changes that occurred in the participants' lives over the five years of the study. Changes that transpired in the lone mothers' lives were difficult to compartmentalize temporally. During the analysis of the interviews it became clear that many lone mothers had not revealed many aspects of their lives until much later in the interview process making tracking their lives in a linear fashion difficult. It was often the case that we would learn that they were working part-time, had taken a course, received a new benefit or had done a volunteer placement two to three years after it occurred. As a result of this the findings that are presented in this section and the following two chapters are taken from all four interviews.

Table 5.9 Lone mothers' work histories prior to round one of interviewing

| Type of employment | Cana | dian born | Cana | dian born | Immi | grant |
|-----------------------------|----------------|-----------|------|------------|------|-------|
| | non-Aboriginal | | Abor | Aboriginal | | |
| Childcare provider | 2 | 17% | 0 | 0% | 1 | 7% |
| Community and social worker | 0 | 0% | 1 | 25% | 0 | 0% |
| Factory | 1 | 8% | 0 | 0% | 2 | 14% |
| Health care | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | 1 | 7% |
| Office administration | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | 1 | 7% |
| Personal Services | 1 | 8% | 0 | 0% | 2 | 14% |
| Professional | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | 2 | 14% |
| Sales & Services | 6 | 50% | 3 | 75% | 3 | 21% |
| None | 2 | 17% | 0 | 0% | 2 | 14% |
| Total | 12 | 100% | 4 | 100% | 14 | 100% |

The first section of this chapter traced the lone mothers' paths onto social assistance.

The following section presents changes that occurred in the lone mothers' lives over the four interviews. Changes in number of children, access to benefits and employment were tracked

and are reported below. In addition, the lone mothers' participation in Ontario Works 'job ready' programming is presented. Chapter six discusses the particulars of each of these programs and the lone mothers' experiences with them in detail. Chapter seven interrogates the different outcomes and the effects of the different changes to the lone mothers' lives presented below.

5.2 Tracking changes: Lone mothers' five year trajectories

An important change that took place over the course of the study for a large number of the lone mothers was their access to childcare and housing subsidies. In round one of interviewing ten lone mothers were living in subsidized housing, sixteen had their children in subsidized childcare. Three of these lone mothers had both subsidized housing and subsidized childcare. As presented in Table 5.10, the most significant change that occurred was that over 50% of those who were without childcare or housing in round one had been granted one or the other of the subsidies by round two. In round four two of the four lone mothers who remained without housing throughout the duration of the study had been on waiting lists for more than seven years each. The remaining two lone mothers had never applied for housing as they both had lived in their market-rent apartments for more than fifteen years thus they reported that their rent had not increased at the same rate as inflation. Additionally by round four eight of the lone mothers had access to both subsidized housing and subsidized childcare while nine had just housing and five had just childcare. Important to note is that three of the five lone mothers without subsidized childcare in round four had children that were over the age of 12 and could legally stay home without adult supervision.

The other two lone mothers without subsidized childcare had newborn babies thus were no longer granted subsidy for their other children as they were home caring for their babies rather than participating in Ontario Works programs or working for pay.

Table 5.10 Lone mothers' use of subsidies

| Benefit | Rour | Round One Round Two Round Three | | Round Four | | | | |
|-------------------------|------|---------------------------------|----|------------|----|-----|----|-----|
| Housing | 10 | 30% | 14 | 47% | 17 | 57% | 17 | 57% |
| Childcare | 16 | 53% | 18 | 60% | 17 | 57% | 13 | 43% |
| both housing &childcare | 3 | 10% | 7 | 23% | 8 | 27% | 8 | 27% |
| # without either | 8 | 27% | 3 | 10% | 4 | 13% | 4 | 13% |

In total five lone mothers had another child during the course of the study and in each case the child was born between the third and fourth round of interviewing. Three of the lone mothers were Canadian born with one identifying as Aboriginal while the other two were immigrants. The two immigrant lone mothers each went from having two children to having three while the Canadian born non-Aboriginal mother went from having one to having two children by round four. Patricia, the Canadian born Aboriginal lone mother, went from having four children to having five.

The interview data allowed us to identify the major activities of the women in the sample and their main benefits and income sources over the five year period. Table 5.11 illustrates that a large portion of lone mothers were taking part in skills and training and volunteer programs offered through Ontario Works. A small number were enrolled in post-secondary school rather than in programs offered through Ontario Works.

Table 5.11 Lone mothers "job ready" activities

| Activities | Round 1 | | Round 2 | | Round 3 | | Round 4 | |
|-------------------------|---------|-----|---------|-----|---------|-----|---------|-----|
| Volunteering | 18 | 60% | 20 | 67% | 1 | 37% | 5 | 17% |
| Skills/Training Program | 24 | 80% | 16 | 53% | 6 | 20% | 1 | 3% |
| Post-secondary school | 0 | 0% | 1 | 3% | 1 | 3% | 2 | 7% |

Perhaps not surprisingly, Table 5.11 also shows us that the longer a lone mother stayed on social assistance the less likely she was to continue participating in the programs designed to move recipients to paid work. An exploration of these particular programs and the lone mothers experiences with them are presented in the following chapter.

There were not stark differences between the lone mother groups' attachment to the labour market. As shown in Table 5.12 there were between four and six of each Canadian born and immigrant lone mothers working for pay at any given point in the study. However, only one of the Canadian born working lone mothers identified as Aboriginal. All 30 of the lone mothers who participated in this study were receiving social assistance at the time of the first interview. Table 12 illustrates that of those 30 lone mothers eight were attached to the labour market while receiving social assistance in the first round.

Table 5.12 Lone mothers' attachment to the labour market

| Identification | Round One | | | Round Two | | Round Three | | Round Four | |
|-----------------------------------|-----------|-----|----|--------------|----|-------------|----|------------|--|
| Non-Aboriginal Canadian born (12) | 4 | 13% | 6 | 20% | 3 | 10% | 5 | 17% | |
| Aboriginal Canadian born (4) | 0 | 0% | 1 | 3% | 0 | 0% | 1 | 3% | |
| Immigrant (14) | 4 | 13% | 4 | 13% | 7 | 23% | 5 | 17% | |
| Total | 8 | 27% | 11 | 36% | 10 | 33% | 11 | 37% | |

The interview data revealed that lone mothers' employment was unstable between rounds of interviewing. In total 18 lone mothers had worked for pay at some point during the five years of interviewing. Table 5.13 shows us that of those 18 lone mothers only one lone mother, Hana, was employed at each of the four interviews. It also shows us that Hana held two part-time positions in multiple rounds of interviewing. Table 5.13 also highlights that 8 lone mothers were working full-time at some point during the interview process.

The interview data also revealed that there were three types of work found by the eighteen participants. Two lone mothers' worked as community workers, two had worked as office administrators and fourteen worked in sales and services. The lone mothers employed in sales and services were those most likely to switch jobs between rounds of interviewing. Five of those lone mothers were waitresses and all but one switched the establishment they were working at in each employed round. Seven were employed as cashiers and only one of those lone mothers, Latoya, kept their job for more than one round of interviewing. Two other lone mothers worked in sales and only one was employed in the fourth round.

Employment and participation in programs offered through Ontario Works did not seem to result in an exit from social assistance for many on the women who participated in this study. An exit from social assistance was counted as any lone mother who was not receiving any Ontario Works benefits at the time of a particular interview. Ten of the lone mothers who were employed during the study did not exit from social assistance. Of the 30 lone mothers who were receiving social assistance at the first interview, almost 17% (5 of 30) had exited social assistance by the time of the second interview—within one year. Forty

percent (12 out of 30) were no longer in receipt of social assistance in round three—within two and a half years. Within the five years of the study more than 50% of the participants had left social assistance (Table 5.14).

Table 5.13 Individual lone mothers' employment trajectories

| Participant | Round One | Round Two | Round Three | Round Four |
|--------------------------|------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| | | | | |
| Canadian born non- | | | | |
| Aboriginal | | | | |
| Carol | Part-time | Full-time | Unemployed | Full-time |
| Gail | Unemployed | Unemployed | Full-time | Full-time |
| Jennifer | Unemployed | Unemployed | Unemployed | Full-time |
| Jessica | Part-time | Part-time | Unemployed | Full-time |
| Latoya | Unemployed | Part-time | Unemployed | Unemployed |
| Madison | Unemployed | Full-time | Full-time | Unemployed |
| Natalie | Unemployed | Full-time | Full-time | Full-time |
| Sam | Part-time | Part-time | Unemployed | Unemployed |
| Sophie | Part-time | Unemployed | Unemployed | Unemployed |
| Canadian born Aboriginal | | | | |
| Jordan | Unemployed | Unemployed | Unemployed | Part-time |
| Patricia | Unemployed | Part-time | Unemployed | Unemployed |
| Immigrant | | | | |
| Alice | Unemployed | Unemployed | Part-time | Full-time |
| Ann | Unemployed | Part-time | Unemployed | Part-time |
| Andrea | Part-time | Unemployed | Full-time | Unemployed |
| Fiona | Unemployed | Part-time | Part-time | Unemployed |
| Hana | Part-time | 2 Part-time | Part-time | 2 Part-time |
| Helen | Unemployed | Part-time | Full-time | Full-time |
| Jane | Part-time | Unemployed | Unemployed | Unemployed |
| Kayla | Unemployed | Unemployed | Full-time | unemployed |
| Michelle | Part-time | Unemployed | Part-time | 2 Part-time |

The women who exited social assistance varied by age, time receiving social assistance, number of children and place of birth. Table 5.14 presents the time the lone mothers had spent receiving social assistance by the time of the first interview, which varied

from less than six months to 20 years, in relation to the number of lone mothers who were not in receipt of social assistance by round four of interviewing. As we would expect, those who left social assistance by 2010 tended to be those who had the fewest years in receiving assistance (Table 5.14). However, one of the lone mothers no longer in receipt of social assistance in round four had spent the most time on assistance of any participant.

All of the lone mothers under the age of 20 at the time of their first interview had exited social assistance by the fourth round; two had exited in round two and stayed off for the following four year study period. One 20 to 25 year old lone mother had exited in round two however was back in receipt by round three and continued to receive Ontario Works in round four of interviewing. All of the other lone mothers sustained their exits for the duration of the research (Table 5.15).

Table 5.14 Lone mothers' exits from assistance in relation to time spent on assistance

| | Lone Mothers | | Lone | Lone Mothers | | Lone Mothers | | Lone Mothers | |
|----------------------|--------------|---------------|------|----------------|----|----------------|----|--------------|--|
| Time spent on | on As | on Assistance | | off Assistance | | off Assistance | | ssistance | |
| assistance | Roun | Round 1 | | Round 2 | | Round 3 | | d 4 | |
| > one year | 5 | 17% | 3 | 10% | 4 | 13% | 4 | 13% | |
| 1 year to 23 months | 1 | 3% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | |
| 2 years to 4 years | 8 | 27% | 1 | 3% | 2 | 7% | 3 | 10% | |
| 5 years to 9 years | 10 | 33% | 1 | 3% | 6 | 20% | 7 | 23% | |
| 10 years to 15 years | 5 | 17% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | 1 | 3% | |
| < 15 years | 1 | 3% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | 1 | 3% | |
| Total | 30 | 100% | 5 | 17% | 12 | 40% | 16 | 53% | |

As we can see in Table 5.16 the majority of lone mothers who exited social assistance in each round had three or fewer children. Two of the lone mothers who exited social assistance gave birth to another child by round four however remained without receipt of

social assistance for round four of interviewing. Only one out of the six lone mothers who had four or more children exited by round four.

Table 5.15 Lone mothers' exits from assistance in relation to age

| Lone mother's age at first | Lone Mothers | | Lone Mothers | | Lone Mothers | | Lone Mothers | |
|----------------------------|---------------|-----------------|----------------|------|----------------|-----|----------------|-----|
| interview | on Assistance | | off Assistance | | off Assistance | | off Assistance | |
| | Roun | und 1 Round 2 I | | Rour | Round 3 | | Round 4 | |
| > 20years | 3 | 10% | 2 | 7% | 2 | 7% | 3 | 10% |
| 20 years to 25 years | 4 | 13% | 1 | 3% | 2 | 7% | 2 | 7% |
| 26 years to 30 years | 3 | 10% | 0 | 0% | 2 | 7% | 2 | 7% |
| 31 years to 35 years | 6 | 20% | 1 | 3% | 2 | 7% | 1 | 3% |
| 36 years to 40 years | 4 | 13% | 1 | 3% | 1 | 13% | 3 | 10% |
| 41 years to 45 years | 8 | 27% | 0 | 0% | 1 | 3% | 3 | 10% |
| >45 years | 2 | 6% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | 2 | 7% |
| Total | 30 | 100% | 5 | 17% | 10 | 33% | 16 | 53% |

Table 5.16 Lone mothers' exits from assistance in relation to number of children

| # children | | Mothers ssistance d 1 | Lone Mothers off Assistance Round 2 | | Lone Mothers off Assistance Round 3 | | | Mothers ssistance d 4 |
|------------|----|-----------------------------|-------------------------------------------|-----|-------------------------------------------|-----|----|-----------------------------|
| 1 | 10 | 33% | 4 | 13% | 5 | 17% | 5 | 17% |
| 2 | 10 | 33% | 1 | 3% | 2 | 7% | 5 | 17% |
| 3 | 4 | 13% | 0 | 0% | 3 | 10% | 5 | 17% |
| 4 | 4 | 13% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | 1 | 3% |
| 5 | 1 | 3% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% |
| 6 | 1 | 3% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% | 0 | 0% |
| Total | 30 | 100% | 5 | 17% | 10 | 33% | 16 | 54% |

Interview data revealed that eight of the sixteen lone mothers who had exited social assistance were not attached to the labour market in round four. Chapter Seven investigates the different means of exiting social assistance.

Exploring the differences between the lone mothers attached to the labour market and unemployed lone mothers in terms of their participation in programs and use of subsidies

revealed that there were very minimal differences between the two groups. Table 5.17 presents the findings from the interview data on the lone mothers' use of childcare and housing subsidies. The interview data show that by round four very few lone mothers (4 out of 30) were without access to either subsidized childcare or subsidized housing. Moreover, there were few differences between the employed and unemployed lone mothers' use of childcare subsidies. Sixty percent (12 out of 20) of the unemployed lone mothers lived in subsidized housing and 45% (9 out of 20) have their child or children in subsidized childcare. Fifty percent (5 out of 10) of the lone mothers who were employed in round four of interviewing lived in subsidized housing and 40% (4 out of 10) use subsidized childcare. Only one employed lone mothers was without access to either subsidized childcare or subsidized housing whereas three unemployed lone mothers have neither subsidy.

Table 5.17 Subsidy use amongst employed and unemployed lone mothers

| Table 3.17 Substity use amongst employed and unemployed tone momens | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------|------------|----------------|-----------------------|------|--|--|--|
| | Unemployed | d lone mothers | Employed lone mothers | | | | |
| Benefit | Round Four | r(20) | Round Four(10) | | | | |
| Housing | 12 | 60% | 5 | 50% | | | |
| Childcare | 9 | 45% | 4 | 40% | | | |
| Both housing & childcare | 6 | 30% | 2 | 20% | | | |
| # without either | 3 | 15% | 1 | 10% | | | |
| Total | 20 | 100% | 10 | 100% | | | |

All of the lone mother participants stated that they were required to participate in a myriad of programs offered through Ontario Works. Their attendance in these programs was in most cases facilitated by their access to subsidized childcare. Despite the fact that four women were without childcare all 30 of the lone mothers indicated that they had participated

in one or more Ontario Works programs and had completed at least one six month volunteer placement. As we can see from Table 5.18 a large portion of lone mothers participated in more than one program and had done at least two volunteer placements while receiving social assistance. Chapter six investigates the lone mothers' experiences with the skills and training programs and the volunteer component of Ontario Works but here it is important to note that all 30 of the lone mothers had participated in these components.

Table 5.18 Lone Mothers' participation in Ontario Works programs and their social assistance status by round four

| assistance status by round roun | Off Assistance | | On A | ssistance |
|---------------------------------|----------------|-----|------|-----------|
| # Skills and Training programs | | | | |
| 1 | 7 | 23% | 4 | 13% |
| 2 | 5 | 17% | 5 | 17% |
| 3 | 3 | 10% | 4 | 13% |
| 4 | 0 | 0% | 1 | 3% |
| 5+ | 1 | 3% | 0 | 0% |
| # Volunteer Placement | | | | |
| 1 | 5 | 17% | 1 | 3% |
| 2 | 7 | 23% | 10 | 30% |
| 3 | 2 | 7% | 2 | 7% |
| 4 | 2 | 7% | 1 | 3% |
| Total | 16 | 53% | 14 | 7% |

For the 30 lone mothers whose interviews were analyzed for this study there was not a single profile of who was most likely to exit social assistance or who was most likely to attach to the labour market. By design the lone mothers who participated in this study were a diverse group of women whose pathways onto assistance, length of social assistance receipt, age, number of children and educational attainment varied considerably. Very few generalizations can be made about this particular group of lone mothers. Lone mothers under

the age of twenty spent little time in receipt of social assistance. Lone mothers with three or fewer children were more likely to exit social assistance than those with four or more children.

Although the majority of the lone mothers received subsidized childcare and/or subsidized housing and all had taken skills and training courses and volunteered under Ontario Works very few attached to the labour market and even fewer were able to exit social assistance as a result of labour market attachment. Chapter six builds on these findings through an examination of the different components of Ontario Works that were designed to get social assistance recipients "job ready". Despite participating in these programs the majority of lone mothers had not attached to the labour market thus a deeper analysis of these programs was required and is presented in the following chapter.

Chapter 6 Ontario Works: Programming "independence" or setting recipients up to fail?

I always start my discussion with, "Mrs. Jones and Mrs. Smith, how do you see yourself becoming independent from social assistance?" (Julie, SSCW).

This chapter serves to answer two of the overarching research questions of this dissertation: What was the role of Ontario Works in aiding lone mothers' attachment to the labour market and how did the lone mothers experience the policies and programs designed to help social assistance recipients exit social assistance? In this chapter I examine the policies and programs that Ontario Works has put into place in an effort to move recipients to paid work, as well as the structural impediments participants encountered when attempting to fulfill the requirements of the programs.

Ontario Works, the province's general welfare program, is administered by municipalities based on guidelines established by the province under the Ontario Works Act, 1997 and its regulations. The Act sets eligibility criteria, including a requirement that recipients agree to engage in a range of activities in order to qualify for their monthly benefits:

- s.7(4) A recipient and any prescribed dependents may be required as a condition of eligibility for basic financial assistance to,
- (a) satisfy community participation requirements;
- (b) participate in employment measures;
- (c) accept and undertake basic education and job specific skills training; and
- (d) accept and maintain employment. (1997, c. 25, Sched. A, s. 7.)

The interview and focus group data reveal that Ontario Works is a complicated web of rules and procedures. Stark differences were found between the programs offered and guidance given to the lone mother participants by the individual social assistance offices located in the same municipality. Each social assistance office had access to the same programs, however caseworker discretion in implementing the policies surrounding the programs made it difficult to assess the particular programs separate from the roles of the front line workers responsible for implementing them.

Every lone mother who participated in this study was required by their caseworker to participate in multiple programs offered through Ontario Works. In this chapter I explore the lone mothers and caseworkers experiences with these programs. Revealing these experiences provides us with insight into the role of the programs in the five year trajectories of the lone mothers which are presented in the next chapter.

This section begins with a discussion of the Participation Agreement, the first step recipients are required to take before being issued social assistance. Next, I explain the different programs available through Ontario Works as well as the lone mother participants' experiences with each program. The chapter concludes by assessing the different components of Ontario Works.

6.1 The Participation Agreement in practice

The Participation Agreement is jointly filled out by an applicant for Ontario Works and a caseworker as a precondition for eligibility for benefits. As indicated by the opening

quote of this chapter, from the very first meeting with a caseworker, the emphasis on achieving financial independence via the labour market is made clear to the recipients. Depending on the applicants' circumstances, the Participation Agreement determines which of three programs they will be required to participate in. Employment Support is intended to assist recipients become "job ready" and may include training sessions on job search techniques, workshops on resume writing skills, and some basic education and training (S.O., 1997: ch. 25). The Community Participation program requires the client to volunteer to perform community service in public or not-for-profit organizations and is intended to provide recipients with skills and practical work experience (S.O., 1997: ch. 25). Under Employment Placement, a recipient who has been identified by her caseworkers as ready for employment is referred to an employment agency or contractor to help her find paid work (S.O., 1997: ch. 25). Participation Agreements are rewritten yearly.

The caseworkers and lone mothers revealed that even when the rules and regulations were written clearly in the legislation, caseworkers used their discretion to determine which portions of the program the clients would take part in and which parts they would be exempt from. In most instances the recipients were "encouraged" to participate in one or more of the work related components, even when their personal circumstances clearly exempted them from participation.

For example, while the caseworkers acknowledge that the policy⁹ clearly stipulates that any person with a child under the age of four is automatically exempt from participating in work-related activities, there was evidence that a great deal of discretion was used by caseworkers in deciding whether or not a lone parent was indeed exempt. Wilma, a Toronto Social Service caseworker, described the rules associated with Ontario Works Participation Agreement:

If the client has a child that is under four, it's an automatic deferral [and] they don't have to participate. For instance they don't have to participate because [they don't have childcare]. When the child is in full-time school, in grade 1, the participation is done jointly with the client on what they need, like a training program, education, or sort of job search program and that's done jointly with the client (Wilma, SSCW¹⁰).

Many of the caseworkers ignored the policy stipulations and required their recipients to take part in programs despite their caregiving responsibilities. They made two main arguments to justify this. First, that it was in the best interest of the lone mothers to spend

⁹ Section<u>27. (1)</u> Subject to subsection (2), every participant is required to participate in one or more employment assistance activities in accordance with sections 28 and 29. O. Reg. 134/98, s. 27 (1). (2) The administrator shall temporarily defer the requirement under subsection (1) with respect to a participant who meets at least one of the following criteria:

^{1.} The participant is a sole support parent with at least one dependent child for whom publicly funded education is not available.

^{2.} The participant is a sole support parent with at least one child for whom,

i. temporary care assistance is being received, and

ii. publicly funded education is not available. (S.O., 1997: ch. 27)

¹⁰ Social Services Caseworker

time in the workforce rather than focusing solely on caring for their children. Second, they claimed that some sole support parents were not trying hard enough to become independent and needed to be "pushed".

Sara, a caseworker, echoed the sentiments of many of the caseworkers when she explained that she uses her discretion when deciding whether to defer a client,

I don't, it's not an [automatic deferral] for me. When I am in conversation with them and they're in front of me...I explain to them if they don't get back into something whether that be education or volunteering, getting some sort of experience...if they wait another four years, depending on how many kids they have, maybe eight years, their chances of getting back into the workforce or anything of that nature are going to be like nil. So I'm constantly talking to them about well, I guess you might not be able to find full-time work, but maybe can you do this A, B or C, because the longer you wait the harder it's going to be for you in the years to come if you don't want to be doing this then you have to substitute doing that other thing. I am encouraging them to get the day care, find someone to look after their children and do the part-time or the volunteer or something (Sara, SSCW).

The caseworkers in the focus group adopted a variety of approaches to the Participation Agreement. The majority, however, asserted that they tried to get their clients to "do something" even if they had young children. When probed about the difficulties lone mothers potentially encounter when attempting to participate in the mandatory programs, such as childcare and transportation, some of the caseworkers dismissed these as individual deficiencies rather than as structural barriers,

You know we're empathetic, we're empathetic, we're empathetic. But sometimes I think "I'm a single mom, I'm working full-time, it takes me an hour and a half back and

forth, I'm in school part-time, and I volunteer. What gives? Why aren't you guys able to do it?" (Tracy, SSCW).

Caseworker Michelle asserted that it is hard on caseworkers to go work every day and deal with people who are not trying to find work,

So every day [caseworkers are] getting up and working very hard and they're not [making much money themselves]. And they see this person at home who is doing absolutely nothing and yet we are giving them this free money (Michelle, SSCW).

Michelle's comment reflected an opinion generally shared by caseworkers that caregiving is not legitimate work. The lone mother recipient was seen as "doing absolutely nothing" and as a result must be coerced into participating into programs so that she is not receiving "free money". Julie, who seemed to be the most lenient of all of the caseworkers in the focus group, attempted to explicate the different perspectives of the other caseworkers. She explained that despite changes to include all of the programs to help a client become "job ready" many caseworkers continued to have the mentality that "any job is a good job" and continue to push work for pay without considering the "multiple barriers the lone parent population experience[s]" (Julie, SSCW).

Many of the lone mothers observed that their caseworkers not only pushed the "any job is a good job" mantra, but also told them that any job is better than staying at home with their children. Moreover, many of the lone mothers reported that their caseworkers had continually pushed for them to find paid employment as part of their Participation Agreement, despite the recipients having young children or being involved in volunteer work and/or upgrading skills.

Madison, a lone mother of one child under the age of five, articulated many of the lone parents' frustration at not having parenting recognized as an important or meaningful job,

But again, you have to be thrown into a workforce because you're not recognized as a mom; you're not paid as a mom. You get paid as a mom, when you have that partner with you, when you have that husband. So, if you decide to stay home, then your husband can bring in the bacon. But, if you're just a mom, and there's no daddy to bring home anything, then who is bringing home something? (Madison, II¹¹).

Interestingly, two of the caseworkers and one of the Employment Resource Centre workers agreed with Madison, arguing that single parenting is rarely recognized as a job by social services. Babette best expressed this sentiment,

If people think parenting is the toughest job. I'm here to say that single parenting is the toughest job. Because you have to be everything to your children (Babette, ERCW¹²).

The expectations of caseworkers proved to be moving targets for recipients. In addition to the frustration of not having their position as single parents recognized, many of the lone mothers complained that even when they had followed their previous Participation Agreements, by taking on volunteer work, upgrading skills, finding part-time work, subsequent meetings with caseworkers resulted in them being reprimanded for "not doing

146

¹¹ When writing up the data I indicate which interview the information was provided after each quote by using "I" to represent interview followed by the number of interview; I1, I2, I3 or I4.

¹² Employment resource caseworker

enough" or "not thinking about the future". Marcia (I2) explained that even though she had a young child, her caseworker "was pretty pushy" and "required her to volunteer". Sophie and Jennifer explained that they had followed their Participation Agreements; yet, when they went in for their next meeting both were chastised for "not thinking about their future".

They [social service caseworker] said, 'We can't keep subsidizing, you have to get a job'. So I worked as a babysitter, but babysitting doesn't pay well and I was only working part-time and they were saying that I really need to stop babysitting and get off social assistance and work (Jennifer, II).

I had to go to Social Services, I had an appointment. I had all my documents. She wanted job search forms. Well, hello, I've never worked. How are you going to expect somebody who's in a job training course and upgrading course to provide you with a résumé or even a job search? It's not possible. What's my job action plan? Well, right now I don't have a job action plan because I'm taking school (Sophie, I1).

Many lone mothers felt that Ontario Works Participation Agreements were designed to "push" recipients to not just find employment but to obtain and maintain work that pays at least the equivalent of social assistance. While the Participation Agreements outline the portions of Ontario Works that a recipient will take part in it appears as though the caseworkers' role, at least as they appear to understand it, is to get the recipient into paid work as quickly as possible.

A large portion of the time spent in focus groups with the social services caseworkers and the employment resource caseworkers was dedicated to discussing their understanding of the numerous OW programs available. The programs were designed to give recipients the

necessary tools to enter into the work force, thereby reducing case loads and the cost of welfare to the province. While there is much overlap between the programs, in the following sections of this chapter I discuss the Employment Support, Community Participation and Employment Placement components of Ontario Works in turn. The caseworkers' understanding of the expected outcome of each program is juxtaposed with the lone mothers' experiences partaking in the program. While the caseworkers at times were optimistic about specific components their overall evaluation of the programs was negative, resonating with the outcomes that lone mothers experienced.

6.2 Employment Support

Employment Support is the first program that recipients are generally referred to as it is designed to assess the amount and type of supports needed. The Ontario Ministry of Community and Social Services website states that "Ontario Works gives you practical help to prepare for and find a job by working with you to determine what you need to become employed, and helping you develop a plan based on your skills, experience and circumstances" (OMCSS, 2012). Caseworkers assess the basic skills and qualifications of each recipient and then "encourage" the recipient to engage in any programs the caseworker deems necessary or "fruitful".

Michelle, a caseworker, described the first step in determining where to place a client,

The first program duty is pre-employment and private training for those who have been unemployed for many, many years. [Caseworkers are] going to assess [recipients] in terms of what their skills are, doing those true colors... they have a lot of

assessment tools that are built into their program. And then from there we'll work on a cover letter and resume, interview techniques. [Next we] do an assessment to determine what their career path should be or could be, and we will give the client an idea of how to obtain that. And we refer to that as the first level, but different agencies refer to it differently. Some of those are specifically for women, some of those are specifically for people with addiction, some of them are general and some are related to a particular field, so [it] could be hospitality or computer related (Michelle, SSCW).

She added,

It's not easy to get a job either, we have a list [of programs] that we can offer through Child and Social Services. I like to go through the list so [at] least they can have a basis or a reference point to choose from. For some client[s it] is an easy discussion, other clients are left in awe because it's been too long that [they] haven't been doing anything (Michelle, SSCW).

The programs offered varied from general skills such as learning how to use basic computer programs such as WORD and EXCEL, office skills, English as a Second Language (ESL), General Education Development (GED, also known as high school equivalency) through to specific career training. Clients could also be referred to external not-for-profit agencies that offer workshops on improving self-esteem, dressing for success, managing a budget, and obtaining a pardon for criminal records. The workshops were not directly related to social assistance and appear often to be located by the recipient and then approved by the caseworker.

In exploring the lone mothers' experiences with Employment Support programs, one conclusion became glaringly obvious: these programs, which on paper appear helpful, were

rarely experienced that way in practice. The programs that the recipients most often engaged in were career training programs that the clients believed held promise for securing employment. Personal Support Worker, Foundations in Childcare, Pharmacy Technician and administrative programs were undertaken by many of the lone mothers that were in most cases unaccredited training programs. Some of the women had attended more than two of these programs, which rarely resulted in even temporary work and never led to a job that allowed them to leave social assistance. Similar statements were made by all of the lone mothers who participated in the Employment Support program: "at the end there are no jobs".

With few exceptions, the lone mothers were encouraged to participate in the Personal Support Worker program, despite an awareness shared by caseworkers that "there is a saturation of PSWs because there are not any full-time jobs...the jobs are weird hours and [PSW workers] need a car" (Carly, ERCW). With the exception of one of the lone mothers who participated in this program, even part-time jobs in the field were not found despite numerous attempts. Carol was hopeful that her PSW placement would turn into a full-time job as she "loved it"; however, an offer was not made once the placement ended.

Helen had been the only lone mother who was successful in obtaining a Personal Support Work (PSW) position after her receiving social assistance for two years and was able to maintain her employment for four years. However, the position was fraught with difficulties including not providing enough income for her to leave social assistance,

I worked as a PSW for four years, and it was a part-time job. I felt physically it was too hard for me. I looked after the seniors, and my back had some injuries...even when I was doing the part-time job, sometimes I was on social assistance because my income was low. I only worked 9:30 to 3:00; between this time my son is at school. If they had clients, it was suitable for me, so I took it (Helen, I1).

Just prior to participating in the study Helen had left her job as a PSW, and had gone back to receiving full social assistance cheques and searching out other programs in hopes that they might help her find employment that was not so physically draining, had better pay, and would take her completely off of assistance.

Helen had also taken a Foundation in Childcare program that resulted in her finding a low-paying childcare job that only lasted a couple of months while someone was on leave. Sophie had also taken the childcare course in hope that she would end up with a decent job in a field that she was "comfortable" working in. After having taken the course and being unsuccessful at locating a job, Sophie went back to her caseworker to ask for a higher level of training, and was denied. Sophie explained her frustration with her caseworker's lack of understanding of the actual requirements of the job stream Sophie chose and the caseworker approved,

I need to go to do a course. I did do like childcare. "Childcare management program", they call it. It was years back. And when I apply for this job, I don't get a job in that field because they tell me I need higher education.... But they told me I need something more up to date. Higher than that. So I call her [caseworker]. I told her I need to go back to school and get some training. So I can able to get a good job so I am able to come off welfare... She told me what about the course [I already took] ... I said, "But

that is out now. That can't do me anything much. I need something more up to date." (Sophie, I1).

In the second round of interviews, Sophie was still experiencing the same difficulties with her caseworker with regard to the childcare program,

She wanted me to go back and do the same thing that I did, the same childcare assistant program. That's the same thing I did before. She wanted me to go back and do the same thing. Just because they want to keep me here and stupid. So, I said "no I did it before and I didn't really benefit because I was doing part-time job getting \$8 an hour. Doing the hardest work you could think about there and just \$8 pay for that" (Sophie, I2).

Alice also attempted to better her financial situation by taking a Pharmacy Technician program funded through Ontario Works. In the second round of interviewing she reported that she was very excited about the possibility that this program might finally help her to leave assistance, as the school website indicated that positions in this field often yield close to \$20 per hour. After obtaining her certificate Alice explained that she had sent out several resumes and had been interviewed, but that each interview resulted in frustration. Alice stated that she had been informed that she needed to get some experience before she could be hired and that the job paid just over \$8.00/hour. Alice explained that she was very disappointed and stated that she had "no future". She went to her caseworker for help and was sent to an Employment Placement program,

I can get a chance to get the job but they said no experience, so... so I went to the employment center in welfare office and I ask somebody in the... in the... the resource center about volunteering about the... is something help me to get experience to get in the... the working in the pharmacy... And one person, he work there and he said, if—in the pharmacy no

volunteering. And... and I ask him, if... if I cannot get experience, how can I get this job? If I don't volunteer, how can I get experience?...They didn't help me...They didn't help me and he give me one of flyer, talking about job, it's something like workshop, looking for job, it's—It's some kind of resume technique for interview and cover letter...but I know already, but I just want... is something like, idea of where can get volunteering to get experience to find—I want to get this job (Alice, I3).

Alice had eventually found a part-time position in a pharmacy located in a grocery store at just above minimum wage but she had complained that they often changed her hours and had given her night and weekend shifts that conflicted with her childcare responsibilities and so she had felt forced to quit.

Dayla had attended an approved training program that differed from those described by the other participants. She had taken a software course designed specifically for people with engineering backgrounds as she was an engineer prior to immigrating to Canada.

Although she had finished the program and stated that she enjoyed it, she was unsuccessful in locating any employment. Dayla complained that "it is very hard to find a job, very very hard. Especially for a woman!"

There was not one favourable comment made about the career training programs that were available to the lone mothers. In fact, in each case the lone mothers expressed that if anything these training programs had made them feel worse about themselves and their situations. Sophie articulated the general consensus amongst those who participated in these programs,

This is program is just to keep you occupied. People go on social assistance because they have no choice. If it was my choice, I wouldn't do it. Because if there isn't a program that will benefit you and you are able to get a job, but when you finish the program you have nothing to do (Sophie, I2).

Dayla argued that she would take any program if it would help to find her a job but that she wanted "to see results for a change". She expressed that she did not care if the job was even remotely related to her training in engineering. She just wanted any program that would result in sufficient employment "to support [her] children". By round three of interviewing Dayla remained skeptical that this could happen through social assistance.

While it was the caseworkers role to help the lone mothers find and enroll in these programs several substantiated the lone mothers' claims that the career programming portion of OW is seriously flawed. Sara asserted,

...really our programs aren't really that great. As far as upgrading and getting a good job, a really good job, our courses are basic, basic, like basic entry-level positions, like minimum wage may be \$12 an hour. That's not going to cover a family, so I think that needs improvement (Sara, SSCW).

The programs offered not only prepared these lone mothers for low paying female dominated careers, they often trained them for jobs that simply did not exist. Moreover, the training offered was oriented to jobs that were unlikely to be compatible with the caregiving requirements of these lone mothers. Women were being trained for jobs that required work on nights and weekends and most often in split shifts. Many of the lone mothers were aware that these types of jobs were not feasible and moreover would not allow them to exit social assistance. Many of the participants recognized that getting a post-secondary education

would be the most effective path off of receiving social assistance for them and their families. While some post-secondary programs are covered through the Employment Support component of Ontario Works, the rules and regulations surrounding them are complicated and often up to the discretion of the supervisor in the lone mothers' social services office.

6.3 Post-Secondary Schooling? Only after you've received a Master of Ontario Works.

The importance of a post-secondary education was acknowledged by both lone mothers and the caseworkers. Yet, this was not a viable option for a large portion of the lone mothers in this study due to the current policy stipulations. Changes to social assistance prohibited receiving student loans and social assistance simultaneously. If a social assistance recipient wants to go to college or university, in most instances they must apply for a student loan and, if successful, give up social assistance.

A number of lone mothers expressed a desire to obtain an education but that they thought it to be a hopeless dream as they were either too fearful about having to rely solely on student loans for their education and family living expenses or they already had too much debt to qualify for a student loan. A number of caseworkers also asserted that they believed education was the most advantageous route for the lone mothers to take. Eleanor (ERCW) explained that allowing lone mothers to receive an education was about more than just getting them a job. She insisted that "education can be so empowering and life-changing".

When asked why Ontario Works only provides specific career training courses, the caseworkers explained that, under the Employment Support program, recipients could make

a case to have different college programs covered. Employment Support allows for "Individualized Purchases" of programs, but the findings from the focus groups show considerable discretion as to whether they get approved. Caseworkers acknowledge the recipient must "really know and be able to maneuver through the system" to get their desired program approved. Wilma discussed this option, explaining that the Individualized Purchase is "the most generous training option [available]". Extensive groundwork must be done by the recipient before she can apply for the Individualized Purchase, requiring knowledge of how to navigate institutional processes. She must research three providers that teach this program and provide her caseworker with an abundance of information about the providers, including how long they have been in business and the success rate of their applicants. The caseworker then presents the Individualized Purchase application to their supervisor. If the supervisor deems the application relevant, it is then passed to the labour market coordinator. Wilma explained that "there is a lot of red tape...the labour market coordinator has to get back to the supervisor, and then there are usually two or three more things [that the applicant will be required to provide]". According to Wilma, this process takes months and is rarely successful.

Caseworker Michelle also explained the problems associated with the discretionary practices involved with the Individualized Purchases,

I feel bad for the clients because they're coming to you and saying this is what I want to do and they're expecting that you're going to solve all their problems. And I'm like, "well I'll give it a go". I don't mind fighting for you but I don't want you to get your hopes up because I don't know if it's really

going to work. I don't know what it's all about, well I'll try to be educated, going in front of my supervisor. And I'll say that it looks [good] and I think there is going to be some jobs in it. But really I don't know, I'm not in that field; I don't know what all those terms mean. And it turns out it's a complete waste of my time and I have to go back to my client, yeah sorry about that. So what courses do you maybe want to look at, and we'll start again (Michelle, SSCW).

While in policy, Employment Support allows for Individualized Purchases, there is significant discretion as to whether they get approved and according to the caseworkers who participated in the focus groups, the amounts allowable ranged from a maximum of \$1,000 for a course in one office, to \$5,000 in another office in the same municipality. The burden falls on the recipient to do all of the research and present her case to her worker. This is difficult for some lone mothers as they attempted to fulfill the obligations of their participation agreement, care for their children, and deal with a variety of other barriers that could include a lack of access to computers, lack of experience in how to do internet searches, and no phone or transportation, and issues with their health, housing and family.

Moreover, many lone mothers appeared not to be aware that these Individual Purchase options were available at all, as nine of the participants articulated the desire to enroll in a variety of programs but suggested this to be impossible while on social assistance. And, given the difficulties in getting Individual Purchase agreements approved, it may have been just as well that they were not more fully advertised. It is possible however that they could form a meaningful part of the program if the intention was to enable them as the policy prescribes.

Dion appeared to be motivated and expressed a strong desire to follow in her father's footsteps and become an auto mechanic, a job that had the potential to raise her socioeconomic status. Dion explained that when she approached her caseworker about going to school she had been told that it did not fall under their approved programs. It appeared that she was not told that an Individualized Purchase program was even an option.

Getting a career and working towards that career. For example, auto mechanic or something like that. That's what I really want to do but social services won't pay for it. They don't pay for stuff like that. What I want to do, they don't pay for it, and I don't have the money. I don't have the means to go. That's what I really wanted to do (Dion, I2).

Madison was one of the lone mothers who approached their caseworker to attend university. In each case the lone mothers were told that they must apply for a student loan and leave social assistance if they wanted to go to university. However, the option of college programs which could potentially have been purchased through the Individual Purchase program were not discussed. Many college programs are offered in Madison's desired field yet she was encouraged to take one of the programs listed and preapproved by OW (PSW, Childcare, Office skills).

I even approached [my caseworker], I said, "how about if I go to Ryerson, because Ryerson also has good programs for community and social service work". And she said, "no". So it's like no matter what, they won't help you for schooling. Only the few little courses that that are linked with their programs. You know, they're rinky dinky, non-certified. Like I said, I got like a certificate for finishing intermediate computers and office work, right. But, I wanted like to get a better job (Madison, I1).

Lone mother participants repeatedly expressed frustration at what they believed was "wasting time" with "rinky-dinky courses" rather than obtaining an education and skills that they felt would help them find paid employment.

The point, important point for me, is to be sure I can find work after that. Not just working on a course, take time and waste time. No. I want to make sure if this career or this thing, which I choose, have a future (Dayla, I1).

[These programs are] supposed to be helping people at every level, but they aren't doing that....No job, nothing, you're back where you started (Marcia, I2).

I could have went to school and did something... four years and get a job, did something, not wasting time... 'Cause I have other things to do, like getting my kids. I have so much other things to do I can't just take time for myself just to do that one part (Patricia, I3).

What is perhaps most troubling about the skills and career training programs offered through Employment Support is that the caseworkers themselves acknowledged that they are highly problematic for lone mothers. Julie, a caseworker with twenty years' experience argued that the programs are seriously flawed,

And the whole thinking, the way they designed the program is that if we can get the clients, this was the thinking from the "ups" or "ivory towers", I call it, was get them into an entry-level position, they can come off assistance and they have some skills, and if they like the childhood assistance, or if they got their AZ license and they want to become an AZ driver. If you want to progress on, you'll work in the job, get the skills and you'll take some of your money and buy the next course. That was the whole thinking, that was the way the thinking was. So that's why we only offer entry-level positions. Which works great for the single people, but it doesn't work as

well for single parents with all their other issues (Julie, SSCW).

Julie went on to explain that because of the heavy caseloads and the demands of supervisors, caseworkers are encouraged to "get them in, get them issued, get them into a program and then get them gone". As a result she recognized that there really is not anything very useful in terms of job training placements yet they have to place them somewhere.

The lone mothers in this study who were able to take a course or two at their local university expressed that they had gained self-confidence. Some of the lone mothers were able to take courses through an academic bridging program offered at their local university and one had a helpful caseworker who was knowledgeable and willing to work outside the lines to push for her to be allowed to take alternate courses than those listed. These women who in round one were self-isolated and lacked motivation appeared transformed through their post-secondary experience into self-confident women prepared to take the risk of student debt in hopes that the pay-off would outweigh the risks associated with debt. Both Jordan and Chrissy described themselves as "self-isolators" in the first round of interviewing. By round three both women had taken courses at local post-secondary schools and described themselves as "motivated" and "excited" about their futures. And although these women undertook this risk, others could not, in some cases because they could not risk the loss of other OW benefits such as drug coverage. As previously mentioned, in theory the Individualized Purchase component of Employment Support could provide better support to

lone mothers moving from social assistance to paid employment through supporting postsecondary education, however, in practice this option is rarely utilized.

With only two exceptions the lone mothers were unable to secure any type of employment from their participation in training offered through Employment Support. Many of these women felt that rather than help them move forward in their lives, the training had exacerbated their feelings of failure, after it had failed to lead to employment. The lone mothers, and at times the caseworkers viewed the inability to find and maintain employment as an individual problem rather than part of a gendered structural problem.

6.4 Community Participation

When Employment Support did not appear to be a viable option or was not resulting in the expected outcome of paid employment, caseworkers could choose to require their clients to engage in the Community Participation program. The Ontario Ministry of Community and Social Services stipulates that community participation "includes activities that allow people to contribute to the community while increasing their employability" (OMCSS, 2012). The rationale behind community participation is that people who have been out of the labour force for periods of time need opportunities to build their résumés and that volunteer work would also help build social networks which will help them to locate employment (Bezanson & Carter, 2006).

Some lone mothers spoke very highly of the roles that volunteer work played in their lives suggesting that this work "helped their self-esteem", "gave [them] respect from the

community", "taught [them] computer and office skills", "introduced them to new social networks" and in a few instances resulted in obtaining full-time employment. In round one of interviewing Madison appeared conflicted about her volunteer work. She expressed her frustration with having "to do something" while she had an infant at home, and stated that she had been told to either find another program to take, find a full-time job or start volunteering. Because her job searches were not fruitful Madison began volunteering. Later in the interview process Madison articulated that she was not only volunteering "just to do workfare", but that she was also "waiting for her resume to look good". Madison believed the premise behind the policy, that volunteering would help her acquire skills that would lead to employment. Madison did find full-time employment with her volunteer placement between rounds two and three of interviewing.

Ann, Hana and Jennifer, three lone mothers who were employed at various times over the five year time period, also believed that volunteer work had been very useful in learning skills that led them to find paid employment,

Actually, voluntary is good, because what I'm actually doing there, I'm not doing anything there that I did in the course anyway. What I'm doing there is mostly what I did while I volunteered for two years. I did a lot of faxing while I was volunteering, plus a little clerical jobs, filing, making up folders and stuff like that. I used to print flyers (Ann, I2).

I was volunteering with one organization they do, like, training for jobs and then other community services, I think, food banks and stuff. I've been volunteering there a long time, like, more than a year. Through that I found my job (Hana, I4).

Yes. So, I volunteered there and one day I got this phone call, and they were like, we'd like to hire you. I was like, what? Just based solely on my volunteer work. All the training was provided and it was very community based. (Jennifer, I2).

Ontario Works requires that recipients only volunteer in the not-for-profit sector, although some exceptions are made, and that they must change placements after six months should the placement not result in finding employment. Eight of the lone mothers expressed frustration at finding volunteer placements they really enjoyed and then being told they needed to find new placements after. Although some caseworkers allowed their clients to stay at the same agency as long as their job title changed, Maggie discussed her annoyance with confusing caseworker expectations and the lack of clear guidelines,

[My volunteer placement] was supposed to be renewed, but because I had it renewed a second time, Social Services were giving me a problem. They took away my transportation [for four months]. Because they stated I should have had a letter from [my volunteer placement] stating why I'm there, what good it is for me, where will it lead me, what kind of a job will I pick up when I'm finished, and if they can guarantee me a job. So all this information they wanted from [my volunteer placement]. Then they told me, even if you do that, we may not renew it because it's the second time you've been renewed (Maggie, I2).

Although Maggie was fulfilling her Participation Agreement by continuing to volunteer at the same agency, she lost the \$100 per month additional benefit that is granted to recipients who volunteer; it was not returned until she had jumped through several hoops, including going above her caseworker's head to have a supervisor approve the volunteer placement.

Community Participation, or as Bezanson and Carter (2006) refer to it, "compulsory volunteerism", appears to have three positive outcomes however only one, the least likely to occur, is at the center of the policy. First, lone mothers who participate in the volunteer component of Ontario Works are granted transportation costs that helped them financially for a period of time ¹³. Second, three of the lone mothers who volunteered reported that volunteering made them feel good about themselves. This could be in part because the popular discourse about social assistance recipients is such that they feel guilty for "living off of taxpayers" and wanted to give back in some way or prove themselves worthy. Third, and most important to the policy makers, volunteer work widens social networks in some cases, teaches new skills, and very occasionally leads to employment.

The Employment Support and Community Participation components are in place to help recipients acquire skills and experience to strengthen their résumés so that they are able to find paid work and exit social assistance. There is much overlap between the experiences of the lone mothers participating in either, or both, of the components. Both programs steer lone mothers into taking courses or positions in highly gendered and poorly remunerated

¹³ Recipients of Ontario Works who participate in any number of approved activities are entitled to an extra \$100.00 per month to assist with their transportation costs. These activities include employment placement, job finding, skills training, pre-employment development programs, volunteering, self-employment development program, and other educational programs such as General Educational Development (GED) or literacy and basic skills programs (OMCSS, 2010).

fields. After a social assistance recipient is seen to have developed their resume, they are referred to the Employment Placement component of Ontario Works.

6.5 Employment Placement

According to the Ontario Ministry of Community and Social Services website, "Employment Placement is an employment assistance activity where the delivery agent or broker works directly with employers to identify employment opportunities and matches participants to jobs. Employment placement activities include the provision of hiring assistance, screening and matching services to employers, job development and employer outreach" (OMCSS, 2012). The OMCSS established offices across Canada called Employment Resource Centres (ERC) to help "job ready" recipients find employment. The next section discusses the roles and responsibilities of the ERC according to the employment resource caseworkers. The gendered assumptions that underlie many of the programs offered by the ERC are highlighted as are the notions surrounding the building of social capital.

There was limited academic literature regarding the role of the ERC in helping social assistance recipients obtain employment, so in order to augment available data, I conducted a focus group with caseworker situated in these centers. The ERC caseworkers talked at length about their role in "supporting the recipient" and highlighted a number of services that they offer: job searches, access to computers, phones, fax machines and photocopiers, résumé and interview skill building as well as organizing workshops and job fairs.

We have workshops, most of our offices have put together these workshops. So that's job fair workshops, career planning workshops, financial platoon workshops, in your view networking (Marie, ERCW).

We put on job fairs. In our center we'll have agencies for employers come in. We also have things that other offices, we do a big one every year in the North York Central Library where we do it in conjunction with another office. It's usually about a thousand people that turn up to it (Jenna, ERCW).

In our office, part of the resource area is dedicated to agencies and services that potentially service barrier issues. Like addiction, and issues dealing with children, housing and illegal. Also in our office we have in the waiting room bulletin boards that are divided into different categories. One of them is for parents, one of them is for newcomers like youth and so on. And in the area we can give information about employment, being good parents, how to discipline your children. Basic information about education and library resources (Carly, ERCW).

Curiously, it appeared from the interview data that lone mother recipients had been often left to their own devices to find out about the services offered through the ERC. Only one of the social services caseworkers indicated that they usually mentioned the ERC in their first meetings and explain the services offered. She stated that she would walk her clients to the ERC and show them around. Michelle explained that she only took a specific type of recipient to the ERC,

So basically those are highly job ready clients and they don't need any handholding. So basically you take them in and say this is the resource center, you have to check in with them and they will explain the whole details about how frequently you have to check in, and then they're given the transportation for three months (Michelle, SSCW).

This is somewhat perplexing as almost all of the lone mothers indicated that their caseworkers were urging them into the workforce yet the ERC, which has the most

information accessible and resources required to facilitate a job search, construct, print and fax résumés is only explicitly offered to recipients that the caseworker deems job-ready. The focus group with ERC workers revealed that lone mothers are rarely deemed "job ready" by their caseworkers due to their caregiving responsibilities although are required to participate in the other two components of Ontario Works.

The ERC caseworkers discussed several pilot projects that they felt were most successful in helping recipients find employment. For each program offered under the pilot project the caseworkers asserted that a recipient must be "highly employable" and have "no barriers to employment" to participate. These pilot projects had been constructed to build networks and 'stocks' of social capital. Janelle describes SCORE, the program she felt was most successful in teaching recipients how to network and find employment,

SCORE stands for "Social Capital Opportunities Regarding Employment". It was a private project that three offices did... What it is in the two full-day workshop, where we teach people about networking and what it is. The first day we basically talk about the concept of networking and what it is. And the next day we talk about networking and how they can apply that to their job search. We physically give them a job search calendar, cards to use so that they can track their job search—so apply the networking concepts to their actual job search. And then we successfully met with them every two weeks I think at the beginning just to see how they were doing. The first group had about 20 people to start with, they all started to interact very well with each other and go to job fairs together and stuff. Most of them I think were successful in finding employment. The ones I know found employment, the others I haven't heard from since. But we think they're employed (Janelle, ERCW).

Janelle went on to explain that SCORE teaches recipients "how to talk to any one of the people who may help them get their lives together" as it is "those contacts [which] can lead to information or job leads which lead them to employment". Babette contended that SCORE was so successful at moving recipients to networking to find employment that they developed a supplementary project called SNAP.

Okay because of SCORE, you've got people coming from the same office, and because once we finished SCORE we had a target group of 50 who completed the program and just kept on going with the biweekly meetings. People had so strongly connected because they were coming from the same office, and because the ERC connection too. They can drop by whenever and see what's going on. They shared job leads because they shared e-mail addresses and that kind of thing. Some started branching off into groups. That was one really unique and positive component of score and that's where SNAP came about. We didn't want to stop the program as we did want to leave them. Instead of being like, thanks for participating in SCORE and you know we're done with you. So we brought it forward and made up a sheet and brought it to management. They approved it not for our full conductivity, but for 40 hours of a support mechanism. And because of score being trademarked or whatever, we couldn't use something related to SCORE. So we asked the participants to come up with their own name, and they came up with SNAP. So, support network and participation (Babette, ERCW).

Access to these successful pilot projects was limited. When asked about the demographics of the population who participated in SCORE and SNAP Janelle claimed that "a lot of people were single parents or they were newly immigrated to the country and didn't know social customs". Babette, however, highlighted the fact that the sole support parents who were able to participate likely already had social networks as they were required to have

sustainable childcare in place prior to signing up for the workshops. Janelle explained that the type client often changes for the workshops offered as the recipients that are the most job ready are referred first.

When we start a new program or workshop everyone's excited and everyone applies to it. Then after a while it seems to sort of fizzle out. The last couple groups we got were not that enthusiastic because caseworkers know their client and when you bring in a new program and announce it, they'll say I have the perfect client for it. But when you're doing it six months later and they have already sent their clients to it, you're sort of scraping the bottom of the barrel so to speak (Janelle, ERCW).

Janelle's comment suggests that the social assistance recipients with the most barriers in finding employment are viewed as the "problem" rather than the structure of the programs and workshops. Janelle contended that "unfortunately you can't help everybody. Sometimes there are people there's nothing you can do with". Very few of the lone mothers who participated in this study interacted with the ERC on any level and of those who did, none had a positive review. Alice argued that the ERC could not offer help with locating employment, but only with writing and printing her résumé which she already had done. Sam also complained that the ERC was not useful to her,

The problem is with that Employment Resources, you're only allowed to use computer for 30 minutes. Barely [enough time], because you're looking for your research for a job, and after that, you have to go get your résumé, attach your résumé and email to them. By the time you do that, you need an hour, at least (Sam, I2).

None of the other lone mothers discussed going to the ERC and some appeared unaware that the center existed at all. By the very nature of their circumstances as sole

support parents it would seem that most lone parents in poverty would fall under the "barrier" category which would disqualify them from participating in many of the workshops offered at the ERC. Thus, perhaps it is not so surprising that few participants had been to the ERC. However, the data from interviews paints a picture of caseworkers continually pushing paid employment over employment support or community participation. Carly, an Employment Resource Centre caseworker contended that according to her Toronto Social Services caseworker training, caseworkers are taught that all recipients are employable.

To be considered employable [by Ontario Works] you have to have a pulse and heartbeat. Workers are referring people to placement programs when a client says they'll take anything, and off they go and they're not job ready at all. Every agency has poor stats because they're dealing with people who should be in pre-employment dealing with resumes and self-esteem (Carly, ERCW).

Pilot projects such as SCORE and SNAP "prove" to be successful because the majority of participants found employment. The credibility of these programs and of OW itself are enhanced as tax payers are reassured by positive outcomes statistics with little revealing details about who is becoming employed or perhaps even more importantly, where this employment is being found. In addition, recipients with multiple barriers continue to be looked upon negatively as they have not been able to become "independent" despite all of the "help" being offered to them through social services.

The front line workers who took part in this study all recognized that Ontario Works was fraught with problems. As discussed above, caseworkers recognized that many of the job training programs currently available have little merit and that they often recommend

courses to clients "just to have them doing something". Caseworkers believed that OW needed to expand their programs to offer life skills courses as this was an important first step in becoming "job ready".

I would also like to see better programs like for skill development, I would love that. Because when they're coming to us and asking for this and, and I'm like no we don't have any. I think that's very defeating for them. Because then they don't know where to go after that. I would love to see better programs for them (Michelle, SSCW).

Caseworkers reported that large case loads make it difficult for them to keep their clients informed of all of the options available. Like just about all other employers, TESS, has over the last 20 years been forced to reduce spending and as a result has significantly changed the role of its frontline welfare workers. The idea of caseworkers as social workers has been significantly eroded, as they are now as much responsible for financial allocation and monitoring as anything else (Cumming & Caragata, 2011). Julie, as part of a pilot project, reported having the lowest number of cases, 68, while Tracy reported the highest caseload at 135 cases. All of the caseworkers discussed the frustrations associated with maintaining heavy case loads, especially when they maintained 'generalized' as opposed to 'specialized' case loads. Angie echoed the sentiments of many of the caseworkers stating, "We were better off when we were doing specialized caseloads because I think it's better to be a master of the craft". Caseworkers felt strongly that specialized caseloads allow the workers to become more familiar with the extra benefits and programs that one specific group of individuals is entitled to receive. Additionally, the caseworkers asserted that large

caseloads place unrealistic demands upon their time and are not conducive to serving the client's needs appropriately.

All of the caseworkers confirmed that lone parents have special needs that that would benefit by handling in a specialized caseload. Eleanor recognized that programs such as SCORE and SNAP were only beneficial to highly employable recipients but she theorized that, like the cohesive group that developed under those pilot projects, lone parents would do better in career planning sessions with others in similar circumstances to themselves,

I'm thinking in terms of career planning, we have to maybe start looking at making it very specific to groups. It goes back to SCORE and to SNAP because people who came from scorer and are in snap now have the strong connection with other people in the same office. The problem was that they were highly employable, they were on OW and were looking for employment. So we can do a better job of providing services if we look at bringing single parents into a career planning session. So if you're talking about transferring skills, it's going to be a lot easier for the single parents to identify in a work situation because they're on the same boat, you a lot more in common and that's going to bring about social networking. Because now they might not feel so isolated and he can maybe connect with as few people who are experiencing the same thing. People have maybe found ways of overcoming something and they can share that during that process. Maybe because of the career planning with the sole support parents or mature experienced workers. We can turn it over to a biweekly of some kind where they meet informally and giving them an opportunity or whatever. Maybe we focused on sole support parents who may be have their children in school, day care is technically not an issue, they don't have a marketable skill (Eleanor, ERCW).

Madeline maintained that the ERC was highly useful for social assistance recipients however most of the ERC caseworkers noted that the ratio of recipients who access the facilities compared to the number of people receiving social assistance is quite low.

The Employment Placement function was not favourably reviewed by lone mothers in the study. Under this program, OMCSS works directly with specific employers to match participants to programs and jobs available within an organization. One of the study participants who had trained through OW as a Pharmacy Technician and another who had trained as a Personal Support Worker were connected to a hiring pharmacy through their caseworkers as part of the Employment Placement program. Both were highly critical of this program. Both claimed they felt stigmatized because the employers were aware they were associated with social services. Alice explained that, while interviewing for a technician position, she was directly asked whether she was a social assistance recipient,

...I had the interview last week. So I went for the interview and you know the one question he asked me? The owner, he's the manager and the owner; he asks me, "Are you getting welfare?" (Alice, I3).

Helen, a lone mother, also criticized the program for the same reason. She argued that her employer had been continually rude to her because of her status as a social assistance recipient. Discussing her position as a PSW Helen stated,

First when I got the job...because they work with the government. They have a training program. I joined the program and after that I got a job. They know we're in social assistance; they are not nice to us. (Helen, I1)

Yes, because she knew [that I was on assistance] before I got that job, their company [works] with the social assistance [system],together they have the training program. Train people doing this kind of job. And she knew I was in social assistance before, and then she always [looks at me] with these eyes (Helen, I2).

The partnering of Ontario Works and workplaces to facilitate job placements could be a proactive and effective step. However, as experienced by the very few lone mothers who were able to secure employment in these workplaces the negative societal views of welfare recipients permeated the workplace and trumped any sense of accomplishment or independence that might have been expected to be associated with getting a job. Any self-confidence the mothers gained from finding employment and providing for their children was diminished by employers who continuously referred to their status as welfare recipients. It is not clear whether these problems arose because of how the program was structured, including implicit or explicit messages given to employers by OW staff, or whether the negative images of those on assistance are simply too powerful to have this status known to an employer.

While barriers to employment are explicitly recognized by front line workers the "problem" is consistently placed on the person with the barriers rather than on the structure of the policy and its related programs that ignores structural barriers. Even when barriers are explicitly addressed as in the SNAP and SCORE initiatives, they often ignore particular and "problematic" recipients, including lone mothers. While lack of social capital is recognized as detrimental to and programs are established to help overcome this "barrier" to employment, participation seems to require existing social networks. Thus the single parents who don't have

these networks are excluded from opportunities to build them. It is both interesting and important to note that social capital appears to be conceived of in two different ways; it is seen as a product of the individual but also seen to be built through the community. This may seem a small matter in the scheme of a large program, but rather on the basis of these data this type of mixed and confusing message appears too frequently, likely frustrating both clients and workers and impeding strong outcomes.

Caseworkers are given contradictory messages as they are taught that all recipients are employable as long as they "have a pulse and a heartbeat" and then are required to push the lone mothers into programs that by their very design are destined to lead to failure. Even though there is recognition that the lone mother population face particular barriers which make locating employment difficult and recognition that the current programs offered are designed for people without barriers, caseworkers still place blame on the individual lone mothers who are "doing absolutely nothing" and are getting "free money" and in turn question why these lone mothers are "not able to do it".

6.6 Conclusion

Employment Support, Community Participation and Employment Placement could potentially help recipients build skill sets, stronger résumés and social capital, and in turn find employment. It may be that if all recipients were single and without dependents, able bodied, English speaking, were legally able to work in Canada and were without any criminal records these supports would have been successful. The women who participated in this

study were single but with dependents, many were not able bodied or had children who were not, for many English was not their first language and a smaller group of them either lacked work permits or had past criminal records. Moreover many of the lone mothers were educated and had work histories prior to receipt of social assistance.

The women's caregiving responsibilities were viewed in contradictory ways. The lone mothers were expected by their caseworkers to participate in the Employment Support and Community Participation components of Ontario Works and yet were generally excluded from participating in Employment Support due to their parenting responsibilities. Building social capital is viewed as key to integrating social assistance recipients into the labour market and yet lone mothers are excluded from participating due to their lack of pre-existing social capital.

All of the participants in this research were receiving social assistance at the beginning of this study and thus had been exposed to the various components of Ontario Works throughout the five years of this study. It can be argued that if the programs were successful in integrating social assistance recipients into paid work we would see that many of the lone mother participants would have located paid employment by the end of the study. The following chapter discusses the lone mothers' trajectories over the five years of the study in relation to paid work. As will be illustrated in the next chapter, the lone mothers' experiences with these programs do not often coincide with the programs' expected outcomes.

Chapter 7

Lone Mother Trajectories: "Stayers", "traders", "blenders", "betweeners", and "leavers"

Chapter five introduced the lone mother participants' paths onto assistance and Chapter six provided an overview of the role played by Ontario Works in moving social assistant recipients to paid employment. The present chapter explores the trajectories of the thirty participants as they navigated Ontario's welfare to work regime. This chapter serves to answer key questions of the research: who left social assistance and who stayed How were these transitions made possible? What supports, if any, did the lone mothers rely on when entering into paid work? What barriers were faced by the lone mothers who were unable to exit?

At the outset of this endeavour the research goal was to uncover the critical elements that led to lone mothers to entering the workforce. I anticipated finding indicators that I could map, such as workable childcare arrangements, obtaining a vehicle, overcoming an addiction and gaining support networks. Once I could pinpoint the important factors I believed that there would be indicators that would support policy recommendations.

¹⁴ In this study a lone mother no longer receiving any money or drug coverage from Ontario Works is counted as having exited social assistance.

What became apparent over the five years of the study is that the lone mothers' lives rarely followed a linear path from social assistance receipt, through résumé building and finding employment, to building the social networks that might lead to better jobs. Between rounds of interviews, many of the lone mothers moved between paid employment and social assistance and back again. Clearly, then, categorizing the outcomes of the lone mothers exclusively in terms of "successes" or "failures" in meeting the Ontario Works goal was unlikely to yield a detailed understanding of those realities. Another typology was needed.

Previous studies analyzing welfare recipients have used a typology of three to describe the circumstances and characteristics of welfare recipients. Miller (2002), for example used "leavers" to describe people who leave welfare and stay off for one year, "stayers" to describe people who stay on welfare persistently, and "cyclers" to describe people who cycle on and off the welfare system.

Miller's typology proved inadequate to my task. Miller's study was based on quantitative data tracking American welfare recipients over a ten year period. The typology was based on long term leavers—those who had remained without receipt of assistance for a minimum of one year. "Stayers" were defined as those who continuously stayed on social assistance throughout the time period under investigation. "Cyclers" were those who had switched between social assistance and paid employment and back again at any point in the study.

The present study is qualitative and limited to a five year glimpse into the lives of one particular group of social assistant recipients. The lone mothers' life circumstances varied considerably, making their transitions into paid employment difficult to compartmentalize using Miller's three heads alone. In addition, I found that a finer distinction in categories could yield more instructive information on the barriers that my study group faced.

The data from the interviews suggested five types of outcomes among the participants. The typology presented here is based upon the lone mothers receipt or non-receipt of social assistance at the end of the five years. As discussed in chapter five, some of the lone mothers exited in early rounds of interviewing while for others the exits were recent. The typology is presented and then is followed by the salient factors which appeared to either hinder or facilitate a transition off of social assistance.

The "leavers" were the eight mothers who, by the end of the survey period, had exited social assistance due to their attachment to the labour market; these eight represent less than one third of the lone mothers in this study. Five additional lone mothers left the welfare rolls; I have called them "traders" because they traded Ontario Works benefits for a different government benefit. Three others continued to receive minimal social assistance to supplement other sources of income; these lone mothers are referred to as "blenders", as they had not fully left social assistance. "Betweeners" refers to the lone mothers who had been employed at several interviews, but did not have employment at interview four. These two "betweeners" were surviving through savings in round four. It was not clear however, if they were just in a period between different places of employment or between employment and

reapplying for social assistance. Twelve of the lone mothers were "stayers", as they had not left social assistance for any other types of support throughout the duration of the study.

This chapter provides a glimpse into the lives of the lone mothers who came under each category in the typology. It begins with the "leaver" and "stayer" categories, as they capture what Ontario Works might consider the successes and the failures of its programs. These two categories alone might seem the best place to focus an investigation of barriers to integration of lone mother social assistance recipients into the labour market. However, because of the fluidity in the lives of the women in the study and the fact that the categorization of each woman refers only to her means of support at a particular moment in time (the fourth set of interviews), I follow with data on the "traders", "blenders" and "betweeners". While the trajectories of these women are less clear-cut, they offer important insights into the continuing challenges faced by the broader group.

7.1 Leavers

"Leavers" are the group of lone mothers who at the end of the fourth interview were no longer in receipt of Ontario Works and were working full time. Overall, work for pay played a less central role in the lives of the lone mothers than I originally anticipated. In total sixteen lone mothers had exited social assistance at the end of the five year period. Of these, only eight were working full-time and not receiving any Ontario Works benefits at all.

However, these results in no way indicate that the lone mothers had reached "independence"

as, with the exception of one woman, each leaver received at least one other state-provided benefit, such as subsidized housing or subsidized childcare.

No single factor seemed to have led to these mothers' leaving welfare for work.

Rather, each did so because a number of factors, some peculiar to the particular mother and some independent of her, fell into place at precisely the right time. The intensive mothering ideology and social networks together played a significant role in their ability to exit social assistance via attachment to the labour market.

The welfare of their children was a factor in many of the lone mothers' decisions about exiting social assistance. For many of them, they described leaving their children with strangers so that they could work full-time as paralyzing. Some had chosen to stay home with their children for multiple rounds of interviewing despite living in poverty. Five of the lone mothers who had exited social assistance by round four of interviewing claimed in earlier interviews that they needed to stay at home with their children, who were their top priority. Despite being urged into the paid labour market by caseworkers these lone mothers reported choosing to "be there for [their] children" and only entered into the labour market when they felt that their children were old enough to not be "traumatized by [their] working".

You know being a parent is very difficult, but single parent is more difficult. For myself, I want to live my life with my kids. If I'm going to get a job, but it's not convenient for my kids, I don't take that job. I will wait to watch my kids what are they doing, what is going on in the school because I heard from a lot of people, they do two jobs and they don't have time with the kids. The kids they make friends with bad people, so it's so scary (Alice, I2).

I don't want to work full-time because I want to have my boys and be there for them because this is the time that they really need me (Hana, I2).

Among the women who asserted that they would stay home until their children were an appropriate age, there was great variety in determining what that age would be. It is important to note that 'appropriate age' was not determined by the Ontario Works practice of exempting mothers of children aged four. Once these lone mothers felt that their children reached an age that was appropriate for them to start thinking about their future, they exited assistance for either paid employment or took on a student loan and began attending post-secondary school. For some, once their children were in school full days, they felt that they could focus on paid employment; for others, it was not until their children were in their early teens. Moreover, for at least one of the lone mothers, Jennifer, this was not until her children entered post-secondary schooling.

My son now has gone...He's in grade one. So he does more of a full-time in school (Madison, I3).

I think every day, every time, I think about my kids and myself and my future, and I think and think, and then I said "I had to change my career". Because I don't want to stay home, my kids [are older now]. They don't need me a lot (Alice, I4).

Family was relied upon for childcare in some cases. Jessica and Natalie, the two mothers whose children were still too young to stay at home by themselves, had been able to exit social assistance at least in part due to having family members who had provided care for their children. These lone mothers were able to work outside the confines of childcare

hours as they had family members they trusted who were willing to watch their children. Prior to obtaining subsidized housing, each resided with a parent, which helped reduce costs and gave them access to caregiving support. These lone mothers were not isolated in the same way other lone mothers reported feeling. Over the course of this project, both lone mothers reunited with family members who in turn shouldered some of the caregiving responsibilities. The father of one of the lone mother's children resumed care taking responsibilities which increased with every interview. By round four Natalie and her child's father were sharing custody equally, and most often arranged their schedules around her work schedule. This flexibility allowed Natalie to increase her income by taking shifts outside of normal childcare hours and gave her peace of mind knowing her child was being well cared for by his father and paternal grandmother who co-reside. Jessica, the other young lone mother leaver, reconnected with her mother who took an avid interest in her grandchild's life providing childcare and allowing Jessica flexibility outside of her subsidized hours.

Direct links to supplementary services appears to have played an important role in the trajectory of leavers. The majority of the lone mothers who participated in this study received some combination of state-provided benefits beyond welfare benefit; these included subsidized childcare and subsidized housing. The method by which the benefits were accessed appears to have played a substantial role in Ontario Works. Seven of the lone mother leavers were linked directly to an array of services as a result of their involvement with either helpful shelters or the LEAP program.

The shelter system acted as a link for a group of the lone mother leavers. Of the lone mothers working for pay and completely off assistance Alice, Helen, Hana and Michelle have some shared circumstances. All four women were immigrants to Canada and all had fled their abusive spouses and resided in shelters prior to the receipt of social assistance. The shelter that the leavers went to were able to directly link the lone mothers to a myriad of resources such as subsidized housing, subsidized childcare, legal aid, counseling and other support networks.

The young lone mothers who took part in LEAP, a service plan available through Ontario Works to all young parents between the ages of 16 and 25, and mandatory for 16-and 17-year-olds with one or more dependents, also had many more resources available to them than did lone mothers who received regular Ontario Works. LEAP participants are required to work towards completion of their high school diploma and must participate in a minimum of 35 hours of parenting courses (OMCSS, 2012b). Volunteer or part-time employment is also encouraged. These formal support systems offered lone mothers a direct connection to other sources of support. Natalie and Jessica had the least work experience and little education when they first received social assistance; yet both women were able to find and maintain employment. According to the caseworkers interviewed, LEAP is the most generous plan provided through Ontario Works. Sara and Cory, social assistance caseworkers who have primarily LEAP-based case loads, both commended the program for its focus on schooling and in offering support rather than pushing a work-first approach.

When I was on the LEAP program, I used to say to them "I would rather you be in school right now and receive assistance, for you to further your education and then I'm not ever going to see you again, because then you'll have the skills where it will lead you to place where you'll be self-sufficient". So if they're putting it in a right way, and doing the right things to move them forward. I would rather see that happen in this whole yo-yo thing that keeps coming back on a regular basis (Sara, SSCW).

LEAP is very flexible. So they can go and take one course, they can go to alternative courses. The parenting course could be like the public nurse coming into their home. It is so flexible. So with LEAP, I have lot of things that I can issue. Clients that get 200 or 300 extra a month, 250 a year for clothing, 200 a year for school supplies, 360 for tutoring. That's where I don't have the issue of client yelling and screaming at me, they're also more vulnerable if they want community startup they will get it as well as the exception (Cory, SSCW).

This generous program provides much more support and allowed Natalie and Jessica education alternatives that others were unable to access: each woman was pushed to finish her high school as a condition for participating in LEAP. LEAP helped both of these lone mothers to secure subsidized housing and childcare. Additionally, as part of LEAP, the young lone mother leavers both participated in paid speaking events at local high schools to educate youth about the realities of teen pregnancies. This gave the lone mothers self-confidence and helped them to learn to be extroverted, which lends itself nicely to acquiring bridging social capital.

Connections played an important role in the trajectory of each lone mother leaver. We often hear the adage "it's not what you know, it's who you know" when discussing how to

find employment. While many were involved in multiple components of Ontario Works employment programs, some of the employed lone mothers attributed their success in finding paid employment to "knowing the right people". Loose connections were drawn upon during job searches. Friends and acquaintances of the lone mother leavers were the primary link into the labour market for some of the lone mothers.

My friend that worked there before. She used to work there. She told me that – like, some people were talking, and then it just so happens that she finds out that her manager was my manager and that's how – kind of, it all started. So, I'm – like, okay, get me a job (Jessica, I2).

Well, it's through a friend. My mother used to say, it's who you know. So, he's told them a little bit about me. He's told them my situation. I don't know if he's told them I'm a single parent on social services, but he's told them I'm going to school in May (Jennifer, I2).

Alice attributed her personal involvement with a not-for-profit organization as her link to become successful in obtaining work. Alice had much difficulty obtaining sustainable employment although she had successfully completed several programs offered through Ontario Works. Although Alice had several certificates, she was continually turned down for jobs due to her lack of experience in the field. After much frustration Alice was introduced to a not-for-profit organization by an acquaintance.

Yeah, and she said, if you don't have a job, you can come here every Wednesday, because she has a group there every Wednesday, she's running the group, is women talk about the stress and I think it's help... And she—every time, every time I had interview and I call her, and I talk to her and she said... and she give me advice after the interview, how you feel?

And... and... what I'm to do is a follow-up after the interview (Alice, I3).

Some of the lone mothers reported obtaining employment through connections they made while fulfilling parts of their Participation Agreement. Madison and Hana made acquaintances through their volunteer positions to whom they attributed their ability to find employment. Madison, a lone mother who had exited by round two of interviewing, met a woman through her volunteer position who took her under wing. This woman shared inside information about employment opportunities that were coming up and gave Madison the questions she was going to ask in the interview ahead of time so that Madison could prepare better than other applicants.

So, when she did get [a new job], she goes: Okay. My position is up. She goes: Apply right away. So, it was me and two other people who applied. And another person did work at the food bank. It was another volunteer... And she was in with the interview. It was her and [the supervisor]. So, she -- kind of, gave me a head's up with a few questions that she was going to ask (Madison, I2).

Hana who exited just prior to round four of interviewing also claimed that it was the connections that she made through being permitted to volunteer at one placement for longer than the mandated six months that eventually led her to find full-time employment and exit social assistance,

I was volunteering with one organization; it's the same thing. They do, like, training for jobs and then other community services, I think, food banks and stuff. I've been volunteering there a long time; I can say, like, more than a year. Through [a connection I made there] I found my job (Hana, I4).

Jennifer who also exited in round four once her youngest child had entered post-secondary school, attributed her success in finding full-time employment not to a Microsoft program offered through OW, but to the personal connections she made with the instructors, which provided the linkage she required to find employment. Jennifer explained that one of her instructors forwarded her name and contact information to a company looking for some temporary workers.

It was through the school. [The company I work for] called Micro Skills and said, "We just need someone for 2 weeks. We sent out 10,000 invoices. We just want someone who's reliable that'll show up every day and answer the phone." It started off as a two-week you know, we were sending out all these invoices, we need someone to just follow up about these calls. You'd be calling customers; very easy, very low key and then after two weeks I said, "Okay, see you later." "No, oh no, no we want you to stay 'cause there's more work for you to do." Then it became a month and then 2 months and then 3 months and then in January they put me on the full-time payroll (Jennifer, I4).

There are many similarities between the lone mother leavers and stayers. The majority of both groups were immigrants, had access to subsidized childcare and subsidized housing and participated in multiple programs provided through the Ontario Work's framework. However, the cumulative effects of the barriers faced by the lone mother stayers were not cushioned by any type of social capital. Rather, these lone mothers remained excluded from participating in their communities, sometimes their children's lives and the workforce.

7.2 Stayers

At the end of the study, twelve women remained in receipt of social assistance and were not attached to the labour market. While four of the lone mothers were able to secure employment in previous rounds of interviewing only one of the stayers had earned enough to exit social assistance at any point during the study. In each circumstance the lone mothers' life circumstances resulted in an inability to sustain labour market attachment. All of the lone mother stayers experienced a combination of the barriers examined below.

These lone mothers had multiple barriers, in addition to their immigration status that made exiting social assistance more difficult. For two of these lone mothers however, their lack of work permits posed the clearest impediment to attaching to the labour market for multiple rounds of interviewing. In the first round of interviewing Kayla discussed her inability to make plans for the future due to her lack of a work permit,

I have my career, which I want to start and I can't start because of my status. I have my school that I'm interested in but I can't go to because of my status. I can't work because of my status. I'm not supposed to be on welfare because I haven't got any status, but I'm applying for humanitarian grounds. I'm not supposed to be on welfare, but it's like, okay, I have two kids. How else am I going to survive? I'm not supposed to work illegally and I don't have a worker's permit. I'm not supposed to go to school, because I don't have a study permit, and I'm not supposed to be on welfare. So how am I supposed to survive? (Kayla, I1).

In the second round of interviewing, Dion was working on obtaining her high school diploma while she waited for a work permit. In round three Dion had received her work

permit however had not located work, a situation that she found very frustrating which is exacerbated when she still cannot locate work by round four.

It's terrible, 'cause not even a job can get. Nothing and how long I'm waiting for a call from McDonald's after I go there. I keep applying, like, everywhere already, Wal-Mart, everywhere, it's like... I don't know what's going on. I hear other people complain about it too (Dion, I4).

While in the first two rounds of interviewing Dion attributed her inability to find paid work to her lack of status in Canada it became clear by rounds three and four that there were multiple other barriers preventing attachment to the labour market for Dion as well as the other lone mother stayers. The stayers experienced multidimensional disadvantage which severed them from the major social processes and opportunities in society. For a group of the lone mother stayers their poverty was intensified by the sheer number of family members in the household requiring care.

Five of the immigrant lone mothers had four or more children. Dion and Patricia had four children, Ventura and Sophie had five children and Marcia had six. Having large families was a drain on finances, created crowded housing situations and made finding enough subsidized childcare spots near impossible. Large families complicated the lives of the stayers in another important way. All five of the lone mother stayers with four or more children had a high level of involvement with the Children's Aid Society (CAS) and had changes in the number of children residing with them throughout the study. Ventura had five children however only two resided with her at the time of the first interview. She reported difficult relationships with most of her children and had been accused of abandonment.

Ventura had given custody of one of her children to her aunt and another got into trouble with the law and deported back to the Caribbean. Through all rounds of interviewing Marcia appeared be at a standstill as she attempted to get through the day-to-day grind of living in poverty with so many mouths to feed. Marcia maintained that her children often ran wild and refused to go to school. CAS was heavily involved in her life. Patricia had four children at the outset of the study; three were in her aunt's custody as she struggled with addiction when she was younger. Although Patricia stated that she was fighting for custody of her children, two remained in her aunt's care throughout, while one chose to move back in with her by round three. Sophie gave birth to five children, one of whom she gave up for adoption, one who lived with his father and three who remained in her custody. Children's Aid Society monitored the children's well-being on a regular basis for all of these lone mothers.

Children with behavioural issues were also a barrier to employment. One of the children who remained in Sophie's custody had been sexually molested at the age of three and exhibited several emotional and behavioural problems as a result. Other lone mother stayers explained that their children had high needs, which made participating in the labour market difficult. Jane was working a part-time job in round one of interviewing. However she stated that she was forced to quit working by round two to deal with the behavioural issues of her autistic son. She reported her son's behavioural issues escalated each round. Andrea, a young lone mother, also reported that her child's behavioural issues made finding and holding employment very difficult. Although Andrea had reported working in multiple rounds of interviewing, by round four she had given up paid employment and was instead

upgrading her schooling in an Ontario Works provided program as this allowed her to be available to her son who had lost his childcare spot and was no longer able to take the bus to school due to his behavioural issues.

The birth of other children posed additional barriers to employment. Three stayers, two of whom worked for pay in the early rounds of interviewing, reported being unemployed in round four because they had had new babies. Ann had been working part-time in round one; in round two she worked full-time and received assistance. In round three Ann revealed that she had lost her job between rounds two and three and had also given birth to another child. The child's father was the same man who had fathered her second child; he did not reside in Canada. By round four Ann disclosed that she was "struggling more than ever to make ends meet on assistance". Sam, a young lone mother, was doing well between rounds one and two. She had upgraded her schooling and was working at a job she enjoyed when she found out she was pregnant again. In round three Sam had lost her job and was receiving EI. In round four Sam was struggling to get through each day as the lone mother of two young children. Similarly, Patricia revealed in round four that she had given birth to another baby but was not living with the father. Although Patricia had not found work, she vehemently argued that she wanted to change her life and exit assistance,

What do I need to make it better? I need a job. That's one thing, I need a job. I need to get off welfare, because I don't want to raise my children on welfare. I really don't – and it's hard to find a job in this economy nowadays, right? (Patricia, I4).

Some of the stayers' lives were negatively affected by relationships with men formed over the duration of the study. Sam and Fiona appeared to be doing well in round two of interviewing as they both had secured work they enjoyed. However by round three, both women frankly discussed the negative impact that new relationships were having on their lives. Fiona allowed her boyfriend to move in with her between rounds two and three, and in round three divulged that he was a drug addict and had put her in arrears in both her rent and with her childcare provider. Fiona appeared to spiral downwards after this relationship, losing her job and becoming addicted to pain killers by round four. Sam had also entered into a relationship with a man whom she claimed to have not known was selling drugs. In addition to her job ending and switching from working to receiving unemployment insurance benefits, Sam discovered she was pregnant. When she told her boyfriend of her pregnancy, he informed her that he lived with another woman and his children. Both of these women also reported being abused by the fathers of their first children.

Abuse, combined with a lack of support networks made it difficult for three of the lone mothers to live their lives free of fear. Dayla, Dion and Jane had immigrated to Canada with their husbands and had children. All three women eventually fled abusive husbands and resided in shelters. Dayla's relationship with her ex-husband resulted in high levels of fear and anxiety that she struggled to cope with during the first three rounds of interviewing. Between round two and three of interviewing, Dayla's ex-husband was arrested as he attempted to abduct their children from school and was incarcerated. In round three Dayla had moved into a subsidized housing unit; however, rather than exhibiting joy at finally

having a place of her own Dayla explained that she lived in constant fear of retribution from her ex. In round four Dayla's husband was deported and she was awarded full custody of their children. While she had been unable to secure work throughout the duration of the research project, in the final round she was excited that for the "first time [she] feels safe and like there might be a future".

Subsidized housing were a form of support for many of the lone mothers in this study. However, the location and condition of the particular housing unit proved to be of importance when investigating exits from social assistance. Most of the lone mother stayers resided in subsidized housing; some were linked to housing through shelters, much like the lone mother leavers. However, the stayers indicated that the quality of their housing acted as one of the biggest barriers to them pursuing financial independence. All except two of the stayers resided in "crime infested neighbourhoods" in homes which were "infested with cockroaches and bed bugs". These women reported "living in fear [of their] neighbourhoods" and "staying indoors as soon as it is dark".

Overcrowded housing was also a problem for some lone mothers. The cost of housing was often so prohibitive that until subsidized housing was granted, lone mothers were forced to rent housing insufficient to their needs. Dion rented a two bedroom apartment with her four children. Even after obtaining subsidized housing, they only secured a three bedroom unit for six of them to share. Likewise, Marcia had a four bedroom unit for her family of seven. It is important to note that in addition to the overcrowding Marcia and Dion report the worst housing conditions of any participants: overcrowding, bedbug and cockroach

infestations, high crime areas, no connections with neighbours, fear for their children's safety were all concerns voiced by these lone mothers.

In addition the lone mother stayers reported instability in their housing. As children moved away from their homes, the lone mothers' eligibility for subsidized housing changed and they were downsized into smaller housing units. This resulted in multiple moves for some of the lone mother stayers, making it difficult to maintain friendships with their neighbours. Patricia and Ventura had moved between each round of interviewing, and Sophie had moved twice. Patricia explained that frequent moves resulted in her "never knowing who [her] neighbours are".

The ability to make social networks is even more difficult for the two lone mother stayers who did not have subsidized housing. Sophie lived in market-priced housing for multiple rounds of interviewing; but was often unable to keep up with the rent and was evicted. In the final round of interviewing she explained that she "was sick of having no money so [she decided] not to pay rent this month". As this was not the first time Sophie did not pay her rent, it seemed that another eviction would take place in the near future. Pauline was living in an expensive one bedroom apartment with her daughter as she "wanted her to have nice things and be in a nice area" when she was arrested for narcotics possession.

Pauline and her daughter were then evicted and lost all of their belongings. Pauline's daughter moved in with her father and Pauline became homeless. Pauline remained homeless for the final two rounds of interviewing.

Addiction issues also plagued some of the stayers' lives. Patricia and Pauline were two Aboriginal lone mothers who remained in receipt of social assistance by round four. Both women discussed families with long histories of drug and alcohol addiction. In round one both appeared to have successfully distanced themselves from that lifestyle. By round three, however, Pauline's life changed drastically when she was arrested in a drug raid and incarcerated for a period. Pauline revealed that she had started to going to counselling for the abuse she experienced in the residential schools and started using drugs again to cope. By round four Pauline was still using drugs and remained homeless. Patricia did not report using drugs but dealt constantly with addicted family members.

Sophie had likewise struggled to overcome a tumultuous past that included addiction. When Sophie found out she was pregnant for the first time, she was a 20-year-old, homeless drug addict. Sophie struggled to get her life on track for the duration of the study. In round one Sophie explained that her immediate goals were to get her high school equivalency certificate, her driving license and a car. Between round one and round two Sophie experienced some traumatic losses: her brother, her cousin and her close friend died in the same week. Sophie listed goals in each round of interviewing; however, she was unable to accomplish any of her goals by round four and was in fact in a more precarious situation than she had been throughout the interviewing process. Sophie did not reveal whether she was still using narcotics.

These factors that acted as barriers to employment seem to have reduced the stayers' already low self-esteem which in turn appears to have affected their ability to make social

networks. The emotional damage from being abused, the unrelenting responsibility for raising challenging or numerous children, frightening housing conditions, and addiction issues are factors which, taken individually, could be expected to impact a lone mother's ability to be an active participant in her community. Most stayers experienced two or more of these factors simultaneously.

7.3 Traders

The trajectories of some lone mothers were not adequately captured by a "leaver"/
"stayer" dichotomy. Another group of five lone mothers did in fact exit Ontario Works by the
end of the study, but not through work. Instead, these lone mothers had begun receiving
other benefits offered by the state. Lumping these lone mothers in with the "leavers" would
suggest that they had successfully followed the prescribed path from social assistance to
participation in employment support, community participation and eventually employment
and financial independence. Adding this category helps to capture the complexities of exiting
social assistance.

In each case of leaving general welfare benefits and taking a different benefit or benefits, the lone mother had a special need or goal to which Ontario Works did not apply. Susan and Brenda both received benefits under the Ontario Disability Support Program (ODSP) while Jordan combined ODSP with part-time work and money from her First Nations band to attend school; for these women, Ontario Works was a source of bridging support while they awaited disability benefits. Kayla received Employment Insurance (EI)

when she lost her job between rounds three and four. Chrissy was receiving money under the Ontario Student Assistance Program (OSAP) to attend college full-time and Maggie received survivor benefits as a widow.

This group of lone mothers faced multiple barriers, making an exit to paid work more challenging. It is important to note that even within the generally disadvantaged and challenged category of lone mothers; the women who finished the study relying on benefits other than social assistance had had extraordinarily difficult lives. This fact appears to correlate with their inability to become financially independent. Childhood physical abuse and neglect were factors in some of the lone mother "traders" lives. Both Susan and Maggie reported having suffered physical abuse at the hands of their fathers. Susan's abuse resulted in the loss of sight in one eye. Both had escaped their homes at a young age by moving in with men.

Addiction issues were also a factor in the trajectory of some of the lone mother "traders". Brenda and Jordan were both recovering addicts. Jordan had been sober for four years when we first met her and, while Brenda reported having kicked her crack and cocaine habits years prior, she admitted to still using marijuana. Both women also had criminal records related to their addiction issues. Jordan served time in prison and Brenda had been arrested for prostitution many times during her crack and cocaine addictions.

Due to her lack of a work permit Kayla, an immigrant to Canada, was excluded from the labour force leading up to the first two rounds of interviewing. In consequence she was also unable to qualify for subsidies or schooling. By round three Kayla was granted temporary resident status and within a month had found employment and left assistance. By round four, though, she had lost her job and was receiving Employment Insurance.

Many of the lone mothers spoke of their parenting responsibilities when explaining their lack of paid employment. Many of the traders also reported that their unemployed status was a choice they made so that they could be present in their children's lives. When Brenda and her husband had their first two children they were both addicts and Brenda worked on occasion as a prostitute. Brenda evoked the intensive mothering ideology as she argued that now that she was "clean" she wanted to be a better parent with her younger children and that required her to be available to them at all times.

I probably could have got a job right away, but I'm the type of person, I very strongly want to raise my own children. I don't want someone else moulding my children the way that they have their lifestyle. I want them to grow up the way that I want them to be. I was talking to my sister-in-law one time, and she said, "If you really, really need to go to work then do it, but if you don't have to, stay home as long as you can with your children." That stuck in my mind ever since (Brenda, I1).

Brenda spoke of finding paid employment in the first three rounds of interviewing and was offered a full-time job just prior to round four. However, between round three and four Brenda was awarded custody of her two grandchildren and did not feel that "it [was] right to go to work with two babies who needed [her] attention".

For Maggie, staying on benefits represented her strong desire to be present for her grandchildren's lives; this allowed her both to help her lone mother daughter stay in the

workforce and to ensure that she could "raise [her grandchildren] and make sure that they [stayed] on the right track". She argued that it "[was] important to that [she was] helping them and mak[ing] sure that [they] grow up straight and tall". Maggie and her daughter's father had separated early in their relationship leaving Maggie as the primary caregiver. While Maggie did receive some social assistance throughout her child's upbringing she also worked full-time for substantial portions of her daughter's life. It was important to Maggie to be able to relieve her daughter of some of the stress she had experienced, and to be available for her grandchildren.

These lone mothers articulated a belief that it was better for their children's growth and wellbeing that they stay home to look after them. In the first two rounds of interviewing Chrissy also espoused this ideology,

You know, when [my husband and I had] kids, he wanted me to be able to stay home and raise the kids instead of somebody else raising the kids. So, that was the whole thing...It's hard. It's hard. I can't say that I don't enjoy it. There's days where I'm ripping out my hair. I'm feeling the gray ones grow back in – you know? But I'm doing it, and have nobody to thank, but myself (Chrissy, I2).

Not even being pushed into the labour market by caseworkers unseated the intensive mothering ideology. Both Susan and Kayla reported that it was important to them to be available for their children. Kayla asserted,

But now – like, I can't take a job, because I already don't have enough time with my kids, and the little time that I do have, it's – like, so measured. So, I want to spend as much time as I can with them now, because I know when I go to my college and

when I start working, I'm hardly going to have time for them. So, I'm trying to spend as much as I can with them now (Kayla, I2).

Susan had twin daughters, one of whom was born with a severe disability. Susan argued that she did not want her children in someone else's care.

I've even said to them, 'If you want me to go to work, I will go to work. But I'm not willing to put my kids into care.' I gave birth to them (Susan, I2).

Where the lone mother traders moved from OW benefits to ODSP benefits, their substantial barriers to full-time labour force participation did not change. Where their particular circumstances allowed them more agency in their lives, other lone mother "traders" had experienced life events which have ameliorated some of their struggles.

When we first met Chrissy, she referred to herself as a "self-isolator" and stated that she rarely left the house even when her children were with their father. At the urging of a supportive caseworker, Chrissy took a computer skills course just prior round three of interviewing and reported that she had excelled. She stated that she felt more self-confident because of the support of her teacher who had pushed her to apply to college. This teacher had given Chrissy information about a college program, the student loan process and had, she said, built up her self-esteem. In round four Chrissy was receiving OSAP benefits and attending school full-time. She indicated that her outlook on life had changed dramatically and she was optimistic about a future without social assistance.

Maggie's life also had to take on a new direction by round four as her caregiving pressures began to alleviate. By round four Maggie felt that she did not need to be available 201

full-time for her daughter and grandchildren anymore. Her daughter had found a more stable, better paid job, and her grandchildren were older and required less attention. In round four Maggie reported exiting social assistance to live on her husband's survivor benefits. She was planning on moving out on her own and had reignited a relationship from her past.

7.4 Betweeners

Two of the lone mothers were no longer in receipt of social assistance in the fourth round of interviewing, but were neither working for pay nor receiving other government income support. Both lone mothers reported living off of savings they had accrued.

Cohabitation was at least in part linked to one lone mother's lack of employment or social assistance status. In two rounds of interviews, Madison was working full-time and off of assistance and had been able to save up a small nest egg. Madison and her boyfriend moved in together prior to round four. As a result of her savings and living with her boyfriend she chose to "take the summer off to spend time with [her child] and save on childcare costs". Although Madison attributed her ability to take time off work to her personal savings and not to her re-partnering, her low-waged employment suggests that it is likely that her new cohabitation status offered her some level of security.

Engagement in schooling and receipt of student loans suspended Latoya's receipt of social assistance. Latoya was receiving OSAP between round one and two, and by round two was employed part-time while attempting to finish her program. We were unable to connect with Latoya in round three. In round four we learned that she had been unable to complete

her college programs due to what she described only as a "family crisis". She had found full-time employment but became pregnant and took maternity leave once her baby was born. She tried to work when her leave was over, but found it too difficult to maintain irregular work hours with two children under the age of three and unstable childcare. Latoya signed up for another college course and received OSAP. By the time of the fourth interview, Latoya was in a placement for her program and at the end of her funding. Her plan was to find a job in her new field but she had yet to secure an interview.

While Latoya and Madison could be labeled as "leavers" or as "traders", at the end of the study they had no concrete plans for the future. It was not clear whether Latoya and Madison would return to social assistance or secure new employment. Because both had been working at the previous interviews and had appeared to be doing better emotionally and economically with every round of interviewing, it seemed probable that both were between jobs in round four.

7.5 Blenders

"Blenders" are the lone mothers who were close to leaving assistance but who continued to receive some measure of support to supplement their earned income. Ontario Works allows persons whose incomes are low to receive a top up in the form of benefits that bring them to an income level equivalent to the full OW benefit. Such persons may also qualify for drug benefits cards. These are important components of Ontario Works, as having

continued access to drug cards and top ups reduces the cost of working for these lone mothers, making employment more feasible.

Lena's continued receipt of social assistance reflected her experience of the breadwinner ideology. Lena had immigrated to Canada with her husband, had three children, bought a home and opened a business. She believed that it was a "mother's job to care for [their children]" and as a result had never attached to the labour market. After Lena's husband passed away she had been unsuccessful at running the business. At the age of 51 Lena had lost her house and the business, moved into an apartment and applied for social assistance. Throughout the study Lena received her husband's Canadian Pension Plan survivor's benefit topped up by social assistance, blending benefits to provide for her family. In round four Lena stated that she was "both emotionally and physically exhausted" and that she was "menopausal, depressed, exhausted and unmotivated". Having lived in a stereotypical breadwinner relationship and lacking access to supportive family left Lena in a precarious position at the death of her husband.

Two other "blenders" were working full-time by round four of the project, but their wages were either so low that they received "top ups" from Ontario Works or they still qualified for the drug benefits. Although these women are attached to the labour market they still did not perceive themselves as having successfully reached the goal of of "getting totally off the system".

Carol's story seems almost calculated to dispel any remaining perception of "welfare mothers" as lazy freeloaders. In round one of interviewing Carol was working seasonally at a day camp for disabled children but had difficulty finding full-time employment due to a criminal record for which she was seeking an official pardon. By round two Carol had secured a year-round job and was only receiving drug benefits from OW. Her child's father got into trouble with the law and was deported, leaving her with only her mother for support. In round three Carol was expecting another child, was anxious as she had no contact with the baby's father, and was worried about maintaining her job. Between rounds three and four when Carol's mother died suddenly, leaving Carol to care for her two younger brothers as well as her son and her newborn. Despite this hardship, Carol went back to work by round four. Because she was working, Carol went to the top of the waiting list for subsidized childcare and was able to obtain two spots although in different locations. She continued to receive drug benefits for herself and the children.

Gail's income from paid employment was topped up by Ontario Works. Gail's family often babysat her three children, one of whom had a severe learning disability, so that she could continue her education. In round two Gail had finished upgrading her food and beverage course that she located, registered and paid for herself at a local college and by round three she was completely off of assistance. By round four Gail was working full-time at a different location however was not earning enough to stay off. Gail hoped to be "totally off of assistance" in the near future as she was increasing her hours of employment in round four.

Gender ideology underscored the blenders' inability to fully leave assistance. Both Carol and Gail worked for little money in industries dominated by women; childcare and the service industry. Full-time work was made possible by arranging childcare through both formal and informal supports that were trusted. Carol had subsidized childcare she liked and Gail relied on her immediate family to babysit for free while she worked for pay. Only their low wages made it impossible for them to make a full exit from social assistance. Remaining as a stay-at-home mother throughout her marriage left Lena in a vulnerable position. Lena believed that it was a "mother's job to care for [their children]" and as a result had never attached to the labour market. Living in a stereotypical breadwinner relationship and lacking access to supportive networks left Lena in a precarious position once her husband passed away.

7.6 Conclusion

This chapter has examined the lone mother participants' attachment to social assistance at the end of the five year study, and identified five situations that offer a more nuanced analysis than simply whether the lone mother is receiving assistance or not. It also explored the barriers to leaving social assistance that were experienced by these women, and the supports that helped them make that transition. The interviews demonstrate that, despite the fact that all of the lone mothers in this study signed Participation Agreements committing them to take part in multiple programs offered through Ontario Works, very few of their paths led to full-time employment.

By the last round of interview at the five-year mark of the study, a very few of the lone mothers had been able to use a job to completely leave social assistance. Others had full-time work, but at such a low wage that they needed to supplement their income with some kind of benefits. Still others who were relying on social assistance benefits at the end of the study had worked for pay in earlier rounds of interviewing, but were unable to maintain employment and had returned to social assistance. A small group had moved off general welfare but relied on other state-paid benefits such as OSAP, ODSP, EI and CPP. As we explore more fully in Chapter Eight, these data demonstrate that the links between a welfare-to-work program, welfare and work are anything but clear.

Chapter 8

Discussion

This chapter considers the insights that using gender, social capital and social exclusion lenses lend to our understanding of the data described here related to the process of leaving social assistance. Furthermore, these theoretical frames are themselves examined for their utility in adding and enriching our understanding of these systems and those who experience them. This research aims to fill gaps in the literature by examining the process of leaving social assistance, the specific ways in which women transition from welfare to work, and the material and social support needed to be in place in the lives of lone mothers in order to facilitate this transition. The study interrogated study participants about their experiences with the policies and programs of Ontario Works, examining whether participation in these programs aided lone mothers in finding sustained employment resulting in an exit from social assistance. The research goal was to better understand the effectiveness of workfare programs as vehicles to move lone mothers off dependence on social assistance. In addition, this research strived to present an enhanced understanding of lone mothers' lives as they attempt to exit social assistance.

8.1 Making sense of lone mother trajectories

Delineating the process of exiting social assistance proved difficult. Very little differentiated the lone mothers from one another, with exception of their personal support systems and their assessment of their neighbourhoods. Most had an array of barriers that

made working for pay difficult. Examination of the lone mothers' relationship to Ontario Works at the end of the five year study revealed five different types of outcomes: stayers, traders, blenders, betweeners and leavers. Having five groups in the typology rather than two or three allows an understanding that, while a significant proportion of the participants have left social assistance, few did so through work and none did so through marriage or commonlaw relationships. The largest group of lone mothers were the "stayers" who remained on social assistance over the length of the study, and did not receive income from any other source, including other government programs or work. "Traders" were lone mothers who left the welfare rolls by trading Ontario Works receipt for a different government benefit. A small number of lone mothers were working full-time at the completion of the study, but made so little money that they blended earned income with social assistance to provide for their families. "Betweeners" refers to lone mothers who were employed for multiple rounds of interviewing, but for various reasons were not working in round four and had yet to reapply for social assistance or to find new employment. We refer to those who were working and had left assistance completely as "leavers".

This typology draws attention to the fact that, in mark contrast to the welfare reform rhetoric, lone mothers are not making 'successful' exits from welfare to work. Many people exit from the social assistance caseloads through routes other than paid work. Moreover, it illustrates that some lone mothers are fully engaged in paid work however are still not capable of exiting social assistance due to both structural and gendered labour market realities. These are well illustrated in the data as the paid work obtained was in almost all

cases precarious, without job security, regular hours, and benefits. Furthermore, such work, and especially the training provided was largely in underpaid female-dominated sectors of the labour market.

Finding a job was clearly revealed to not equate to a better quality of life for the lone mother participants. With exception of one lone mother, the participants were still living below the LICO at the end of the research project, regardless of their employment status. All relied on some combination of state-provided benefits beyond social assistance. A small portion of the study group did exit social assistance; however, all but one relied on at least one other state-provided benefit such as ODSP¹⁵, EI, CPP, subsidized housing, or subsidized childcare. All the leavers remained in precarious positions and were potentially one life event away from reapplying to social assistance, as none had a savings accounts or health benefits that would be able to absorb any extraordinary demands.

With their focus on employability and training, workfare policies were designed to reduce welfare caseloads and move people from welfare to work. And indeed, over fifty percent of the lone mothers who participated in this study left the social assistance caseloads.

¹⁵Comparing lone mother social assistance recipients in British Columbia and Ontario Pulkingham and Fuller (2012) found an increased trend toward the medicalization of lone mothers. While regular social assistance caseloads were showing a decrease of lone mothers in both provinces, data revealed that disability benefits had increased for both provinces; PWD and PWMB in BC and ODSP in ON. This study also shows a relationship between exiting social assistance and receiving disability benefits for some lone mothers.

However, only thirty percent of those did so primarily through attachment to the labour force. Moreover, the thirty percent who left for paid employment also received some combination of subsidized childcare and subsidized housing. These findings indicate that, while caseloads are declining, this drop is more likely the result of lone mothers being pushed into other forms of "dependency" than the result of any independence gained through working for pay.

Examining the different paths the lone mothers took through gendered, social capital and social exclusion lenses revealed several problems with the Ontario Works current framework. The three lenses highlighted both macro and micro level processes that either hindered or helped the lone mothers' transition. Gender and gender roles were the overarching barrier to successful attachment to the labour market. These included that the work of women remains differentially less well remunerated. Relatedly, lone mothers were streamed through both training and job availability into female dominated labour market roles. Critically too, it was these women's roles as mothers that most significantly impacted their labour market attachment. For all mothers, juggling the demands of paid work and caring labour remain difficult. For poor women, with precarious employment and few of the economic and social supports that facilitate labour market attachment, these roles were largely incompatible and unsustainable.

8.2 Trajectories as gendered

This study shows the limitations inherent in the state's capacity to deal with the contradictions arising from the processes involved in caregiving. Caregiving is necessary for

survival but at the same time women need access to a wage in order to meet the needs of their families. There is an expectation that women will carry out all the tasks involved in tending children as a "labour of love" that is expected, assumed, and unpaid. This is problematic for all women; however, the problem is amplified for low-income single mothers who must rely on state provided benefits in order to complete the day-today tasks involved in caregiving. The lone mothers with most demands on their time because of large families, newborn babies and children with special needs had the most difficulty attempting to exit social assistance.

As Wendy McKeen (2004) recognized, neo-liberal social policy has moved far from recognizing social reproduction and the contribution of unpaid work to our society. Rather, social policies such as Ontario Works are written in such a way that unreasonable expectations are placed upon lone mothers by assuming that either all women are tied to an economically secure breadwinner or are jointly with a partner partaking in the labour force. There is an expectation that all the tasks involved in caregiving will remain unpaid work for women in the labour force. This work was previously seen as paid work if the women were tied to a bread winner, his income supports her and therefore her work is rewarded via his tie to the labour force, or if they were receiving state provided benefits, lone mothers needed to be home to raise their children and therefore received a "payment" from the state in return. However, the neo-liberal welfare state is one with increased surveillance and decreased eligibility. Mothers, even lone mothers with very young children, are now viewed as an employable portion of the population, and are not only expected but forced to take part in the

labour force without any of the structural supports they need in place (Evans, 1996). Lone mothers are expected both to take on the role of two parents as well as to take part in both production and reproduction simultaneously, one with very little pay and the other with no pay at all.

Gender ideology plays an important role in explaining the trajectories of the lone mothers regardless of their categorization in the typology. Mothers are caught in a unique position in society in that full citizenship is predicated on attachment to the labour market and yet ideologies surrounding motherhood promote mothers as the primary carer. As Hattery (2001) aruged, the ideology that still has hegemonic power is the ideology of the intensive mother, which goes hand in hand with the male breadwinner ideology. This ideology holds that a mother is to be the primary care taker of her children, and those children will only flourish in society if their mothers spend as much time with them as possible. Like much social discourse, this perspective is visited most rigorously on those who occupy an already marginal status, like the single mothers discussed here. For a middle class family with two working parents, there remains a social expectation of active and involved parenting, mothering. However, if such a family copes by hiring care, a critical social gaze is averted as paid work tops unpaid caring labour. For a poor lone mother, whose moral worth and parenting ability are already doubted, who is presumed to carry multiple social deficits by virtue of "mothering without a man" (Orloff, 1996) who fails the test of active citizenship demonstrated by secure ties to paid labour, the bar of such worthiness is set high.

Previous studies have found that this ideology still dominates mothers' employment decisions, whether they are partnered or not (see Hattery, 2001; Hays, 1996; Saugeres, 2002, 2009). While the lone mothers in this study faced several structural barriers, they were not all passive recipients. Holding strong moral beliefs about the role of a mother, several of the lone mothers indicated that they actively chose to stay at home with their children despite the economic repercussions.

Lone mothers have been consistently vilified in the public discourse and thus may feel even more pressure to prove that they can be good mothers, which means they cannot be good mothers and paid employees simultaneously (Saugeres, 2009). These women are viewed as unsuccessful and in need of further training and more punitive regulations surrounding their benefits to force them into the labour market. At the same time, the mother attached to a male breadwinner is idealized as providing moral and proper care to her children.

While some caseworkers in the study recognized that lone mothers have more barriers to overcome than other social assistance recipients, only one caseworker acknowledged intensive mothering as worthy grounds for social assistance receipt. Madeline argued that too often we negate the importance of childrearing for some women while simultaneously assuming that the population of people receiving social assistance should be doing more with their lives.

I think one of the things we have to acknowledge with Ontario Works is, there is a certain segment of the population who are

okay. We don't think they have enough money to live on. Let's say the people are coming from society where they were refugees and had absolutely nothing. And for someone, I'm not saying a huge amount, even if it's 5% of her caseload, there are people I've met them who we call, content. We're in a consumer driven society so we make certain assumptions. We consider it better to go back to school and get a job. We think those are all better things. There are women, who are single led families who are okay. They don't have a lot of money but they want to raise their children. They have a social support and are not isolated (Madeline, ERCW).

Marie, another caseworker in the Employment Resource Centre, disagreed with Madeline and argued that while the parent might feel that she was doing well enough; the children were less likely to agree that living in poverty was in their best interest.

While maybe the individual is from another country where it's not consumer driven, their children are being raised in this environment. And you all know what I make and I have a lot of pressure to provide for my children. I don't know how content the mother's going to be when the child is wanting a PS2 or whatever (Marie, ERCW).

Interestingly, in the eyes of the caseworkers, intensive mothering went hand-in-hand with immigration status. Rather than viewing caregiving as an admirable role undertaken by lone mothers, these caseworkers felt that immigrant women needed to "get over" the breadwinner ideology that permeated their specific cultures and "start living in reality" as they were "in Canada now". Two of the social service caseworkers argued that especially immigrant lone mothers need to "be brought back to reality" and come to terms with the fact that they need to work and cannot be on assistance "for the rest of [their] lives",

We do have those cultural issues. We have a couple clients in my caseload, where the husband has left. And when you try to talk to them about working, they are like, I don't know, I don't know, I'll just stay home with the kids. And I'll say well your kids are 10 and 13 in so-and-so, and because the husband has always worked and they've stayed home. For them, you just don't do that. But then you have to bring them back to reality and explain that social assistance is a short-term solution. You have to try to work or get into a program, and so forth (Angie, SSCW).

So often times, because I'm at Scarborough, like I refer to it as the Afghani women center. So we put them into programs with women like themselves who are now working, or doing different things to show them that this is the way it is here. You can still hold onto cultural values but when push comes to shove you have children, and a household to keep and you have to get out there and work. You can't be on social assistance for the rest of your life (Julie, SSCW).

Thus, intensive mothering went far beyond simply immigration status. Most of the lone mothers in this study who left social assistance did not do so until they felt that their children could manage with less access to them. This confidence leaving their children was not built through the framework of Ontario Works. Rather it came from either raising children until the lone mother was confident good values and morals were instilled in their child who could now be trusted left alone, or through acquiring reliable care providers. The lone mothers who were able to keep full-time jobs explained that they felt that their children could either be left alone for periods of time or stay with close relatives while the lone mother worked. This allowed the lone mothers to work for pay without feeling guilty for leaving their children in the care of strangers.

In the case of Ontario Works, the welfare state reinforces gendered economic vulnerability. The gendered implications are twofold. As Orloff (1996) has pointed out, the sexual division of labour, gender discourses and ideologies such as those about citizenship and motherhood all shape the character of welfare states. At the same time, the management and delivery of state delivered benefits such as Ontario Works also impact on gender relations. This is especially highlighted by the types of programs offered to the lone mother recipients in the present study. Each training program and volunteer position located was in a field dominated by women. Lone mothers who participated in the Employment Support and Community Participation components of Ontario Works were trained for jobs in the female job ghettos (Williams, Muller & Kilanski, 2012). In no case did training as office administrator, personal support worker, pharmacy technician or childcare provider result in sustained employment. These findings are significant both in terms of the lives of the lone mothers considered here, but even more fundamentally as they reflect the very gender stigmatizing structuring of our social welfare systems.

8.3 The role of social capital

Balancing paid work with caregiving responsibilities was less onerous for lone mothers who had sources of bonding capital. Bonding social capital refers to connections between similar people such as family and close friends. The lone mothers who were able to access immediate family with whom they shared values and trust and could rely on these supports without onerous duties of reciprocation, attached to the labour market more easily than those who did not have this type of capital. Without bonding social capital, few lone

mothers with young children were able to enter into the labour market for any sustained time. For some lone mothers, older children acted as a form of bonding social capital as these children were able to take on some of the caregiving responsibilities in the home, freeing up time for the lone mothers. Even though there is evidence of older children and family members taking up such roles, it is critical to emphasize that overall, the availability of bonding capital was low. One might theorize that with more available bonding capital there might have been some prior mediation in these lone mothers' lives that might have ameliorated some of the quite desperate circumstances that they described.

Related to this overall paucity of resources it is important to note that for most of these lone mothers, relationships with neighbours did not appear to play a significant role in their entrance into the labour force. Most of the lone mothers lived in low-income neighbourhoods; their neighbours were often resource-depleted and unable to reciprocate favours. For these lone mothers, bonding social capital appeared to be a characteristic of individuals rather than built through communities. Even for lone mothers who resided in more affluent neighbourhoods, stigma and their status as lone mothers on social assistance appears to have played a negative role in their more full engagement in their communities, without which fewer close relationships that might have yielded bonding capital were developed. Bonding social capital is argued to reinforce the homogeneity of a group and maintain group loyalty (Field, 2008). If one subscribes to this definition, the effective exclusion of the poor lone mother from the social capital network in more privileged neighbourhoods might be expected. For the majority of lone mothers who lived in

communities they feared; trust and group loyalty were not fostered. The role of social discourse is important in understanding women's attitudes and engagement in poor neighbourhoods. While there may well have been bonding related social supports available in these communities, many lone mothers, in their dual vulnerable roles as women and single parents succumbed to the discursive stories about their neighbourhoods. Whatever the degree of factual accuracy, the idea that they and their children were at risk from others in their neighbourhood successfully sustains notions of the dangerous poor as well as effectively precluding the development of the strong social bonds that might also lead to unrest and social action.

Linking social capital played an important role in the trajectories of the lone mother leavers' lives. The majority of the leavers were involved with programs that recognized the unique requirements of this group of social assistance recipients. These programs were set up in such a way that the lone mothers involved with them were automatically linked to supplementary services such as legal aid, subsidized housing, subsidized childcare, schooling, and counselling. Accessing all of the supplementary services provided by the state was an onerous and confusing process that often overwhelmed many of the lone mothers. The existence of supplementary services often had to be searched out by these lone mothers, and application processes were grueling and required an abundance of information. The lone mothers who were able to access linking social capital reported spending more of their time and energy on caregiving and in other pursuits such as education, volunteering and paid

work. The question of how such capital is 'accessed' is an important one on which I will theorize further in the subsequent discussion related to social exclusion.

Sources of linking capital drawn upon in this study were well-funded shelters, LEAP workers and, in very few instances, helpful Ontario Works caseworkers. Many of the women in this study resided in shelters; however, for some the shelter merely provided refuge for a short period of time until the lone mother was able to locate alternative housing arrangements. For the lone mother leavers, however, their immigration status, extreme cases of abuse and lack of bonding social capital resulted in a longer residency within a shelter. In these cases the shelter acted as the most important source of capital in the lone mothers' lives. Beyond providing on-site links to supplementary services, these lone mothers had access to legal aid and to counselling services which helped them manage their lives more effectively.

Caseworkers in the LEAP program proved to be a source of linking social capital for the young lone mother leavers. The generous benefits and programs provided under LEAP led to less caseworker discretion and more direct links to services. In addition, there was much more flexibility in how the lone mothers completed the requirements of their Participation Agreements. Helpful caseworkers were noted as able to provide links to other services in the traders lives. Most of the traders had caseworkers who recognized their personal difficulties and helped these lone mothers through the process of applying for ODSP. Having a source of linking capital eased the lone mothers' transition from social assistance and provided them with access to resources that many other study participants

struggled throughout the study to receive. None of the lone mother stayers reported positive relationships with their caseworkers; nor did they indicate drawing upon any type of linking capital throughout the duration of the study. These findings are critical for what they say about high caseloads and the shift away from social work trained caseworkers to those whose backgrounds relate more to financial management. Caseworkers perhaps remain a constant for those on assistance who may have few other connections to social capital. While building such capital through a caseworker may be a matter of luck, these data demonstrate this as a potentially powerful source of social capital when it is appropriately and fully enacted.

While bonding social capital was the most important source of capital in allowing lone mothers to feel ready to exit social assistance, and linking social capital was the most important for ameliorating hardship, bridging social capital was the most effective source of capital in finding employment. Loose networks made through acquaintances offered references, suggestions and "a good word" with potential bosses. The old adage "it's not what you know it's who you know" rang true for the lone mother leavers in this study. It is though essential to note that although bridging capital provided important linkages to jobs the last half of the adage, "it's who you know", also rings true. The bridging capital employed by the lone mothers here is reflective of their largely small networks comprised of people whose status and capital was at much the same level as the lone mothers themselves. Thus links to jobs tended to be to marginal and precarious work.

For the lone mothers considered here, leaving social assistance for paid work needed a combination of the three types of social capital. As Bourdieu (1996) has argued, the value of

individual ties depends on the number of connections they can mobilize and the volume of different capitals possessed by each connection. Bridging social capital allowed lone mothers to find jobs however they were unable to maintain these jobs unless they had sources of bonding social capital to draw upon to take some of their caregiving responsibilities off their shoulders. Likewise, lone mothers had a much more difficult time obtaining bridging social capital if they were without linking social capital. Thus, the lone mothers who were able to exit social assistance relied on a number of individuals within and outside of their kinship networks to find and maintain paid employment. Yet overall, as Bourdieu asserts, the volume of the capital in play is an essential determinant of how effectively it can be mobilized.

Bonding social capital is not something that can be built through policy. Social policies are often structured with the belief that people have social capital accrued through kinship. However as Field (2008) has argued, processes that disrupt kinship such as divorce, separation and migration weaken stocks of bonding social capital. Most of the lone mothers who participated in this study could not rely on their families or neighbourhoods for any type of support. Many immigrated to Canada and had very few, if any, local ties to their families. Moreover, many lived in communities they feared; thus, norms of reciprocity and trust were not fostered (Carpiano, 1996). Not one lone mother in this study referred to her neighbours as a source of support.

The Ontario Works policy has been shaped around notions of acquiring bridging social capital. The policy embodies the idea that any job is a good job, even if it is a volunteer job because any job would help the unemployed gain social networks that will eventually lead to

employment (Bezanson & Carter, 2006). The focus is on the individual as the bearer of social capital, which can be mobilized by volunteering at a local school for example (Bezanson & Carter, 2006). In some instances the lone mother leavers did obtain bridging social capital through the programs they were required to participate in. Four of the leavers stated that it was connections they made through training programs or through volunteer placements that were responsible for them finding employment. What is important to highlight, however, is that in each case the bridging social capital was only beneficial if the lone mother already had bonding social capital.

Some leavers found paid employment through bridging capital created outside of the Ontario Works programming. Loose networks of friends and acquaintances leaked information about potential employment and put in references for a small number of the leavers. However, exiting social assistance for paid employment in these instances brought the leavers little or no economic advantage. As recognized in past studies of women and social capital, the networks to which low-income women belong rarely allow women to change their socioeconomic status (Bezanson & Carter, 2006; Molyneux, 2002). The leavers and blenders in this study are also overrepresented in precarious work; this leaves them little time to create significant bridging social capital that would help them better their economic situation. While bridging social capital has been theorized as helping people create networks that can bridge low-income people to better jobs, in this study it offers bridges to similar low-income employment with very little opportunity to increase economic stability.

8.4 Exclusion: From more than just the labour market

As I suggested in the theoretical framing of this work, social exclusion provides a broad and inclusive, yet context-specific way to examine the societal experiences of a particular population group, in this case lone mothers. Part of the breadth of such a lens is the recognition within the framing of the concept that it applies to all of the spheres of life both as they are individually negotiated and experienced, but structurally as well given that social conditions and institutions are shaped such that individuals experience them in particular ways. Silver's identification of exclusion as a "rupture of the social and symbolic bonds that should attach individuals to society" (Silver, 1994, p. 534) thus enables an inquiry into both the ruptured social bonds and the impact of these ruptures on the individuals so experiencing them. Important too are the ways in which these ruptured social bonds intersect and are self-reinforcing. Again, as I suggested earlier, the concept enables us to look at subjective experiences (de Haan, 1999) while also recognizing the interaction between structure and agency (Martin, 2004).

This latter idea of structure and agency requires detailing from the perspective of the lone mothers' experiences that have been described here. The "reformed" welfare state has been described as more highly regulated (Herd et al., 2005) with lone mothers subject to more and more demanding rules and expectations. Failure to comply often resulted in "held" cheques and in some cases terminated benefits. Under such conditions, lone mothers, perhaps among the most vulnerable of welfare recipients, learn to comply. As some participants indicated, even when they knew they had submitted required documentation when asked for

it again they knew the best response was to simply resubmit it. Although the worker may have lost or misplaced the documents, the lone mother client was in no position to challenge. Through these and other processes, the very feelings of agency so necessary to enabling personal change, are lost or at best weakened.

There are other facets of the system that also act on lone mother agency. Intrusive visits from welfare workers, open Children's Aid files, the stigma of cashing a welfare cheque, applying for housing and having to disclose welfare receipt, all of these are experiences that diminish personal agency and make a lone mother in Amartya Sen's words, feel unworthy to be in the public realm (Sen, 2000). Social exclusion and these experiences of relational deprivation impact both the presence and availability of social capital and the likelihood of it being effectively utilized. As has been previously noted, participation in the multiple spheres of life can be facilitated by a combination of bonding, bridging and linking social capital.

Despite participating in the multiple programs offered by Ontario Works, a significant portion of the lone mothers in this study were not able to create networks on which they could rely or which would advance their more secure and sustained entry into the multiple spheres of life that are the hallmark of full citizenship. Significant barriers that made building networks and finding employment very difficult were identified in all of the stayers' lives. Often too, these related to complex histories in these women's lives that related to enduring poverty, experiences of abuse and limited access to education; their networks were compromised both in their external construction and even more insidiously by how the

women themselves had been socialized and constructed to act on and build their networks. Thus, there were significant structural barriers to enabling networks and these included shaping the lone mothers expectations of what might be possible. This returns us to the concept of agency that I suggest to be key to acquiring and utilizing social capital. Such use comes from an ability first to conceive of what might be possible and to appraise whether there is social capital that might be employed to achieve a desired goal. All such actions and more stem from feelings of personal worthiness which is suggested to have been diminished in many of the lone mothers discussed here, especially the stayers. Linking capital is noteworthy here because in some of the circumstances in which it seems significant in this research, its strength may relate to it being the initiative of others. In most cases it was a dedicated worker who facilitated a lone mothers' connection to social housing or subsidized daycare. The lone mother did not have to identify what was required or take the lead.

Labour market attachment has been theorized as a way to combat social exclusion. From a number of perspectives this notion makes sense. It is assumed that paid work will lift the family out of poverty, it erases the stigma associated with welfare receipt, affords the affirming status of worker-citizen, and it can provide a very important avenue for the establishment of social networks which in themselves may become sources of social capital of all types. Thus, its appeal is at first glance understandable. As we have seen however, in the lives of poor and generally low-skilled lone mothers this idea is built on a number of problematic assumptions. For two participants who maintained paid work at the study's end, their pay remained too low to have them leave welfare. Secondly, as I have previously

discussed, the nature of the job training provided does not enable lone mothers to actually exit assistance and the work obtained continues their marginal status. Social capital to the extent that it is acquired is limited to networks that are themselves marginal and near to depleted. Thus, this study confirms that the multidimensional disadvantages experienced by so many of these lone mothers sever both them and their children from major social processes and opportunities in society (Barry, 1998; de Haan, 1997; Welshman, 2007). The lone mother stayers experienced poverty, marginalization and isolation that made labour market attachment unrealistic. The stayers' life circumstances in combination with their lowincome resulted in a lack of capability to live a minimally decent life. Sen (2000) argued that poverty limits one's ability to take part in the life of the community which ultimately leads to limiting employment possibilities. The lone mothers' reliance on Ontario Works made it difficult for them to seek out the help they needed to overcome their barriers to employment. This capability deprivation, a lack of feeling worthy to be in the public realm extends well beyond simply accessing employment, but of course that too. The compounding effects of deprivation are I suggest, inadequately accounted for and explain much of the data described here.

The stayers all reported exclusion from participation in their communities. Due to their low-income status and their reliance on placement in predetermined subsidized housing, the stayers lived in neighbourhoods in which they were often fearful. Most of the lone mothers who participated in this study lived in subsidized housing; however, it was the location of the housing that fostered or hindered a sense of community. All of the stayers

discussed living in "falling apart" housing infested with bed bugs and cockroaches. High crime rates in their communities caused the majority of stayers to state that they feared for their children's physical safety; they also feared the impact that the negative influences surrounding them may have on their personal well-being. Ten of the stayers reported not leaving their house after dark for fear of their personal safety.

Abuse, addiction and mental illness were interconnected for many of the lone mothers. A large percentage of the lone mothers who participated in this study had histories of abuse. Only the stayers and traders reported addiction or mental illness as a consequence of this history; those in these two categories who revealed abuse also indicated high levels of anxiety and depression. Some among the traders were linked to ODSP as caseworkers recognized that their mental health was too unstable for them to attach to the labour market. The lone mothers who were not provided with this linking social capital however remained on Ontario Works and struggled with their mental health throughout the duration of the study.

Two of the women who reported histories of abuse struggled with addiction issues throughout the study period. As a result, these two women also experienced housing instability; one was evicted multiple times for non-payment and the other remained homeless for multiple rounds of interviewing. This finding highlights the interconnectedness of many of the barriers faced by lone mothers and the difficulties surrounding the ideology that labour market attachment is possible for the majority of recipients. It also reveals the multidimensional nature of poverty.

Lack of formal citizenship played a central role in the social exclusion of a small number of lone mothers in this study. Immigration alone did not prohibit labour market attachment for most of the lone mothers in this study; however, when combined with other barriers it proved to be overwhelming for some of the lone mother stayers. A lack of status in Canada prohibited not only attachment to the labour market but also receipt of subsidized childcare or admittance to schooling or other training services. As a result, a number of lone mothers were left waiting through multiple rounds of interviewing to be allowed to fully participate in Canadian society. In addition, cultural beliefs surrounding caregiving, large families and a complete lack of social networks made participation in paid work less likely.

Lone mothers with high levels of caregiving responsibilities were the least likely to exit from social assistance for paid work. Large families, newborn babies and children with special needs required an abundance of time and energy spent in social reproduction activities rather than in production. A lack of bonding social capital in addition to a lack of recognition by Ontario Works that caregiving is work resulted in an abundance of unpaid, undervalued, unrecognized labour done in the home. Unsupported caregiving led to isolation as a lack of time and resources rendered the lone mothers incapable of participating in networks of any kind.

The barriers excluding lone mothers from full participation in society were not overcome by attachment to the labour market, nor did the current Ontario Works framework help to overcome them. Designed on an assertion that full-time labour market attachment will lead to social inclusion, Ontario Works is structured on a false premise. That such labour

market attachment might accomplish this goal could only be realized if the labour market attachment was a real goal, systematically pursued, fully acknowledging both individual and structural barriers to its realization. It does not do this but rather presumes instead that the job getting, and maintaining, should be somehow accomplished by the already marginalized and excluded lone mother. Additionally and significantly, the program ignores gender.

Caregiving responsibility is invalidated as a rationale for receiving social assistance and gendered labour market realities are not only ignored but also perpetuated by a system that trains lone mothers only for positions within notoriously precarious employment sectors.

The previous discussion of social capital revealed that although much of Ontario Works is premised on its possibility, linking capital, which did not require the lone mother to take the initiative was the most likely form of social capital to lead to real improvements in lone mothers lives. The effects of social exclusion, as it has been discussed here negatively impact both the presence of meaningful social capital as well as the likelihood of it being utilized. The gendered stigma of being a lone mother and a social assistance user combined often with feelings of personal unworthiness and minimal job skills negatively impact welfare exits under the existing structuring of Ontario Works and most problematically, it is the system itself that constructs and re-constructs many of these barriers.

8.5 Conclusion

Several questions guided this research: (1) How did the lone mothers' lives progress over the five years of the study? (2) Who left social assistance and who stayed? (3) How

were these transitions made possible? (4) What barriers did the lone mothers who were unable to exit face? (5) What was the role of Ontario Works in this transition, or lack thereof?

The answers to the questions posed were rarely simple or straight forward. The lone mothers' lives progressed differently dependent upon the types of social capital they could draw on in order to combat their social exclusion. The lone mothers who left via attachment to the labour market were those who had a combination of bonding, bridging and linking social capital and were ready to leave their children for a portion of the day. Many of those who traded benefits had their mental health issues recognized by ODSP; while others reached an age where they could draw on spousal pensions. It is not clear how two of the traders' lives would progress after the study ended, as one was then receiving Employment Insurance and another was receiving a student loan. These women may find employment or they may reapply for assistance.

The lone mothers who neither left through attachment to the labour market nor through trading benefits did not have social capital to counteract the barriers they experienced. Two issues remained as the most difficult barriers to overcome for these women; gender and exclusion. The stayers experienced a high level of caregiving demands. A large number of children, newborn babies and children with special needs all proved to be substantial barriers to labour market attachment. In addition, all of the stayers reported fearing their communities. Subsidized housing plagued by crime, drugs and bug infestations demoralized the stayers and made inclusion into society extremely difficult.

Gender also played a pivotal role in the circumstances of the betweeners and two of the blenders. Low labour market remuneration for employment stereotypically filled by women made fully exiting social assistance unlikely for the blenders. These women were fully attached to the labour market and yet were unable to given up welfare benefits completely. While also attached to the labour market in highly gendered positions for multiple rounds, the betweeners were currently without work or benefits and were focused on caregiving at the conclusion of the study.

The study revealed that other factors hindering labour market attachment were abuse, addiction, and mental health issues. None of these barriers were addressed through Ontario Works nor were the stayers seeking help outside of their caseworkers.

The role of Ontario Works in social assistance exits was anything but clear. The findings suggest that, for some lone mothers, the current framework provided them with opportunities to build bridging social capital that proved paramount in finding employment. It appears as though helpful organizations and caseworkers who linked lone mothers to programs or other benefits assisted lone mothers in feeling capable and freed up some of their time to fully participate in multiple components of Ontario Works.

For the majority of lone mothers in this study, however, the current structure of programs under Ontario Works "beat [them] down". Lone mothers without personal support networks were unable to draw upon the other types of social capital secured by the leavers.

Instead, when the lone mothers could not reach the desired outcome of each program, fulltime employment, they reported that they felt like failures.

Caseworkers acknowledged that the current structure of the programming under

Ontario Works is not conducive to the demands of lone parenting. Despite this, most

caseworkers devalued caregiving and rendered it invisible by using their discretion to require

lone mothers to participate. The caseworkers' role was to continue to push training that never

resulted in long term attachment to the labour market. Gender and social exclusion were not

addressed in either the Ontario Works' programming or by the caseworkers responsible for

the lone mothers who participated in this study. The discretionary choices that most of the

caseworkers made diminished the lone mothers' sense of agency. With exception of very

few with helpful caseworkers, the lone mothers felt anything but supported by caseworkers.

Chapter 9

Conclusion

This dissertation draws on longitudinal data from thirty Toronto-area lone mothers who were receiving social assistance at the start of the study, and on two focus group sessions with social assistance caseworkers and Employment Resource Centre caseworkers employed by Toronto Employment and Social Services. Employing the lenses of gender, social exclusion and social capital, this research examined the process of leaving social assistance. Particular attention was paid both to the barriers preventing exits from social assistance and to the social supports facilitating an exit. In addition, there was an examination of the programs offered under Ontario Works focusing on the intended goals, the caseworkers' interpretation of the programs, and the lone mothers' experiences moving through the numerous programs offered.

All of the participants in this study were required as a condition of receiving welfare benefits to take part in the multiple components of Ontario Works' programs; yet five different outcomes were identified. The typology of lone mothers offers new insight into the processes involved in manoeuvring through and in some cases off social assistance. While the programming offered through Ontario Works proved in some cases to foster both linking and bridging social capital, the research process revealed that this is only possible if bonding social capital was in place first. Bonding social capital proved not to be something that can be built through policies such as Ontario Works; however, it can be enhanced by providing

lone mothers with access to better housing in safer communities and with access to caregiving support to free up time to foster bonding social capital.

This study revealed that many lone mothers leave social assistance through means other than gaining paid employment or attaching to a male breadwinner. Only a very small number of lone mothers were able to call up the combination of bonding, bridging and linking social capital necessary to leave social assistance for paid work. Trading receipt of Ontario Works for another state-provided benefit was the second most common means of exiting social assistance. This suggests that, despite the shrinking of the welfare rolls, a closer examination of the perceived success of workfare programs is in order. Closer scrutiny of social assistance recipients is also required as this study revealed that some lone mothers are indeed fully attached to the labour market, but remain in receipt of social assistance due to low-waged employment.

This research also draws attention to the precarious nature of exits from social assistance. At the end of the study, all but one of the leavers and betweeners were still living in poverty, requiring subsidized housing; the majority continued to receive subsidized childcare. This finding illuminates that none of the lone mothers were truly free from state-provided benefits and, more importantly, that none had truly reached the OW stated goal of independence.

Gender remains the most significant barrier to these participants in the province's work-to-welfare regime. Raising children in a single-parent family is almost always women's

work. Yet Ontario Works is a gender neutral policy that ignores the role of caregiving in society. In ignoring that role, Ontario Works undervalues the caregiving work that falls to women. Additionally, the training offered through OW reinforces the stratification that occurs in the labour market as all lone mothers who participated in this study were only offered training in low skilled and low waged jobs available in the pink ghetto. None of the lone mothers in this study was able to escape poverty by the end of the study period.

9.1 Implications for policy

As Baker (2007), Evans (2007), and Millar (2008) have argued, there is a need for social policy that is informed by the changes wrought by welfare-to-work programs. Ontario Works has established a machinery that obliges social assistance recipients, almost regardless of their personal circumstances, to answer for their employability. Many lone mothers demonstrate a desire and commitment to work, but their attachment to the labour market can only be assured where social assistance policy recognizes and removes the obstacles to employment and financial independence that relate to them alone. If the goal of Ontario policy remains to move recipients from social assistance to paid employment, then its social policy must further evolve to address the oversights and obstacles Ontario Works has incorporated.

The first recommendation is to recognize gender as an important category as women have difference experiences inside and outside the labour market. The labour market is segregated by gender with high paying positions reserved for the ideal worker: the white,

single, able-bodied man free of the demands of child rearing. Despite all of our knowledge of the segregated labour market and of the particular problems faced by mothers in the workforce, lone mothers are pushed into the workforce without the skills, training or supports that could make a difference in their lives. Supports to address the gendered disparity of women as those most vulnerable to low-waged work and the parent most likely to assume custody of her children has been shown to have very positive outcomes in several Nordic countries. In Norway, these lone parent support funds continue until the youngest child is 10 years of age.

Lone mothers who want to enter the labour force are prevented from even attempting to make this transition unless they have reliable childcare. But childcare subsidies are only granted once paid employment is located and, even then, are not guaranteed. It cannot be presumed that lone mothers have support networks available to provide free care for their children as this study illustrates that very few have bonding capital that they can draw upon. Without childcare in place, lone mothers are prohibited from searching for jobs and from participating in the programs that Ontario Works offers. In study after study, affordable, accessible and regulated childcare has been shown to have two major positive impacts: it enables lone mothers to find and sustain labor market attachment, and it positively affects child development, reducing a number of childhood morbidity indicators. The present study underscores the need to address childcare.

The second recommendation includes housing. Ensuring safe, decent and adequate housing must be a high priority if lone mothers are to transition to financial independence via

the labour market. Housing costs in urban centers far exceed the maximum shelter portion of Ontario Works. There is a desperate need across many jurisdictions for increased affordable housing. Most of the lone mothers in this study resided in subsidized housing. Many of their units were in need of serious repair and updating. Just as important to the fortunes of lone mothers, many units were in unsafe neighbourhoods. As applicants for subsidized housing, lone mothers have little or no choice about location of the housing they are offered. Lone mothers who could potentially develop support systems if they lived in safe neighbourhoods are largely unable to develop these supports in neighbourhoods where neighbours fear each other. Living in a community that one fears exacerbates social exclusion. And lone mothers who fear for their children's safety are not mothers who are going to move quickly and easily into the labour market.

Raising welfare rates would not only improve the quality of life for lone mothers receiving social assistance, it would also make transitioning into paid employment more feasible. Having a social assistance system where the rates fall below any measure of poverty is inhumane. Much of the rhetoric around welfare rates suggests that welfare rates need to be lower than what would be received from a minimum wage job so as to discourage people from staying in receipt of benefits for an extended period. However, the reality is that working for pay also costs money; accessing computers to build and print resumes, clothing, transportation, and childcare are all required and are all costly. Current benefit rates are so low that lone mothers spend a great amount of their time attempting to make ends meet.

Time spent stretching too-scarce dollars by searching out and applying for benefits,

volunteering to receive an extra hundred dollars, looking for more affordable housing and going to food banks could instead be time spent obtaining skills or looking for jobs.

The third recommendation includes access to sufficient income. Providing lone mothers only with enough money to cover the most basic necessities also makes building social capital less likely. This study illustrates the importance of bonding, bridging, and linking social capital to a woman's chances of entering the labour market. Enhancing social capital is in fact a stated goal of social assistance programs. However, building social capital requires an investment of both time and money. Lone mothers who lack bonding social capital capital can only build it if they can also build close friendships; socializing requires disposable time and money, not to mention childcare.

As workers in a low-waged economy increasingly characterized by non-standard work, lone mothers and their families would also benefit more favourable labour standards. Enhanced rights for part-time workers, higher minimum wages, enforcement of the standards would all benefit poor lone mothers.

Educating lone mothers has been shown to be among the most important of factors in enabling sustained employment and reducing childhood morbidity. In Ontario, provincial policy discourages lone mothers from attending college or university through its prohibition on collecting Ontario Student Assistance Program funds jointly with welfare benefits. If the goal of Ontario Works is to provide recipients with the tools necessary to become independent, then the training and skills portion of the welfare regime needs to be completely

overhauled. Programs must be reflective of current labour market realities. Access must be granted to trades schools and college programs with real potential to give these women training in skills for jobs that actually exist. Furthermore, women who desire a university education should be granted the opportunity to pursue this while receiving social assistance. Loans should be granted to cover the school-related costs while Ontario Works continues to provide shelter allowance. Investment in education helps build self-esteem and self-worth. Pursuing an education also allows lone mothers to build both bridging and linking social capital and helps them feel included in society.

More than any of the myriad factors considered here, income security and a higher standard of living will improve the life chances of the children and youth in lone mother-led families. There are ways we can assist lone mothers to obtain higher standards of living other than by simply increasing welfare benefits. Currently the taxation scheme at the provincial and the federal level allows for careful monitoring of the sources of income for welfare recipients. Eliminating provincial claw backs of child support payments and of Canadian Child Tax Credit will substantially increase many lone mothers' income.

The fourth recommendation is for policy changes aimed at making social assistance policies and programs consistent and transparent. In the Toronto region where this study took place, the data revealed discrepancies from local office to local office, both in policy and delivery of the same program; this is not acceptable. Thought and energy must be put into educating recipients and the public about how best to utilize the resources Ontario Works offers. Social assistance recipients must be made aware of all of their options and should

receive equal access to all of the supplementary benefits and services regardless of which social services office or caseworker they are assigned. Currently there is a plethora of continually evolving supplementary services, access to which is governed by shifting eligibility rules. Uniformly raising social assistance rates should alleviate the need for many of these services and those that remain can be overhauled and simplified.

The fifth recommendation entails simplifying the process of accessing benefits. A single benefit program needs to be implemented, integrating social assistance, subsidized housing, and subsidized childcare. All three programs are means tested; it is a waste of resources and time to require applicants to apply for each benefit separately, often in three separate locations. Not only does this add unnecessary stress to the lone mothers' lives, it requires three different over-burdened offices to repeat a process that could be simplified. The information could be shared between the agencies by implementing a unified computer system. This would be made easier if all three benefits were delivered municipally.

Beyond the specific recommendations regarding dismantling of barriers and overhauling the provincial welfare regime, this study strongly suggests that the situation of lone mothers in Ontario's work-to-welfare regime requires a fundamental shift in public discourse and policy. Arguably, the goal of society should be to give people tools to allow them to escape poverty rather than simply exit social assistance. Lone mothers represent too great a segment of the population and have too important a job raising the next generation of citizens to be all but abandoned, ill-housed, under-nourished, ignored, vilified and at risk at the margins of society. McKeen (2004) has pointed out that neo-liberal social policy has

moved far from recognizing social reproduction and the contribution of unpaid work to our society. Rather, the state assumes that either all women are tied to an economically secure breadwinner, or are partaking jointly with a partner in the labour force. Underlying this is the expectation that all the tasks involved in raising children, work previously seen as important if the women doing it were tied to a bread winner, will remain unpaid work. However the neo-liberal welfare state is one with decreased eligibility for income support, where lone parenthood is not viewed as prohibitive to labour market attachment. Mothers are employable and expected to take part in both production and reproduction simultaneously. In keeping with this neo-liberal thinking, Ontario Works overlooks the fact that lone mothers are single parents without economic resources. For this population with scarce resources, the inescapable responsibility for their families paired with their inability to pay anyone else to assume that responsibility prohibits them from establishing their financial independence. The welfare state must recalibrate its expectations and its allocation of resources to recognize this stark reality.

Appendix A: CURA Partners

Academic partners have included:

- Memorial University, St. John's NL
- Wilfrid Laurier University
- University of Toronto
- Simon Fraser University
- University of British Columbia

Community partners have included:

- Women Interested in Successful Employment WISE (St. John's)
- Opportunity for Advancement OFA (Toronto)
- City of Toronto, Employment and Social Services
- Ontario Network of Employment Skills Training Projects ONESTEP
- Social Planning and Research Council of British Columbia
- Immigrant Services Society of British Columbia)
- Newton Advocacy Group Society Vancouver
- Single Mothers' Services, YWCA of Vancouver

Appendix B: Building Social Inclusion Round One Interview Guide

Lone Mothers: Building Social Inclusion Round One

The purpose of this study is to understand the impact of both the welfare system and the labour market on the lives of single mothers. Participants are being asked to inform us about the issues faced by single parents on assistance and the issues associated with trying to stay in or return to the labour force.

FOCUS AREAS:

Home and Neighbourhood

(Note for the interviewer: We want to know about the participant's home – the physical space as well as the surroundings. These questions focus on housing and its availability, affordability, suitability, and adequacy. The questions about neighbours and neighbourhood are trying to learn about the physical and social surroundings, and how they are experienced by the participant and her children.)

- 1. To begin, I'd like to ask you a bit about where you live.
- a) What part of the city do you live in? What is your neighborhood like? How comfortable do you feel living there?
- b) How did you find your current residence?
- c) How affordable is your current residence?
- d) Can you tell me about your actual home, e.g. what size, how many bedrooms, how many people are living there? Do you have a yard or balcony? How comfortable is your home for you and your family?
- e) What are your relationships with your neighbours like?
- f) What about with your relationship with your landlord? Have you ever been behind on your rent? Can you tell me what happened, how you handled it and how your landlord responded?

Family and Community Life

(Note for the interviewer: We are trying to find out what kinds of activities are available for their children (eg. is there a community center nearby and what activities are offered? Are there barriers to participating in school activities?). We are also trying to get a sense of whether the woman is involved in her community and recreational life and the availability and barriers to her involvement.)

2. a) Can you tell me a little about your family? How many children you have, their ages, what they do, what life is like just now with them –

things like that.

- b) What does/do your child(ren) do for fun or recreation? For example, are they involved with any sports, school activities, programs? If yes, what are they? If not, why not?
- c) What kinds of things, if any, do you take part in your community?
- d) Where did you grow up? Who were the people in your household?

Health and Well-Being

(Note for the interviewer: We are interested in supports that the woman and her children may or may not have in relation to her health and well being. For example, her access to family doctor, factors that negatively impact her emotional health (eg. violence, stress, depression) and how she is coping (for example, where she finds support and strength.)

- 3. Next I'd like to ask you about health both yours and your children's.
- a) Do you have access to a family doctor and/or a walk-in clinic? Are there other health professionals that you depend on?
- b) Do you or your children have any health issues that you need medical or other support around? Do you have a consistent health professional (like a doctor or chiropractor) for these issues? How do you feel about the help you get from this person(s)?
- c) What kinds of stresses do you experience in your life? How do you cope with these different stresses?
- d) What do you do for fun? Who do you hang out with for fun?
- e) If you have a problem, who do you talk to?
- f) What kinds of things do you do for 'me time' or to treat or pamper yourself? What do you do to take care of yourself?

Working and the Labour Market

(Note for the interviewer: We are interested in learning about women's employment experiences, such as types of work, availability of work, barriers to the workforce, job security, job satisfaction, benefits, hours worked, wages, and so on.)

- 4. Now I'd like to ask you about your experience in the workforce, or paid work
- a) What kinds of jobs have you had? (full-time/part-time, rate of pay, workers, bosses, hours, benefits)
- b) How did you find this work?
- c) What kinds of educational and/or training experiences have you had?
- d) If you have attended any training programs/course through social services, can you tell me about that?

- e) Are there training or educational programs that you want to take that are not funded by social services?
- f) Is there a type of education or career that you want to do? What would help you reach this goal?
- g) What kinds of childcare arrangements do you have? How did you manage childcare when you were working?

Social Assistance

(Note for the interviewer: We want to learn more about how women experience the welfare system, and how they provide for themselves and their families.)

- 5. Next I'd like to ask you about your experiences of the welfare system and of living on social assistance.
- a) What factors contributed to your being on social assistance currently?
- b) What has this experience been like for you?
- c) If you've received assistance in the past, is this time any different for you? Do you see any changes in how the system works or your relationships with workers?
- d) How do you feel people such as those at your child(ren's) school, stores, neighbors, others, treat you when they learn you are on social assistance? Do they learn this you are on social assistance? How do they learn? How do you feel about this?

Involvement with other government institutions/systems

(Note for the interviewer: Here we are trying to find out if the woman is receiving any other types of supports, eg, support or educational groups, counseling, assistance, or if she is involved with the legal or child protections services. This involvement might be voluntary or involuntary.)

- 6. Now I'd like to ask you about other types of organizations you might be involved with.
- a) Do you have involvement with any other types of services and systems? (eg., Children's Aid, community agencies, legal aid, ...) Can you describe this involvement?
- b) How have the professionals or workers from these services been helpful? How have they not been helpful?
- c) What advice would you have for other single mothers about these services or the people who work in them?

Making Ends Meet

We recognize that it is terribly difficult to survive on current levels of social assistance and that there are now new rules regarding how much income you can earn while receiving social assistance. These questions are about how you survive financially.

- a) Are you able to pay for all your expenses? Do you feel that you are able to provide adequately for yourself and your children?
- b) Given the low levels of assistance, how do you make it? (Participants may talk about help from friends/families, undeclared sources of money, illegal jobs, etc.)
- c) Has there ever been a time when there wasn't enough money? What did you do?
- d) you talk about where you go to get food and other personal products you need for your family?
- e) What kinds of things do you need to buy, but cannot? Are there things you would like to buy, but cannot?

Goals and Achievements

(Note for the interviewer: We want to hear about the successes in women's lives, and the things they are proud of. Try to end the interview on a positive note, affirming her strengths.)

- 7. Just before we end, I'd like to ask you about strength and where you get yours from. It's really hard for mothers and children to survive on social assistance and I'm wondering if you'd be willing to tell me who, or what, helps you be strong enough to get through the hard times.
- a) Can you talk about something that you are most proud of in your life?(It may be helpful to ask her to show you an object that is meaningful to her and represents something about herself that she feels good about, such as an ornament, a diploma or certificate, a picture, a piece of art, etc.)
- b) Can you tell me about some of your child(ren's) accomplishments?
- c) What advice would you give to other single moms who are in similar situation as you?

Ending

Thank you very much for everything you've said today. Is there anything else you'd like to say or add? Any questions you have?

Appendix C: Building Social Inclusion Round Two Interview Guide

Lone Monthers: Building Social Inclusion Round Two

| 1. We last met on what has been happening with you and your | . Today I'd like to start with catching up on children since we last met. |
|---------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| For example, ask if anything has changed and following areas: | I how she is feeling about the |
| home and neighbourhood | |
| family and children | |
| health and well-being | |
| social assistance - workers, experiences with | the system, changes in rules/benefits, problems, |
| difficulties | |
| involvement with institutions/systems | |
| ability to make ends meet - things improved, | worse |
| specific issues that were identified as importa | ant from first interview (fill in details) |

2. If you could make choices for yourself and your family, what would you like to be doing with your life today?

What are her goals for her life, for making a living, for employment? If a job, what kind of job would that be? What kind of supports would she need to find that job? To keep that job? To make that job work for her? How does she feel about the fact that social assistance requires her to find a job?

3. Tell me about any training or education you've had and what you thought of it.

Some things to ask about as she is talking: How did it help or not help? How did she get this training? What did she like or not like about it?

4. (a) [If she has had no job experience as a mother, go to part (b).]

In this interview, we would like to ask some more details about living on social assistance as well as about work conditions. We know that it is often very hard to find jobs that pay enough to support you and your children. We also know that working conditions are sometimes not great. Could you tell me some more details about the paid work you have had? You

| mentioned that you have worked at_ | and | · | Could you |
|------------------------------------|-----|---|-----------|
| tell me about these experiences? | | | |

Some things to ask about as she is talking:

What was the job-getting process like?

What were her hours?

How did she feel about her boss?

What was her pay? Was this enough?

How did she feel about her schedule?

Where was the job? How did she get there?

How did she find the work? Was it through social assistance?

How was the transition to work (such as childcare, moving, etc.), and was she given time at work to make arrangements?

How did she like the work?

Why did the job end?

How did she juggle work and family demands?

Was there anything in the work that made her uncomfortable, that she didn't like?

(b) If she does not have a job, and has not in recent years, ask about the social assistance experience. For example:

What is she required to do in order to stay on social assistance, such as looking for work, taking courses, etc.?

What has this process been like for her? How does she feel about it?

5. *Tell me about any experiences you've had with volunteer work.*

Some things to ask about as she is talking: What did she like and not like about the volunteer jobs? Why did she do this volunteer work? What did she gain from it? Did you feel respected?

- 6. Women do all sorts of work, including all the things that go into raising children, swapping time and work with friends and family, and jobs that pay under-the-table. Can you tell me about some of the creative things that you do/have done to provide for your family?
- 7. If you could change anything in job conditions or the labour market for single mothers like yourself, what would that be? What would really help women who want to be able to support themselves and their kids by working?
- 8. Is there anything that I haven't asked that you would like to talk about before we end?

Appendix D: Building Social Inclusion Round Three Interview Guide

Lone Monthers: Building Social Inclusion Round Three Social Relations and Connections

| Introduction: | | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------|
| The last time we met was on that second interview, we did some catch up first and second interview, about any change family, how you spend your time. We also volunteer work. | , talking about what had ha es in your living circumstan | appened between the aces, your kids, your |
| In this third interview, I'd also like to this time talking about what has hap(month) and now. After that, people, groups and organizations you are constitutions. | ppened between the sec I'd like to spend some tin | cond interview in |
| PART 1: CATCH UP | | |
| So to start with, what's been going on for you | a since we last met? | |
| PROMPTS: Changes in: home and neighbourhood Changes in: family Changes in: health and well-being Changes in: social assistance – worker rules/benefits Changes in: involvement with institution Changes in work status Changes in or new stresses in your limits. | ers, experiences with the systions/systems | stem, changes in |
| PART 2: FOLLOW UP | | |

At the second interview, you talked about......what's happening now?

[SPECIFIC ISSUES THAT WERE IDENTIFIED AS IMPORTANT FROM THE LAST (SECOND) INTERVIEW – FILL IN DETAILS BEFORE THIRD

INTERVIEW, ONLY ASK ABOUT THIS IF THE ISSUES ARE NOT COVERED ABOVE IN THE CATCH-UP QUESTIONS/DISCUSSION]

PART 3:

Introduction: (Please say this at the start of this part of the interview)

I would like to spend some time talking to you about the people, groups, and organizations you are connected with in your life. The people might be family, friends, neighbours, acquaintances, professionals, school/day care staff, colleagues, and so on. The groups and organizations might include: welfare, schools, the health care system, Children's Aid Society, religious organizations, or band councils. The purpose of these questions is for us to better understand how single mothers are connected to others and how they feel about these connections.

I'll begin by asking about family and friends:

1) Would you tell me a little bit about your connections, your relationships with each of these people?

Probes:

How do you connect with each other and how often (through the internet, telephone, personal visits?)

How far away do you live from each other? (walking distance and time, driving of public transport time)

What do you do together?

How do you help, or support, each other? (eg support, financial assistance, practical support such as childcare, errands, friendship)

- 2) What do you like most and least in these relationships?
- 3) What do you need that you're not getting out of these relationships?
- 4) What would you like to see changed in these relationships?
- C) Next, let's talk about neighbours, acquaintances, and other people you know, but less well.
- 1) Would you tell me a little bit about your connections, your relationships with each of these people?

Probes:

How do you connect with each other and how often (through the internet, telephone, personal visits?)

How far away do you live from each other? (walking distance and time, driving of public transport time)

How do you help, or support, each other? (eg support, financial assistance, practical support such as childcare, errands, friendship)

- 2) What do you like most and least in these relationships?
- 3) What do you need that you're not getting out of these relationships?
- 4) What would you like to see changed in these relationships?
- D) We'd like to talk about how your background might affect some of your connections with your family, friends, acquaintances and neighbours.

We know that people's backgrounds have an impact on how they experience poverty, social assistance and relationships. When we talk about backgrounds we are referring to things like, class, gender, race, sexual orientation, culture and language. In the first two interviews we did with you and the other participants we noticed that people mentioned the significance of their backgrounds and in this interview we would like to understand this further.

The next set of questions is going to help us better understand the connections between your relationships with people and organizations and such things as cultural and racial backgrounds, where you live, being a woman, and stress and emotional health.

1) Let's look at the map of the relations and connections you have drawn.

Can you think of an example of how being a single mom has influenced your connection or relationship with your family, friends, acquaintances and neighbours? What happened? What was it like for you?

Can you think of an example of how race, religious, language or cultural background influenced the connection? What happened? What was it like for you?

How about being a social assistance recipient?

What about your own stress or emotional or psychological challenges?

If abuse has been part of your experience, can you think of an example of how abuse might have affected your connections or relationships in this area?

What about your immigration status in Canada? (ASK ONLY IF THE WOMAN MOVED TO CANADA)

- E) Next, let's talk about the organizations and institutions you have connections with.
- 1) Would you tell me a little bit about your connections with each of these organizations?

Probes:

How do you connect with them and how often (through the internet, telephone, personal visits?)

How far away are their offices? (walking distance and time, driving of public transport time)

Why are you connected to them?

- 2) What do you like most and least in your connections to these institutions or organizations?
- 3) What do you need that you're not getting out of your connections to these institutions or organizations?
- 4) What would you like to see changed in your connections to these institutions or organizations?
 - F) I'd like to ask the questions about your background that we went through earlier again, but now I'd like you to think of examples of how your background might have affected your relationships with organizations and institutions

Can you think of an example of how being a single mom has influenced your connection or relationship with family, friends, acquaintances, neighbours? What happened? What was it like for you?

Can you think of an example of how race, religious, language or cultural background influenced the connection? What happened? What was it like for you?

How about being a social assistance recipient?

What about your own stress or emotional or psychological challenges?

If abuse has been part of your experience, can you think of an example of how abuse might have affected your connections or relationships in this area?

What about your immigration status in Canada? (ASK ONLY IF THE WOMAN MOVED TO CANADA)

- G) Now, I'd like to ask you a few questions about those people, organizations, services, or institutions that you have identified as problematic in your life.
- 1) What is your connection to this person/organization/service/institution (just say one of these depending on how the participant identifies the problematic relationship).
- 2) How often to you see or talk to them? In what way do you connect with them? For example, by phone, in person, email, etc.
- 3) What would happen if stopped being connected to these people?
- 4) How do you deal with or manage this challenging relationship/situation? What would help you better cope with this challenging or problematic relationship/situation?

PART 4: FINAL QUESTIONS.

- 1) What would you tell other women is the most important thing to know or understand about getting help, or support, from others, and/or giving help, or support, to others?
- 2) Have I forgotten anything, or is there anything that I haven't asked that you would like to talk about before we end?

Thanks

Appendix E: Building Social Inclusion Round Four Interview Guide

Lone Mothers: Building Social Inclusion Round Four

| Pream | hl | e· |
|---------|-----|----|
| ı ıvanı | נטו | u. |

The last time we met was on ______(date). During that interview, we did some catch up, talking about what had happened between the two interviews and about any changes in your living circumstances, your kids, your family, how you spend your time. We also talked about your experiences with who you turn to for friendship, help, assistance or support, and who turns to you.

In this last interview, I'd also like to begin by doing some catch-up, this time talking about what has happened between the last interview and now. After that, I'd like to spend some time following up on some things you mentioned during the other interviews but that we didn't talk about in much detail. And, as a last piece, I'd like to ask you to kind of sit and look back on your life in general over the past years that you have been involved in this study

PART 1: CATCH UP

To start with, what's been going on for you since we last met?

PROMPTS:

- Changes in: home and neighbourhood
- Changes in: family
- Changes in: health and well-being
- Changes in: social assistance workers, experiences with the system,
- Changes in: involvement with institutions/systems
- Changes in work status
- Changes in or new stresses in your life

PART 2: FOLLOW UP

I'd like to spend some time talking with you in more detail about some of the aspects of your life that you talked about in past interviews.

Questions in this section will be personalized for each participant. Questions will be based on the gaps identified from a synopsis of rounds 1 to 3 for each participant. Gaps will be individually identified as areas where the full story is not available for a participant.

Appendix G lists specific themes/areas for which we would like as full a picture as possible for each participant as possible. It can be used as a guide in identifying gaps.

PART 3: REFLECTIONS

Now I'd like to shift the focus of the interview and spend some time asking you to think about, or reflect on, your and your children's lives.

If you think back over the past three years, and how your life has and hasn't changed, what stands out for you? What has helped things to change or what has prevented things from changing?

PROMPTS:

This might be something small or big.

It might be something that you'd see as a 'turning point'.

What happened?

Who was involved?

What makes it stand out for you?

Three years ago, when we did the first interview you were receiving welfare. Based on your own experiences, and thinking back over the past three years, to what extent would you say the welfare system and other services (e.g., subsidized housing, healthcare, childcare, education, child welfare, family support services) have helped you and your children? How could they have helped you better?

PROMPTS:

What would you like them to do differently as long as you and your family use their services?

There is a lot of attention in the media right now about the poor economy. Have these economic changes affected your family?

PROMPTS:

Have there been any noticeable changes in regard to finding paid employment?

Have there been any changes in relation to your social assistance/income support benefits or relationship with SA/IS workers?

Is life harder than before?

What is harder? What makes it harder?

b) We know that many people are struggling financially. Often this means getting into debt. Can we talk a bit about both debt and how you are managing?

PROMPTS:

Do you have a credit card? If not, have you ever applied for one?

Why is it important to you to have a credit card?

Do you routinely carry a balance?

How much?

How much is the minimum monthly payment?

Do you know what the interest rate is or how much interest you pay each month?

Do you have student loans? Other loans? How much?

Have you made payments/ what is your status with them, are you in default?

Do you owe money to friends and family? How much? How do you manage to pay it back?

How does it affect your relationship with family and friends?

Do you ever have to use a Money Mart to cash cheques? How often? Under what circumstances?

One of the issues that the many single mothers we've talked to for this study have mentioned is their goals, hopes and visions for their own future and that of their children. What are your hopes for yourself and your family over the coming years? What strengths and abilities have you developed that will help you in achieving these goals? How have your goals and or strengths and abilities changed over the last 3 years?

Doing these interviews over the past 3 years, it is evident that many lone mothers do many things in their life to fight for the right for fair treatment for themselves and their children. (eg. file complaints, get support from advocates, talk to media, negotiate with social services, etc). Often we do these things out of necessity and we may not even recognize our strength and determination in doing them - we do them because we have to in order to survive. By participating in this research project we have asked you to reflect on these things you do to get by financially, socially and emotionally.

Has participating in the interviews and telling us your story shifted the way in which you see yourself in relation to the social assistance system or any other institutions you are involved with?

Has it shifted (changed) the way in which you think about lone mothers in society in general? Has it impacted the way you see yourself in relationship to other lone mothers in a similar situation?

Participating in these interviews is part of social action - has this encouraged you to consider participating in any other social action activities?

Do you have any suggestions for how lone mothers can work towards making change in the social assistance system?

Is there anything else you would like to say that we have not touched on today?

Appendix F: Building Social Inclusion Round Four Interview Prompts

Specific themes/areas for which we want as full a picture for each participant as possible:

Housing

Do we have details surrounding her moves, the reasons and other circumstances related to the moves, and the impact of these moves on her and her children?

Health

Do we have details about health issues that have affected her and/or her children and how have these have impacted on stress, work, making ends meet? Do we have information on specific health concerns such as access to health care, food security, chronic illness, depression, (dis) Ability? If she has mentioned tobacco use, alcohol, or substance abuse as a component in her life, do we have details on how this has affected her?

Stress

Has she mentioned stress in her life? If so, what are some of the details about how this has affected her throughout the last 3 years?

Making ends meet and debt

Has she mentioned debt? Has this been a component in making ends meet? What are the details around the debt (who/what to? has this been increasing? does she have a student loan? is she repaying it? What does it mean if she is not repaying it at present? How much is she in debt)?

Children

Are there details about issues her children have faced, stigma, trouble at school, etc. that were touched upon? What are the details re this? Has she mentioned managing stigma related to her children? Did we get details around this?

Fathers

If fathers have been mentioned, do we have details re how present they are in the children's lives? Do we know what the impact is on the family of the father's involvement, their lack of involvement, their moving in and out? If fathers were not mentioned is it appropriate to raise/ask about?

Employment

What jobs has she had since round 1? When did these jobs start and end? Why did the job(s) end? What are ongoing barriers or issues that she has faced in staying in a job or finding a job?

Childcare

What childcare arrangements has she had since round 1? Have there been any particular issues with childcare for which the details are not clear?

Educational opportunities and training programs

What educational opportunities and/or training programs has she had since round 1? Do we know if these educational/ training programs been helpful or not? Did the woman work wither caseworker to look at what is most suitable for her? How were educational training programs selected? Did she feel pressure to go into educational/training programs?

Social assistance – Has there been a move off of assistance - either completely or temporarily or a move to disability support? What are the circumstances and details surrounding this move/these moves?

Intersectional issues

Do we know about the involvement with other systems (e.g., child welfare). What are the details – the issues she faced, how things got resolved? How has she been involved in the systems she has mentioned previously? Are they still involved? How has this involvement impacted her life?

<u>Understanding social history</u>

What are factors/issues earlier in her life that she has hinted at, or mentioned? Explore them in more detail, if possible, and their impact on her life (e.g., abuse as a child, woman abuse, addictions situation, being a runaway youth....)

Understanding social location

is there anything additional to ask about experiences that appear to be affected by her or her children's race, ethnicity, class, sexual orientation, (dis) Ability or place of residence as indicator of social location?

Stigma – Is there anything additional to say with regard to experience of stigma – of any kind? If nothing has ever been said, enquire within the context of other lone moms feeling judged/made to feel less than by 'others'.

Appendix G: Caseworker focus group guide

<u>Toronto Social Service Caseworkers</u> Lone Mothers Project, October 8, 2009

Preamble: We are part of a five-year research project examining what is happening to social assistance recipients who are single parents vis a vis labour force participation. We would like you to tell us about the issues facing this group based on your understanding of the population and changes to welfare and the workplace. In addition, we would like to explore the different avenues of support that you as caseworkers have the ability to provide to your clients.

Background

While we have these facts sheets that provide us with most of the background information on yourselves, perhaps it would be helpful if we could just go around and introduce ourselves and perhaps you could share with the group how long you have worked in Social Services and what office you are currently located in.

How big is your caseload and of that approximately what percentage would you estimate are single moms?

Who are the single parents on assistance today?

(Demographics: age, sex, ethnicity, family size, age, racialization, education, work experience, changes)

What kinds of issues do you see facing single parents and are they the same or different from your other clients? (Children and care, health (including mental health), mobility and access, education and training, housing, literacy, language, racialization)

What are the biggest barriers or frustrations you see for your lone parent clients, and for yourselves as workers?

Do you go through any specific training for your job (sensitivity training)?

Money Issues

For those of you who have been working in the system since the major reforms of the early 90s, how have things changed for your clients and their families?

Is calculating a 50% deduction on all income instead of calculating it on family costs of living making your jobs as caseworkers any easier? What do you think about this method of calculating deductions? Would you support going back to the old method

which was based on family costs?

What extra pools of money are available to recipients? For example it is our understanding that lone mothers can access an extra \$100.00 per month for volunteering and that there is extra money available for moving costs, special diets, shelter enhancement, clothing allowances etc. Who is eligible for this and what is the process of accessing it? Is there a cap on how much or many people you can allot these things to in a month or in a year?

Who qualifies for childcare and housing subsidies? What are the waiting lists like for these programs?

Power and Discretionary Issues

Are all single mothers required to engage in some type of 'work' whether it be school, paid work, skills upgrading or volunteering? (if not required, 'encouraged')

When helping a client plan for their future, what other types of programs are available to them? How do you determine what the best course of action is for each individual client?

What types of volunteer placements are acceptable? What are the stipulations placed upon these placements (ie. 6 months at one place)?

Are client given information on all the options available or do you determine which options are applicable to them? (i want to get at the fact that some of the lone moms are stating that they didn't know there was such a thing as subsidized childcare and others are saying that they didn't know OSAP was even an option)

What kinds of schooling are approved? For example, in one of the interviews with lone moms, there is a single mother interested in becoming a mechanic however she states that she isn't permitted to do this and as a result is looking into something that she is not at all interested in doing.

Is everyone referred to the Employment Resource Centre?

Some single moms are currently engaged in some type of parenting classes (LEAP I am assuming). How are decisions made regarding this?

Do you ever go to someone's home? How often and why?

Let's talk a bit about declaration of support forms. It is my understanding that all clients must fill these out. What happens if there are issues of safety or if a mom declares that the father of her child/ren is unknown?

I think I'd wonder what the caseworkers understand about all of the powers 'over' them that lone mums on welfare have to deal/cope/not cope with from stigma to other systems to social assistance. How do caseworkers conceptualize the lives of lone mums on social assistance - essentially, leaving out the dealing with social assistance piece of it.

Do you find yourself playing an authoritative role with your lone-mother clients? If so, how and in what areas? Like a parent? Like a teacher? Do you consider yourself an authority figure?

Do you ever feel the need to use positive or negative reinforcement with your clients? How do you handle that feeling?

Do you ever act on it?

What forms of positive or negative reinforcement do you tend to use?

What forms do you use most often?

Would it be acceptable to delay returning a phone call, or makie a client wait beyond a scheduled appointment time as a form of negative reinforcement? Would it be acceptable to deny a client a particular benefit as a form of negative reinforcement? For example, if they ask for emergency monies? Would it be acceptable to withhold a client's cheque as a form of negative reinforcement?

TSS as a system has rules that clients are supposed to follow, and there are consequences for those rules. For example, if clients don't turn in their income reporting statements, their cheques will be delayed. How much discretion do you have in enforcing those rules? Do you see yourself as an impersonal enforcer for TSS – just going by the rule-book, or do you see yourself as personally involved in your clients compliance and non-compliance?

How personal do you think your relationship with your clients gets? Do you think it is good to have a more personally invested attitude toward your clients, or do you think it is better to be detached?

Do you get heavily invested in your clients' compliance/non-compliance? In their success with their job-skills plans?

Successes

Who are the most/least successful at exiting assistance?

Does anyone have examples of single moms who built skills through these programs that eventually resulted in full-time employment that provided enough for them to exit assistance?

Where are the best places for single mothers to go look for work?

What do you think needs to be in place or to change in order for single parents to be successful as parents and as workers?

Appendix H: Employment Resource Caseworker Focus Group

Toronto Social Service Employment Resource Centre Caseworkers Lone Mothers Project, October 22, 2008

Preamble: We are part of a five-year research project examining what is happening to lone mothers on social assistance vis a vis labour force participation. We would like you to tell us about the issues facing this group based on your understanding of the population and changes to welfare and the workplace. In addition, we would like to explore the different avenues of support that you as caseworkers have the ability to provide for the clients who come to the Employment Resource Centre.

Although you all work for Social Services we understand that you may deal with very different issues, and have differing opinions or viewpoints on the issues that are discussed within this group. Others will obviously hear what you say but we would like to create an atmosphere of openness and safety and so would request that we all tolerate dissenting views and not discuss comments made, after the focus group concludes.

Could we just go around and introduce ourselves and perhaps you could share with the group how many years you have worked with social services and what type of positions you have held? Which Employment Resource Centre you are currently working in and how long you have been there?

Tell us about the resources of the ERC.

What can you offer to clients? What types of resources do you offer through the center?

How do people find out about you? (mostly through referral/Advertisement/ walking by?)

What are the biggest barriers or frustrations you see for your lone mother clients?

How would you describe your role?

Can you each describe one client with whom you worked that epitomizes the best/most successful outcomes in terms of your contribution and the use of ERC resources?

Can you describe how your vision of jobs for lone moms might differ from your vision for others trying to get off of assistance?

What kinds of jobs work for lone mothers?

What kinds of jobs are lone mothers most likely to find?

Do the lone moms that you see know what they want in terms of jobs and job training?

How do you guide them?

Almost 30 years ago there were programs in Canada that helped women move into non-traditional trades. Would such a program make a difference for lone mothers (and other women on assistance)? How would such a program affect how you do your job?

How effective are the training programs that are available through social services?

What works in helping lone mothers get what we call sustainable employment (explain need for above minimum wage 'family income' w/ subsidized childcare)? What doesn't work?

How do you envision an ideal working relationship with your clients and their social assistance caseworkers? And, how does this compare with your actual relationships with your current clients?

Do you work in conjunction with clients' social assistance caseworkers?

We see many lone moms caught between welfare that is insufficient and insecure and a labour market where the work is also precarious with inadequate pay to accommodate all of the other expenses associated with working. Do you have suggestions about what could be done to improve this situation for lone mothers?

Can you think of anything else that you would like us to know about the ERC? Or have anything else you would like to add?

Bibliography

- Acker, J. (1990). Hierarchies, jobs, bodies: A theory of gendered organizations. Gender and Society, 4(2), 139-158.
- Acs, G. and Loprest, P. (2001), Initial Synthesis Report of the Findings from ASPE's 'Leavers' Grant, Washington, DC: The Urban Institute.
- Acs, G., & Loprest, P. J. (2007). TANF Caseload Composition and Leavers Synthesis Report. Report submitted to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute.
- Adkins, L. (2005). Social capital: The anatomy of a troubled concept. Feminist Theory, 6(2), 195-211.
- Albanese, P. (2012). The more things change...the more we need childcare: On the fortieth anniversary of the Report on the Royal Commission on the Status of Women. In L. Tepperman and A. Kalyta (Eds.), Reading sociology: Canadian perspectives (2nd ed.) (pp. 95-98). Toronto: Oxford University Press.
- Alboim, N., Finnie, R., & Meng, R. (2005). The discounting of immigrants' skills in Canada: Evidence and policy recommendations. IRPP Choices, 11(2), 1–26.
- Alden, J., & Thomas, H. (1998). Social exclusion in Europe: Context and policy. International Planning Studies, 3(1), 7–14.
- Alksnis, C., Demaris, S., & Curtis, J. (2008). Workforce segregation and the gender wage gap: Is "women's" work valued as highly as "men's"? Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 38(6), 1416-1441.
- Anderson, D., Binder, M., & Krauswe, K. (2002). The motherhood wage penalty: Which mothers pay it and why? The American Economic Review, 92, 354-358.
- Anderson, S., Halter, A., & Schuldt, R. (2001). Support service use patterns by early TANF leavers. New Directions for Evaluation, 91, 87-100.
- Anisef, P., Sweet, R., & Frempong, G. (2003). Labour market outcomes of immigrant and racial minority graduates in Canada (Working Paper No. 23). Toronto: CERIS.
- Armitage, A. (2003). Social welfare in Canada. Toronto: Oxford University Press.
- Avellar, S., & Smock, P. (2003). Has the price of motherhood declined over time? A cross-cohort comparison of the motherhood wage penalty. Journal of Marriage and Family, 65(3), 597-607.
- Baker, D., North, K., & The ALSPAC Study Team. (1999). Does employment improve the health of lone mothers? Social Science and Medicine, 49, 121-131.

- Baker, M. (2002). Poor health, lone mothers and welfare reform: Competing visions of employability. Women's Health and Urban Life, 1(2), 4-25.
- Baker, M., & Tippin, D. J. (1999). Poverty, social assistance, and the employability of mothers: Restructuring welfare states. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Baker, M. (2006). Restructuring family policies: Convergences & divergences. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Bane, M. J., & Ellwood, D. T. (1994). Welfare realities: From rhetoric to reform. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bank, J. & Matsudura, R. (2014). The impact of earnings disregards on the behaviour of low-income families. Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, 33(1), 7-25.
- Barrett, G. F., & Cragg, M. I. (1998). An untold story: The characteristics of welfare use in British Columbia. The Canadian Journal of Economics 31(1), 195-188.
- Barron, J.M., Black, D., & Lowenstein, M. (1993). Gender differences in training, capital and wages. Journal of Human Resources, 28(2), 342-364.
- Barry, M. (1998). Social exclusion and social work: An introduction. In M. Barry & C. Hallett (Eds.), Social exclusion and social work: Issues of theory, policy and practice (pp. 1-12). Dorset: Russell House Publishing Ltd.
- Bartley, S., Blanton, P., & Gillard, J. (2005). Husbands and wives in dual-earner marriages: Decision-making, gender roles, attitudes, division of household labor and equity. Marriage and Family Reviews, 37, 69-74.
- Bashevkin, S. (2002). Welfare hot buttons: Women, work, and social policy reform. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Batty, D. (2002). Social exclusion: The issue explained. The Guardian, 15(1), 2002.
- Bauer, J., Braun, B., & Olson, P. (2000). Welfare to well-being framework for research, education, and outreach. The Journal of Consumer Affairs, 34(1), 62-81.
- Becker, G. S. (1964). Human capital: a theoretical and empirical analysis. New York: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Beneria, L. (1995). Towards a greater integration of gender into economics. World Development 23(11),1839-1850.
- Beresford, P., & Wilson, A. (1998). Social exclusion and social work: Challenging the contradictions of exclusive debate. In M. Barry & C. Hallett (Eds.), Social exclusion and social work (pp. 85-96). Dorset: Russel House Publishing.
- Berg, B. (2007). Qualitative research methods for the social sciences. Toronto: Pearson.

- Berk, S. F. (1992). The gender factory: The apportionment of work in American households. New York: Plenum.
- Bertrand, M., & Hallock, K. (1999). Gender compensation differentials among U.S. high-level executives. (Working Paper). Princeton and University of Illinois.
- Bezanson, K. (2006). Gender, the state, and social reproduction: Household insecurity in neo-liberal times. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Bezanson, K. (2006). Neo-liberal state and social reproduction: Gender and household insecurity in the late 90s. In M. Luxton & K. Bezanson (Eds), Social reproduction: Feminist political economy challenges neo-liberalism (pp. 173-214). Montreal: McGill Press.
- Bezanson, K., & Carter, E. (2006). Public policy and social reproduction: Gendering social
- capital. Retrieved from: http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2007/swc-cfc/SW21-151-2006E.pdf.
- Bhalla, A., & Lapeyre, F. (1997). Social exclusion: Towards an analytical and operational framework. Development and Change 28(3), 413-433.
- Bianchi, S. M., Milkie, M. A., Sayer, L. C., & Robinson, J. P. (2000). Is anyone doing the housework? Trends in the gender division of household labour. Social Forces, 79, 191-228.
- Bianchi, S.M., Sayer, L., Milkie, M., & Robinson, J.P. (2012). Housework: who did, does or will do it and how much does it matter? Social Forces 91 (1), 55-63.
- Bittman, M., England, P., Sayer, L., Folbre, N., & Matheson, G. (2003). When does gender trump money? Bargaining and time in household work. American Journal of Sociology, 109, 186-214.
- Blau, F. (1998). Trends in the well-being of American women, 1970-1995. Journal of Economic Literature, 36, 112-165.
- Blau, F., & Kahn, L. (2000). Gender differences in pay. The Journal of Economic Perspectives, 14(4), 75-99.
- Bourdieu, P. (1977). Cultural reproduction and social reproduction. In J. Kabarel & A.H. Halsey (Eds.), Power and ideology in education (pp. 487-510). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Bourdieu, P. (1986). The forms of capital. In J.G. Richardson (Ed.), Handbook of theory and research for the sociology of education (pp. 241-258). New York: Greenwood Press.
- Bourdieu, P., & Wacquant, L. J. D. (1992). An invitation to reflexive sociology. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

- Breitkreuz, R. (2005). Engendering citizenship? A critical feminist analysis of Canadian welfare-to-work policies and the employment experiences of lone mothers. Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare, 32, 147-165.
- Brines, J. (2006). Economic dependency, gender and the division of labor at home. The American Journal of Sociology, 100(3), 652-688.
- Britton, D. M., & Logan, L. (2008). Gendered organizations: Progress and prospects. Sociology Compass, 2(1), 107-121.
- Brodie, M. J. (1996). Women and Canadian public policy. Toronto: Harcourt Brace.
- Brooks, B., Jarman, J., & Blackburn, R. M. (2003). Occupational segregation in Canada: 1981-1996. The Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology, 40(2), 197-213.
- Brown, P., & Crompton, R. (1994). Introduction. In P. Brown & R. Crompton (Eds.), A new Europe? Economic restructuring and social exclusion (pp. 1-14). London: UCL Press Limited.
- Bryson, A., Ford, R., & White, M. (1997). Making work pay: Lone mothers, employment and well-being. London: HMSO (Her Majesty's Stationery Office).
- Budig, M., & England, P. (2001). The wage penalty for motherhood. American Sociological Review, 66, 204-225.
- Budig, M. & Hodges, M. (2010). Differences in disadvantage: Variations in motherhood penalty across white women's earning distribution. American Sociological Review 75 (5), 795-728.
- Burman, P. (1996). Poverty's bonds. Toronto: Thompson Educational Publishing.
- Burns, D., Forrest, R., Kearns, A., & Flint, J. (2000). The impact of housing associations on social capital: Interim report to Scottish Homes. Department of Urban Studies, University of Glasgow.
- Burt, R. (1992). Structural holes: The social structure of competition. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Burt, R. S. (1998). The network structure of social capital. Paper given at Social Networks and Social Capital conference. Durham, NC: Duke University. Retrieved from: http://gsbwww.uchicago.edu/fac/ronald.burt/research.
- Caiazza, A., & Putnam, R. (2005). Women's status and social capital in the United States. Journal of Women, Politics and Policy, 27(1/2), 69-84.
- Caiazza, A., Shaw, A., & Werschkul, M. (2004). Women's economic status in the states: Wide disparities by race, ethnicity and region. Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research.
- Calhoun, C. (2006). Pierre Bourdieu and social transformation: Lessons from Algeria.

- Development and Change, 37(6), 1403-1415.
- Campaign 2000. (2008). 2007 report card on Canadian child and family poverty in Canada. Retrieved from
 - http://www.campaign2000.ca/reportCards/national/2007EngNationalReportCard.pdf.
- Canadian Council on Social Development. (2006). Families: A Canadian profile. Retrieved from http://www.ccsd.ca/factsheets/family.
- Caragata, L. (2000). Lone mothers and the politics of care. Journal of the Association for Research on Mothering, 10(1), 66-81.
- Caragata, L. (2003). Globalization and the social and economic marginalization of women and families. International Sociology, 18(3), 559-580.
- Caragata, L. (2003). Lone mothers: Building social inclusion. (Funded research proposal prepared for Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada). Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, ON.
- Caragata, L. (2003). Neoconservative realities: The social and economic marginalization of Canadian women. International Sociology, 18(3), 559-580.
- Caragata, L. (2008). Lone mothers: Policy responses to build social inclusion. In M. Cohen & J, Pulkingham (Eds.), Public policies for women in Canada (pp. 162-183). Toronto, ON: University of Toronto Press.
- Carpiano, R. M. (2006). Towards a neighborhood resource-based theory of social capital for health: Can Bourdieu and sociology help? Social Science & Medicine, 62(1), 165-175.
- Catalyst. (2000). Census of women corporate officers and top earners. New York: Catalyst.
- Catalyst. (2012). Catalyst quick take: Canadian women. New York: Catalyst.
- Charette, M. & Meng, R. (1994). The determinants of welfare participation of female heads of household in Canada. Canadian Journal of Economics, 27(2), 290-306.
- Chunn, D. E., & Gavigan, S. (2004). Welfare law, welfare fraud and the moral regulation of the never deserving poor. Social and Legal Studies, 13(2), 219-243.
- City of Toronto. (2012). Children's Services Facts and figures. Retrieved from http://www.toronto.ca/children/facts_figs.htm.
- Cleveland, G., & Krashinksy, M. (2001). What special arrangements are necessary for lone parent families in a universal childcare program. In G. Cleveland and M. Ramesh (Eds.), Our children's future: Childcare policy in Canada (pp. 315-334). Toronto, ON: University of Toronto Press.
- Cohen, M. (1997). From the welfare state to vampire capitalism. In P. Evans & G. Wekerie (Eds.), Women and the Canadian welfare state: Challenges and change (pp. 28-68). Toronto, ON: University of Toronto Press.

- Cohen, M. (2001). Do comparisons between hospital support workers and hospitality workers make sense? Vancouver: Hospital Employees Union.
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. American Journal of Sociology, 94, 95-120.
- Coleman, J. S. (1994). Foundations of social theory. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press.
- Collin, C., & Jensen, H. (2009). A statistical profile of poverty in Canada. Retrieved from http://www.parl.gc.ca/Content/LOP/ResearchPublications/prb0917-e.htm.
- Coltrane, S. (2000). Research on household labor: Modeling and measuring the social embeddedness of routine family work. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 62, 1208-1233.
- Cooke, M. (2009). A Welfare Trap? The duration and dynamics of social assistance use among lone mothers in Canada. Canadian Review of Sociology, 46 (3), 179-206.
- Correll, S. (2007). Getting a job: Is there a motherhood penalty? American Journal of Sociology, 112(5), 1297-1338.
- Cossman, B., & Fudge, J. (2002). Privatization, law and the challenge to feminism. Toronto: University of Toronto Press
- Coulter, K. (2009). Deep neo-liberal integration: The production of third way politics in Ontario. Studies in Political Economy, 83, 191-208.
- Craig, L. (2006). Does father care mean fathers share? A comparison of how mothers and fathers in intact families spend time with children. Gender & Society, 20, 259-291.
- Crittenden, A. (2001). The price of motherhood: Why the most important job in the world is still the least valued. New York: Metropolitan Books.
- Cumming, S. (2005). "Welcome to my life": The experiences of single mothers who are the recipients of multiple state provided benefits. (M.A. Thesis). Brock University, Ontario.
- Cumming, S., & Caragata, L. (2011). Rationing 'rights': Supplementary welfare benefits and lone moms. Critical Social Work, 12(1), 66-85.
- Cunningham, M. (2007). Influences of women's employment on the gendered division of household labor over the life course: Evidence from a 31 year panel study. Journal of Family Issues, 28, 422-444.
- Curwood, S. E. (2009). What is poverty? Journal of Hunger and Poverty, 1(2), 9-17.
- Daguerre, A. (2004). Importing workfare: Policy transfer of social and labour market policies from the USA to Britain under New Labour. Social Policy & Administration, 38(1), 41-56.

- Daly, M., & Rake, K. (2003). Gender and the welfare state: Care, work and welfare in Europe and the USA. Cambridge, UK: Polity Press.
- Davis, S., & Greenstein, T. (2009). Gender ideology: Components, predictors, and consequences. Annual Review of Sociology, 35, 87-105.
- Denzin, N., & Lincoln, Y. (1994). The SAGE handbook of qualitative research (3rd ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publication Inc.
- de Haan, A. (1997). Poverty and social exclusion: A comparison of debates (PRUS Working Paper No.2). Brighton: University of Sussex.
- de Haan, A. (1999). Social exclusion: Towards an holistic understanding of deprivation. Paper presented at World Development Report 2001 Forum on Inclusion, Justice, and Poverty Reduction.
- Dewilde, C. (2003). A life-course perspective on social exclusion and poverty. The British Journal of Sociology, 54(1), 109-128.
- Dinovitzer, R., Reichman, N., & Sterling, J. (2009). The differential valuation of women's work: A new look at the gender gap in lawyer's incomes. Social Forces, 88(2), 819-864.
- Dobrowolsky, A., & Jenson, J. (2004). Shifting representations of citizenship: Canadian politics of "women" and "children". Social Politics, 11(2), 154-180.
- Dominguez, S., & Watkins, C. (2003). Creating networks for survival and mobility: Social capital among African American and Latin-American low-income mothers. Social Problems, 50(1), 111-135.
- Dooley, M. (1994). Women, children and poverty in Canada. Canadian Public Policy, 20(4), 430-443.
- Dooley, M. D. (1999). The evolution of welfare participation among Canadian lone mothers from 1973-1991. Canadian Journal of Economics, 32(3), 589-612.
- Drache, D. (1992). Conclusion. In D. Drache (Ed.), Getting on track: Social democratic strategies for Ontario (pp. 217-237). Canada: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Duncan, S. (2000). New Labour's rationality and morality mistakes and some alternatives. Paper Presented to CAVA Workshop, University of Leeds, 11 February 2000.
- Duncan, S., & Edwards, R. (1999). Lone mothers, paid work and gendered moral rationalities. London: Macmillan.
- Dunton, N., Mosley, J., & Butcher, L. (2001). Continuing use of low-income services by former Missouri welfare recipients. New Directions for Evaluation, 91, 101-116.
- Edin, K., & Lein, L. (1997). Makings ends meet: How single mothers survive welfare and low-wage work. New York: Russell Sage.

- Eichler, M. (1997). Family shifts: Families, policies and gender equity. Toronto: Oxford University Press.
- Ellison, N. (2006). The transformation of welfare states. New York: Routledge.
- Elson, D. (1998). The economic, the political and the domestic: Business, states and households in the organization of production. New Political Economy, 3(2), 189-202.
- Erickson, R. J. (2005). Why emotion work matters: Sex, gender, and the division of household labour. Journal of Marriage and Family, 67, 337-351.
- Esping-Anderson, G. (1990). The three worlds of welfare capitalism. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Etzioni, A. (1993). The spirit of community: rights, responsibilities and the Communitarian agenda. London: Fontana.
- Evans, P. (1995). Linking welfare to jobs: Workfare, Canadian style. In P. Evans, L. A. Jacobs, A. Noel, & E. B. Reynolds (Eds.), Workfare: does it work? Is it fair? (pp. 75-104). Montreal: The Institute for Research on Public Policy.
- Evans, P. (1996). Single mothers and Ontario's welfare policy: Restructuring the debate. In J. Brodie (Ed.), Women and Canadian Public Policy (pp. 151-171). Toronto: Harcourt Brace & Company.
- Evans, P. (1997). Divided citizenship? Gender, income security and the welfare state. In P. Evans & G. Wekerle (Eds.), Women and the Canadian welfare state: Challenges and change (pp.91-116). Toronto: University of Toronto Press
- Evans, P. M. (2002). DownDownloading the welfare state, Canadian style. In G. Goldberg & M. Rosenthal (Eds.), Diminishing welfare: A cross-national study of social provision (pp. 75-102). London: Auburn House.
- Evans, P. (2007). (Not) taking account of precarious employment: Workfare policies and lone mothers in Ontario and the UK. Social Policy and Administration, 41(1), 29-49.
- Evertsson, M., & Nermo, M. (2007). Changing resources and the division of housework: A longitudinal study of Swedish couples. European Sociological Review, 23, 455-470.
- Ferree, M. M. (1991). The gender division of labour in two-earner marriages: Dimensions of variability and change. Journal of Family Issues, 12, 158-180.
- Field, J. (2008). Social capital (2nd ed.). New York: Routledge.
- Fine, B. (2007). Social capital development in practice. Development in Practice, 17(4&5), 566-574.
- Finnie, R., & Irvine, I. (2008). The welfare enigma: Explaining the dramatic decline in Canadians' use of social assistance 1993-2005. Ottawa: CD Howe Institute.

- Fleras, A., & Elliot, J. (2009). Unequal relations: An introduction to race, ethnic and aboriginal dynamics in Canada (5th ed.). Toronto: Pearson Education.
- Foley, M., & Edwards, B. (1999). Is it time to disinvest in social capital? Journal of Public Policy, 19(2), 141-173.
- Fonow, M. M., & Cook, J. A. (Eds.). (1991). Beyond methodology: Feminist scholarship as lived research. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press.
- Forrest, R., & Kearns, A. (2001). Social cohesion, social capital and the neighbourhood. Urban Studies, 38(12), 2125-2143.
- Fortin, N. M., & Huberman, M. (2002). Occupational gender segregation and women's wages in Canada: An historical perspective. Canadian Public Policy, 27, 11-39.
- Foster, M., & Julnes, G. (2001). Conclusions: Implications for policy reform and policy research. New Directions for Evaluation, 91, 125-130.
- Frank, K. (2011). Does occupational status matter? Examining immigrants' employment in their intended occupations. Canadian Studies in Population, 38(1-2), 115-134.
- Frenette, M., & Picot, G. (2003). Life after welfare: The economic well being of welfare leavers in Canada during the 1990s (Statistics Canada Catalogue No. 11-010). Retrieved from http://www.envision.ca/pdf/w2w/11F0019MIE2003192.pdf.
- Fukuyama, F. (2001). Social capital, civil society and development. Third World Quarterly, 2(1), 7-20.
- Gallie, D. (2004). Unemployment, marginalization, risks and welfare policy. In D. Gallie (Ed.), Resisting marginalization: Unemployment experience and social policy in the European Union (1-33). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gallie, D., & Paugam, S. (2004). Unemployment, poverty and social exclusion: An assessment of the current state of social exclusion theory. In D. Gallie (Ed.), Resisting marginalization: Unemployment experience and social policy in the European Union (pp. 34-53). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gazso, A. (2003). Women's inequality in the workplace as farmed in news discourse: Refracting from gender ideology. Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology, 41(4), 449-473.
- Gazso, A. (2008). Staying afloat on social assistance: Parents' strategies of balancing employability expectations and caregiving demands. Socialist Studies, 3(2) 31-63.
- Gaszo, A., & McDaniel, S. (2010). The risks of being a single mother on income support in Canada and the United States. International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy, 30(7/8), 368-386.

- Gaszo, A. (2012). Moral codes of mothering and the introduction of welfare-to-work in Ontario. Canadian Review of Sociology, 49(1), 26-40.
- Gerson, K. (2004). Understanding work and family through a gender lens. Community, Work & Family, 7(2), 163-178.
- Gilbert, N. (1999). The "Enabling State"? From public to private responsibility for social protection: Pathways and pitfalls. OECD social employment and migration working paper. Paper 26. OECD, September 2005.
- Gordon, L. (1990). The new feminist scholarship in the welfare state. In L. Gordon (Ed.), Women, the state and welfare (pp. 9-35). Madison: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Gorlick, C.A., & Brethour, G. (1998). Welfare-to-work programs: A national inventory. Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development.
- Goyder, J., Guppy, N., & Thompson, M. (2003). The allocation of male and female occupational prestige in an Ontario urban area: A quarter-century replication. The Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology, 40(4), 418-439.
- Grabb, E. (2002). Theories of social inequality: Classical and contemporary perspectives (4th ed.). Toronto: Harcourt.
- Grant, T., & Neary, C. (2012, August 23). Six facts: Canada's recession in review. The Globe and Mail. Retrieved from http://m.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/economy/six-acts-canadas-recession-in-review/article1535300/?service=mobile.
- Greenstein, T. N. (2009). National context, family satisfaction and fairness in the division of household labour. Journal of Marriage and Family, 71, 1039-1051.
- Grootaert C., & T. van Bastelaer. (2001). Understanding and measuring social capital: A synthesis of findings and recommendations from the social capital initiative (SCI Working Paper No. 250). Washington: The World Bank.
- Grusky, D. & Charles, M. (2004). Occupational ghettos. California: Stanford University Press.
- Gupta, S. (2007). Autonomy, dependence or display? The relationship between married women's earnings and housework. Journal of Marriage and Family, 69, 399-417.
- Hagan, J., MacMillan, R., & Wheaton, B. (1996). Social capital and the life Course effects of family migration. American Sociological Review, 61(3), 368-85.
- Hamilton, G. (2002). Moving people from welfare to work: Lessons from the national evaluation of welfare-to-work strategies. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Hanson, C. & Hanson, L. (2011). Unpaid work & social policy: Engaging research with mothers on social assistance. *Action Research* 9 (2), 179-198.
- Hao, L. (1994). Kin support, welfare, and out-of-wedlock mothers. New York: Garland

- Publishing.
- Harris, K. M. (1993). Work and welfare among single mothers in poverty. American Journal of Sociology, 99(2), 317-352.
- Harris, K. (1996). Life after welfare: Women, work, and repeat dependency. American Sociological Review, 61(3), 407-426.
- Harvey, D. (2005). A brief history of neo-liberalism. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Hattery, A. (2001). Women, work and family. London: Sage.
- Hays, S. (1996). The cultural contradictions of motherhood. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Herd, D., Mitchell, A., & Lightman, E. (2005). Rituals of degradation: Administration as policy in the Ontario Works Programme. Social Policy and Administration, 39(1), 65-79.
- Heisz, A., Jackson, A., & Picot, G. (2002). Winners and losers in the labour market of the 1990s. Ottawa: Analytical Studies Branch, Statistics Canada.
- Hersch, J., & Viscusi, W. K. (1996). Gender differences in promotions and wages. Industrial Relations, 35(4), 461-472.
- Hoare, T., Levy, C., & Robinson, M. P. (1993). Participatory action research in Native communities: Cultural opportunities and legal implications. The Canadian Journal of Native Studies, 13(1), 43-68.
- Hochschild, A. (1989). The second shift. New York: Penguin.
- Hofferth, S., & Harris, K. M. (2003). Leaving cash assistance: The first two years (Working Paper).
- Irving, A. (2007). The Welfare State in Canada. Opening remarks given at Annual forum of Seniors, University of Toronto. November 6, 2007.
- Isaacs, J. B. (2001). Cross-state findings on families leaving welfare. New Directions for Evaluation, 91, 21-31.
- Jackson, A. (2005). Work and labour in Canada: Critical issues. Toronto: Canada's Scholars Press.
- James, S., & Della Costa, M. (1972). The Power of Women and the Subversion of the Community.
- Jensen, J. (1997). Who Cares? Gender and welfare regimes. Social Politics, 4(2), 182-187.
- Jenson, J., & Sineau, M. (2003). Who cares? Women's work, childcare, and welfare state redesign. University of Toronto Press.

- Jessop, B. (2002). Globalisation and the national state. In S. Aronowitz and P. Bratsis (Eds.), Paradigm lost: State theory reconsidered (pp. 185-220). Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Johnson Dias, J. & Whitaker, R. (2013). Black Mothers' Perceptions about Urban Neighborhood Safetyand Outdoor Play for their Preadolescent Daughters *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 24(1), 206-219
- Julnes, G., Fan, X., & Hayashi, K. (2001). Understanding self-sufficiency of welfare leavers in Illinois: Elaborating models with psychosocial factors. New Directions for Evaluation, 91, 33-44.
- Julnes, G., & Foster, M. (2001). Crafting evaluation in support of welfare reform. New Directions for Evaluation, 91, 3-8.
- Julnes, G., Hayashi, K., & Anderson, S. (2001). Acknowledging different needs: Developing a taxonomy of welfare leavers. New Directions for Evaluation, 91, 73-86.
- Katz, M.B. (1990). Undeserving Poor: From the war on poverty to the war on welfare. New York: Knopf Doubleday Publishing.
- Kirsch, G. E. (2005). Friendship, friendliness, and feminist fieldwork. Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society, 30(4), 2163-72.
- Kneebone, R. D., & White, K. G. (2009). Fiscal retrenchment and social assistance in Canada. Canadian Public Policy, 35(1), 21-40.
- Knudsen, K., & Waerness, K. (2008). National context and spouses housework in 34 countries. European Sociological Review, 24, 97-113.
- Koivunen, J., Rothaupt, J., & Wolfgram, S. (2009). Gender dynamics and role adjustment during the transition to parenthood: Current perspectives. The Family Journal: Counselling and Therapy for Couples and Families, 17(4), 323-328.
- Korpi, W. (1983). The democratic class struggle. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Kroska, A. (2004). Divisions of domestic work: Revising and expanding the theoretical explanations. Journal of Family Issues, 25, 900-932.
- Lachance, M., & Bouchard, G. (2010). Why do women do the lion's share of housework? A decade of research. Sex Roles, 63, 767-780.
- Laidlaw Foundation (2002). Introduction to working paper series: Perspectives on social inclusion. Toronto: Laidlaw Foundation.
- Lein, L., Bell, H., & Angel, R. (2006). The importance of selection factors: Evaluating the impact of employment on family well-being in families transitioning from welfare to work. Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 13(1), 43-61.
- Lessa, I. (2003). Single motherhood in the Canadian landscape: Postcards from a subject. In A. Westhues (Ed.), Canadian social policy (3rd ed). Waterloo, ON: Wilfrid Laurier Press.

- Levitas, R. (1996). The concept of social exclusion and the new 'Durkheimian' hegemony. Critical Social Policy, (46)16, 5-20.
- Levitas, R. (1998). The inclusive society? Social exclusion and New Labour. Basingstoke: Macmillan.
- Lewis, J. (2002). Gender and welfare state change. European societies, 4(4), 331-357.
- Li, C. (1996). Surplus rural laborers and internal migration in China. Asian Survey, 36(11), 1122-45.
- Lightman, E., Mitchell, A. and Herd, D. (2003), Suspicion and Surveillance: Navigating
- Welfare's Bureaucratic Maze, Report no. 2, Social Assistance in the New Economy (SANE), Faculty of Social Work, University of Toronto.
- Lightman, E., Mitchell, A., & Herd, D. (2005). Welfare to what? After workfare in Toronto. International Social Security Review, 58(4), 95-106.
- Lightman, E., Mitchell, A., & Herd, D. (2005). One year on: Tracking the experiences of current and former welfare recipients in Toronto. Journal of Poverty, 9(4), 5-25.
- Lightman, E., Mitchell, A., & Herd, D. (2011). Cycling off and on welfare in Canada. Journal of Social Policy, 31(4), 523-545.
- Lin, N. (1999). Social capital: A theory of social structure and action. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Lister, R. (2004). Poverty. Cambridge: Blackwell/Polity Press.
- Little, M. J. (1998). No car, no radio, no liquor permit: The moral regulation of single mothers in Ontario, 1920-1997. Toronto, ON: Oxford University Press.
- Little, M. (2001). A litmus test for democracy: The impact of Ontario welfare changes on single mothers. Studies in Political Economy, 66, 9-36.
- Little, M. (2003). The leaner, meaner welfare machine: The Ontario Conservative Government's ideological and material attacks on single mothers. In D. Brock (Ed.), Making normal: Social regulation in Canada (pp. 235-258). Toronto: Nelson Canada.
- Little, M. H. (2005). If I had a hammer: Retraining that really works. Vancouver: UBC Press.
- Loprest, P. (2002). Who returns to welfare? (Assessing the New Federalism Series B, No. B-49). Washington, DC: The Urban Institute.
- Lorber, J. (1994). Paradoxes of gender. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Lowndes, V., & Wilson, D. (2001). Social capital and local government: Exploring the institutional design variable. Political Studies, 49(4), 629-47.

- Luxton, M., & Corman, J. (2001). Getting by in Hard Times: Gendered Labour at Home and on the Job. Toronto: University of Toronto.
- Luxton, M. (2002). Feminist perspectives on social inclusion and children's well-being. Toronto: Laidlaw Foundation.
- Luxton, M. (2006). Feminist political economy in Canada and the politics of social reproduction. In M. Luxton & K. Bezanson (Eds), Social reproduction: Feminist political economy challenges neo-liberalism (pp. 11-44). Montreal: McGill Queens Press.
- Macpherson, D., & Hirsch, B. (1995). Wages and gender composition: Why do women's jobs pay less? Journal of Labour Economics, 13(3), 426-471.
- Mannino, C. A., & Deutsch, F. M. (2007). Changing the division of household labour: A negotiated process between partners. Sex Roles, 56, 309-324.
- Marshall, T.H. (1950). Citizenship and Social Class: And Other Essays. Cambridge: University Press.
- Martin, S. (2004). Reconceptualising social exclusion: A critical response to the neo-liberal welfare reform agenda and the underclass thesis. Australian Journal of Social Issues, 39(1), 79-94.
- Maume, D. J. (1999). Glass ceilings and glass escalators: Occupational segregation and race and sex differences in managerial promotions. Work and Occupations, 26, 483-509.
- Maume, D. J. (2004). Is the glass ceiling a unique form of inequality? Work and Occupations, 31, 250-274.
- Marx, K. (1884;1967). Capital: Volume III. New York: International
- Mayson, M. (1999). Ontario Works and single mothers: Redefining deservedness and the social contact. Journal of Canadian Studies, 34(2), 89-109.
- McCue, K. (1996). Promotions and wage growth. Journal of Labor Economic, 14(2), 175-209.
- Mcleod, J., & Thomson, R. (20099) Researching social change. London: Sage.
- McLanahan, S., & Sandefur, G. D. (1994). Growing up with a single parent: What hurts, what helps. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- McMullin, J. A., Davies, L., & Cassidy, G. (2002). Welfare reform in Ontario: Tough times in mothers' lives. Canadian Public Policy, 28(2), 297-313.
- Mead, L. (1986). Beyond entitlement: The social obligations of citizenship. New York: Free Press.

- Medley, B. C., Edelhoch, M., Liu, Q., & Martin, L. S. (2005). Success after welfare: What makes the difference? An ethnographic study of welfare leavers in South Carolina. Journal of Poverty, 9(1), 45-63.
- Michalopoulos, C., Tattrie, D., Miller, C., Robins, P., Morris, P., Gyarmati, D., Redcross A., Foley, K., & R. Ford. (2002). Making work pay: Final report on the self-sufficiency project for long-term welfare recipients. Ottawa: Social Research and Demonstration Corporation.
- Miles, M., Huberman, M., and Saldana, J. (2014). Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook, 3rd edition. London: Sage.
- Millar, J. (2008). 'Work is good for you': Lone mothers, children, work and well-being (Social Security and Health Research: Working Papers, # 60). Kela: Helsinki.
- Miller, C. (2002). Leavers, stayers, and cyclers: An analysis of the welfare caseload (Policy Paper). Washington, DC: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Misztal, B.A. (2000). Informality: Social theory and contemporary practice. London: Routledge.
- Mitchell, A. (2001). After the boom (Workfare Watch Bulletin No. 13). Toronto: Community Social Planning Council of Toronto and the Ontario Social Safety Network.
- Molyneux, M. (2002). Gender and the silences of social capital: lessons from Latin America. Development and Change, 33(2), 167-88.
- Morel, S. (2002). The insertion model or the workfare model? The transformation of social assistance within Quebec and Canada. Ottawa: Status of Women.
- Morgan, D. (1996). Focus groups. Annual Review of Sociology, 22, 129-152.
- Morrow, V. (1999). Conceptualising social capital in relation to the well-being of children and young people: A critical review. The Sociological Review, 47(4), 744-765.
- Morrow, V. (2008). Ethical dilemmas in research with children and young people about their social environments. Children's Geographies, 6(1), 49-61.
- Morse, J. M. (1994). "Emerging from the data": The cognitive process of analysis in qualitative inquiry. In J.M. Morse (Ed), Critical issues in qualitative research methods (pg. 22-43). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mosher, J. (2000). Managing the Disentitlement of Women: Glorified Markets and the Idealized Family and the Undeserving Other Discourse In Sheila Neysmith (ed.). Restructuring Caring Labour: Discourse, State, Practice and Everyday Life. Toronto: Oxford University Press, 30-50.
- Moscovitch, A. (1988). The benevolent state: The growth of welfare in Canada. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

- Murray, C. (1984). Losing ground: American social policy 1950-1980. New York: Basic Books.
- Myles, J., Hou, F., Picot, G., & Myers, K. (2007). Why did employment and earnings rise among lone mothers in Canada during the 1980's and 1990's? Canadian Public Policy, xxxiii(2), 147-172.
- Nakhaie, M. R. (2002). Class, breadwinner ideology, and housework among Canadian husbands. Review of Radical Political Economics, 34, 137-157.
- National Council of Welfare. (1997). Another look at welfare reform: A report by the National Council of Welfare. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada.
- National Council of Welfare. (2002). Welfare incomes. Ottawa: National Council of Welfare.
- National Council of Welfare. (2008). Welfare incomes: Lone parent with a child (Bulletin 3).
- Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada
- Negrey, C., Stone, R., Lee, S., & Barber, G. M. (2007). Mobility from part-time to full-time employment among Kentucky welfare leavers. Journal of Poverty, 11(2), 47-71.
- Nelson, J. (1995). The study of choice or the study of provisioning? Gender and the definition of economics. In M. A. Ferber & J. A. Nelson (Eds), Beyond economic man: Feminist theory and economics (pp. 23-36). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Nelson, G., Ochocka, J., Griffin, K., & Lord, J. (1998). "Nothing about me, without me":
- Participatory action research with self-help/mutual aid organizations for psychiatric consumer/survivors. American Journal of Community Psychology, 26(6), 881-912.
- Pulkingham, J. & Fuller, S. (2012). From parent to patient: The medicalization of lone motherhood through welfare reform. Social Politics, 19(2), pg. 243-268.
- Pulkingham, J., Fuller, S. & Kershaw, P. (2010). Lone motherhood, welfare reform & active citizen subjectivity. *Critical Social Policy* 30 (2), 267-291.
- Newman, K. (2009). No Shame in my Game: The working poor in the inner city. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Neysmith, S., Bezanson, K., & O'Connell, A. (2005). Telling tales: Living the effects of public policy. Black Point, NS: Fernwood Press.
- Oakley, A. (1981). Interviewing women: A contradiction in terms. In H. Roberts (Ed.), Doing feminist research (pp. 30-61). London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Oakley, A. (1999). People's way of knowing: Gender and methodology. In S. Hood, B. Mayall, & S. Oliver (Eds.), Critical issues in social research: Power and prejudice (pp. 154-170). Berkshire: Open University Press.

- O'Connor, J. S. (1998). Gender, class and citizenship in the comparative analysis of welfare state regimes: Theoretical and methodological issues. In J. S. O'Connor & G. Olsen (Eds.), Power resources theory and the welfare state: A critical approach (pp. 209-228). Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- O'Connor, J. S. (2002). Understanding welfare states: Theoretical perspectives. In D. Baer (Ed.), Political sociology: Canadian perspectives (pp. 110-128). Toronto: Oxford University Press.
- O'Connor, J. S. & Olsen, G. (Eds.). (1998). Power resources theory and the welfare state: A critical approach. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- OMCSS. (2010). Ontario Works policy directives, 6.6, special diet allowance. Toronto, ON: OMCSS. Retrieved from http://www.mcss.gov.on.ca/en/mcss/programs/social/directives/directives/OWDirectives/6_6_OW_Directives.aspx.
- OMCSS. (2012a). From social assistance to income security. Ontario Ministry of Community and Social Services: Toronto. Retrieved from http://www.mcss.gov.on.ca/en/mcss/publications/social/sarac/social_security_sarac.aspx
- OMCSS. (2012b). How Ontario Works can help you: Employment assistance. Ontario Ministry of Community and Social Services: Toronto. Retrieved from http://www.mcss.gov.on.ca/en/mcss/programs/social/ow/help/employment_Assistance.asp x.
- O'Neill, J. A., Bassi, L. J., & Wolf, D. A. (1987). The duration of welfare spells. The Review of Economics and Statistics, 69, 241-248.
- Orloff, A. S. (1993). Gender and the social rights of citizenship: The comparative analysis of gender rights and welfare states. American Sociological Review, 58(3), 303-328.
- Palacios, S. P. I. (2007). Welfare benefits and social exclusion in Southern Spain. South European Society and Politics, 12(2), 165-182.
- Palmer, G., MacInnes, T., & Kenway, P. (2007). Monitoring poverty and social exclusion 2007. York, UK: NPI.
- Pasma, C. (2010). Bearing the brunt: How the 2008-2009 recession created poverty for
- Canadian families. Ottawa: Citizens for Public Justice. Retrieved from http://www.cpj.ca/files/docs/Bearing_the_Brunt.pdf.
- Pearce, D. (1990). Welfare is not for women: Why the war on poverty cannot conquer the feminization of poverty. In L. Gordon (Ed.), Women, the state and welfare (pp. 265-279). Wisconsin: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Peck, J. (2005). Workfare states. New York: The Guilford Press.

- Peterson, T., & Morgan, L. (1995). Separate and unequal: Occupation-establishment sex segregation and the gender wage gap. The American Journal of Sociology, 101(2), 329-365.
- Piven, F. F. & Cloward, R. A. (1993). Regulating the poor: The functions of public welfare. New York: Vintage Books.
- Porter, A. (2003). Gendered states: Women, Unemployment Insurance, and the political economy of the welfare state in Canada, 1945-1997. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Portes, A. (1998). Social capital: Its origins and applications in modern sociology.
- Annual Review of Sociology, 24, 1-24.
- Portes, A. & Landolt, P. (1996). The downside of social capital. The American Prospect, 7(26), 18-21.
- Power, E. M. (2005). The unfreedom of being other: Canadian lone mothers' experiences of poverty and 'life on the cheque'. Sociology, 39(4), 643-660.
- Pulkingham, J. (2006). Bucking the national trend: BC's welfare cuts and poverty among lone mothers. Commentary. Vancouver: Canadian Centre for Poverty Alternatives.
- Putnam, R. D. (1993). What makes democracy work? National Civic Review. 82(2), 101-107.
- Putnam, R. D. (1995). Bowling alone: America's declining social capital. Journal of Democracy, 6(1), 65-78.
- Putnam, R. D. (2000). Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American community. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Richburg-Hayes, L., & Freedman, S. (2004). A profile of families cycling on and off welfare. Washington, DC: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Rickman, D., Bross, N., & Foster, M. (2001). Patterns of recidivism for welfare leavers. New Directions for Evaluation, 91, 45-58.
- Rickman, D., & Foster, M. (2001). Welfare reform and children: A comparison of leavers and stayers in Georgia. New Directions for Evaluation, 91, 59-72.
- Risman, B. J. (2004). Gender as a social structure: Theory wrestling with activism. Gender & Society, 18(4), 429-450.
- Ryan, M., & Haslam, A. (2007). The glass cliff: Exploring dynamics surrounding the appointment of women to precarious leadership positions. Academy of Management Review, 32(2), 549-572.
- Saloojee, A. (2003). Social inclusion, anti-racism and democratic citizenship. Perspectives on Social Inclusion Working Paper Series. Toronto: Laidlaw Foundation.

- Saldana, J. (2013). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. London: Sage.
- Sagueres, L. (2009). "We do get stereotyped": Gender, housing, work and social disadvantage. Housing, Theory and Society, 26(3), 193-209.
- Sceviour, R., & Finnie, R. (2004). Social assistance use: Trends in incidence, entry and exit rates. Canadian Economic Observer, 17(8), 1-116. Retrieved from http://www.canadiansocialresearch.net/leavers.htm.
- Schneider, D. (2012). Gender deviance and household work: The role of occupation. American Journal of Sociology, 117(4), 1029-1072.
- Schram, S., Soss, J., & Fording, R. (Eds.). (2003). Race and the politics of welfare reform. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.
- Schultz, T. W. (1961). Investment in human capital. The American Economic Review, 51(1), 1-17.
- Scott, E. K., Edin, A. L, & Kissane, B. J. (2004). Unstable work, unstable income: Implications for family well-being in the era of time-limited welfare. Journal of Poverty, 8(1), 61-88.
- Seguin, G. (2005). Canadian social research links. Retrieved from http://www.canadiansocialresearch.net/cap.htm.
- Sen, A. (2000). Social exclusion: Concept, application, and scrutiny (Social Development Papers No.1). Manila: Asian Development Bank.
- Siisiainenen, M. (2000). Two concepts of social capital: Bourdieu vs. Putnam. Paper presented at ISTR Fourth International Conference: The third sector: For what and for whom? Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland, July 5-8, 2000.
- Silver, H. (1994). Social exclusion and social solidarity: three paradigms. International Labour Review, 133(5/6), 531-578.
- Silver, H. (1997). Poverty, exclusion and citizenship rights. In C. Gore & J. B. Figueiredo (Eds.), Social exclusion and the anti-poverty policy: A debate (Research Series 110) (pp.78-82). Geneva: International Institute of Labour Studies/UN Development Programme.
- Social Assistance Reform Act, Statutes of Ontario (1997, c. 25).
- Stapleton, J., Bednar, V. (2011). Trading Places: Single Adults Replace Lone Parents as the New Face of Social of Social Assistance in Canada. Background report School of Public Policy and Governance: University of Toronto.

- Statistics Canada. (2011). Census snapshot of Canadian families. Ottawa: Statistics Canada. Retrieved January 2013 from http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2011/as-sa/98-312-x/2011001/tbl/tbl1-eng.cfm.
- Statistics Canada. (2010). Income in Canada. Ottawa: Statistics Canada. Retrieved January 2013 from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-202-x/2010000/analysis-analyses-eng.htm#a7.
- Statistics Canada. (2005). Canadian statistics: Average earnings by sex and work pattern (full-time workers). Retrieved December 2011 from http://www40.statcan.ca/101/cst01/labor01b.htm.
- Statistics Canada. (2008). Census snapshot of Canadian families. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.
- Statistics Canada. (2012). Paid Work. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.
- Status of Women Canada. (2014). Fact Sheet: Women's representation and participation in the labour force. Retrieved April 2014 http://www.swc-cfc.gc.ca/initiatives/wesp-sepf/fs-fi/es-se-eng.html
- Stewart, J., & Dooley, M. D. (1999). The duration of spells on welfare and off welfare among lone mothers in Ontario. Canadian Public Policy, XXV(1), 47-72.
- Stewart, D. W., Shamdasani, P. N., & Rook, D. W. (2007). Focus groups: Theory and practice (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Stewart, K. (2014). Employment trajectories and later employment outcomes for mothers in British household panel survey: An analysis by skill level. Journal of Social Policy, 43(1), 87-108.
- Swift, K., & Brimingham, M. (2000). Location, location, location: Restructuring and the everyday lives of "welfare moms" discourses In Sheila Neysmith (ed.). Restructuring Caring Labour: Discourse, State, Practice and Everyday Life. Toronto: Oxford University Press.
- Teeple, G. (2001). Globalization and the decline of social reform: Beyond the Keynesian welfare state. Aurora, ON: Garamond Press.
- Torjman, S. (1996). Workfare: A poor law. Ottawa: Caledon Institute. Available from http://www.socialpolicy.ca/52100/m9/full67.htm.
- Townson, M. (2005). Poverty issues for Canadian women: Background paper. Status of Women Canada.
- Ursel, J. (1992). Private lives public policy: 100 years of state intervention in the family. Toronto: Women's Press.

- Vosko, L. (2002). Re-thinking feminization: Gendered precariousness in the Canadian labor market and the crisis in social reproduction. Robarts Canada Research Chairholders Series, April 11, 2002, York University, Toronto, Ontario.
- Vosko, L. F. (2005). Precarious employment: Understanding labour market insecurity in Canada. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Vosko, L., Zukewich, N., & Cranford, C. (2003). Precarious jobs: A new typology of employment. Perspectives, 4(10), 16-26.
- Walby, S. (1986). Gender, class and stratification: Toward a new approach. In R. Crompton & M. Mann (Eds.), Gender and stratification (pp. 23-39). Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Waldfoegel, J. (1998). Understanding the "family gap" in pay for women with children. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 12(1), 137-156.
- Warren, C. A. (1988). Gender issues in field research. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Waylan, G. (2007). Gender, feminism and political economy. New Political Economy, 2(2), 205-220.
- Weinberger, C. J. (1998). Race and gender wage gaps in the market for recent college graduates. Industrial Relations, 37(1), 67-84.
- Weiss, R. S. (1994). Learning from strangers: the art and method of qualitative interview studies. New York: Free Press.
- Welshman, J. (2007). From transmitted deprivation to social exclusion: Policy, poverty and parenting. UK: Policy Press.
- Westra, K. (2001). Managing the transition to self-sufficiency: Changing state policies to provide better support to clients leaving welfare. New Directions for Evaluation, 91, 117-124.
- Whittington, L. (2012, May 16). UN food envoy blasts inequality, poverty in Canada. The Star. Retrieved from http://www.thestar.com/news/canada/politics/article/1179208--jason-kenney-blasts-un-food-envoy.
- Williams, C. (1992). The glass escalator: Hidden advantages for men in the "female" professions. Social Problems, 39(3), 253-267.
- Williams, C. (1995). Still a man's world: Men who do women's work. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Williams, C. (2010). Corporate power in a globalizing world. Toronto: Oxford University Press.
- Williams, C., Muller, C., & Kilanski, K. (2012). Gendered organizations in the new economy. Gender & Society, 26(4), 549-573.

- Williams, F. (1998). Agency and structure revisited: Rethinking poverty and social exclusion. In M. Barry & C. Hallett (Eds.), Social exclusion and social work: Issues of theory, policy and practice (pp. 13-25). Dorset: Russell House Publishing Ltd.
- Wood, R. G., Concoran, M. E., & Courant, P. (1993). Pay differences among the highly paid: The male-female earnings gap in lawyers' salaries. Journal of Labour Economics, 11(3), 417-441.
- Woolcock, M. (2001). The place of social capital in understanding social and economic outcomes. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/edu/educationeconomyandsociety/1824913.pdf
- Yap, M. & Konrad, A. (2009). Gender & racial differentials in promotions: Is there a sticky floor, a mid-level bottleneck or a glass ceiling? *Industrial Relations* 64 (4), 593-619.
- Young, A. A. (2004). Coming out from under the ethnographic interview. Paper presented at the National Science Foundation: Workshop on interdisciplinary standards for systematic qualitative methods. Retrieved from http://www.wjh.harvard.edu/nsfqual/.
- Youngjoo, C., & Weeden, K. (2014). Overwork and the slow convergence in the gender gap in wages. American Sociological Review, April 2014. Doi 1177/0003122414528936
- Zuege, A., Leys, C., Konnings, M., & Panitch, L. (Eds.). (2004). Globalization decade: A critical reader. London: The Merlin Press Ltd.